#### Western SGraduate & Postdoctoral Studies

# Western University Scholarship@Western

Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository

8-13-2012 12:00 AM

## Democratic Opposition Parties and Democratic Outcomes in Hybrid Regimes

Jeremy M. Ladd The University of Western Ontario

Supervisor Dr Peter Ferguson *The University of Western Ontario* 

Graduate Program in Political Science A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree in Master of Arts © Jeremy M. Ladd 2012

Follow this and additional works at: https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd

Part of the Comparative Politics Commons

#### **Recommended Citation**

Ladd, Jeremy M., "Democratic Opposition Parties and Democratic Outcomes in Hybrid Regimes" (2012). *Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository*. 826. https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd/826

This Dissertation/Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by Scholarship@Western. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository by an authorized administrator of Scholarship@Western. For more information, please contact wlswadmin@uwo.ca.

## Democratic Opposition Parties and Democratic Outcomes in Hybrid Regimes

(Spine Title: Democratic Opposition Parties and Democratic Outcomes in Hybrid Regimes)

(Monograph)

by

## Jeremy M. Ladd

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Arts

## The School of Graduate and Postdoctoral Studies

The University of Western Ontario

London, Ontario, Canada

© Jeremy M. Ladd 2012

## THE UNIVERSITY OF WESTERN ONTARIO SCHOOL OF GRADUATE AND POSTDOCTORAL STUDIES

### CERTIFICATE OF EXAMINATION

Supervisor

Dr. Peter Ferguson

Supervisory Committee

Examiners

Dr. Godwin Arku

Dr. Cristine de Clercy

Dr. Joanna Quinn

The thesis by

## Jeremy Martin Ladd

entitled:

## Democratic Opposition Parties and Democratic Outcomes in Hybrid Regimes

is accepted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Arts

Date\_\_\_\_\_

Chair of the Thesis Examination Board

#### ABSTRACT

Leading up to and following the end of the Cold War a new wave of democratisation commenced in Sub-Saharan Africa and around the world which, in both cases, has been characterized by "blocked transitions," the "rise of competitive authoritarianism," and the proliferation of hybrid regimes. This thesis is primarily concerned with "democratic" outcomes within these hybrid regimes. Excluding data from prior to the end of the Cold War in global investigations of democracy, this thesis utilizes a temporally truncated dataset to reanalyse dominant theories of democratisation both at the global and regional (Sub-Saharan Africa) level, finding that when contaminating effects are removed the strongest correlation with democratic outcomes lies in the strength of prominent opposition parties.

Keywords: Democratization, Sub-Saharan Africa, Opposition Parties, Democratic Outcomes, Hybrid Regimes, Democracy, Authoritarianism.

## **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

Certificate	ii
Abstract	iii
Chapter 1 – Introduction	1
Chapter 2 - Theory	7
Chapter 3 – Literature Review	18
Chapter 4 – Research Design, Methodology and Case Selection	26
Chapter 5 – Quantitative Results	37
Chapter 6 – Case Presentation	63
Chapter 7 – Case Analysis	102
Chapter 8 – Conclusion	112
References	115
Appendix	122

## LIST OF TABLES

Table 1	GDP Per Capita and Democracy in the World 1989-2010	38
Table 2	GDP Per Capita and Democracy in the World 1989-2010,	39
	Where GDP per Capita is \$2 Per Day or Less	
Table 3	GDP Per Capita in Africa 1989-2010	40
Table 4	GDP Per Capita and Democracy in Africa 1989-2010	40
Table 5	GDP Per Capita and Democracy in Africa 1990	41
Table 6	Democracy in Africa Over Time 1989-2010	42
Table 7	GDP Per Capita in Africa at 10 Year Intervals	43
Table 8	Natural Resource Rents and Democracy in Impoverished States in the	44
	World 1989-2010	
Table 9	Natural Resource Rents and Democracy in Impoverished States in	45
	Africa 1989-2010	
Table 10	Difference of Means T-Test, System and Democracy, World 1989-2010	46
Table 11	System and Democracy in the World 1989-2010	46
Table 12	Difference of Means T-Test, System and Democracy, Africa 1989-2010	47
Table 13	System and Democracy in Africa 1989-2010	47
Table 14	Difference of Means T-Test, System and Party Strength, World	48
	1989-2010	
Table 15	System and Party Strength, World 1989-2010	49
Table 16	Difference of Means T-Test, System and Party Strength, Africa	49
	1989-2010	
Table 17	System and Party Strength, Africa 1989-2010	50
Table 18	Difference of Means T-Test, Proportional Representation and	51

Democracy, World 1989-2010

Table 19	Proportional Representation and Democracy in the World 1989-2010	51
Table 20	Difference of Means T-Test, Proportional Representation and	52
	Democracy, Africa 1989-2010	
Table 21	Proportional Representation and Democracy in Africa 1989-2010	52
Table 22	Difference of Means T-Test, Electoral System and Party Strength,	53
	World 1989-2010	
Table 23	Electoral System and Party Strength, World 1989-2010	53
Table 24	Difference of Means T-Test, Electoral System and Party Strength,	54
	Africa 1989-2010	
Table 25	Electoral System and Party Strength, Africa 1989-2010	54
Table 26	Opposition Strength and Democracy in the World 1989-2010, in	55
	Presidential Systems	
Table 27	Opposition Strength and Democracy in Africa 1989-2010, in	56
	Presidential Systems	
Table 28	Opposition Strength and Democracy in the World 1989-2010, in	57
	Presidential Systems where the Leading Opposition Party is able to	
	Monopolize at least 25% of Opposition Seats	
Table 29	Opposition Strength and Democracy in Africa 1989-2010, in	57
	Presidential Systems where the Leading Opposition Party is able to	
	Monopolize at least 25% of Opposition Seats	
Table 30	Central Tendency Variation in Polity Scores Across Time Based On	60
	Distance from "Year Zero" as First Year in which an Opposition Party	
	Monopolizes at least 25% of Opposition Seats in an African Presidential	
	Regime between 1989 and 2010	

#### **Chapter 1: Introduction**

This thesis aims to investigate two relationships which represent gaps in the existing literature on democratization in the post-Cold War world, namely: the relationship between domestic opposition parties and democratic outcomes in hybrid regimes, i.e. in regimes which have already introduced certain aspects of democracy without meeting all the minimal requirements which constitute democratic regimes; and, secondly, how and why these domestic opposition parties do, and do not, generate the capacity to influence the course of democratization. It is the aim of this thesis to investigate these questions primarily as a question of Sub-Saharan African politics and, in so doing, the first question will be addressed quantitatively utilizing two datasets, one global and the other regional, including only Sub-Saharan African states, while the second question will be addressed through comparative case studies of three African states: Democratic Republic of Congo, Rwanda, and Uganda.

It is the position of this thesis that strong and democratic domestic opposition parties are an important causal variable in democratic outcomes when they are able to monopolize a significant portion of the opposition as a whole, and that they do or do not acquire the capacity to do so based on a number of domestic variables, such as, but not limited to, their ability to finance themselves, to co-opt pre-existing organizational structures, as well as a given regime's ability to construct formal institutions that allow it to exert control over the domestic party system.

From the beginning of "the Third Wave"<sup>1</sup> of democracy, and both approaching as well as following the end of the Cold War, many scholars began to focus on the question of transitions to democracy as a distinct question within the democratization literature in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Huntington 1991

comparative politics and international relations. Over time, although this is certainly not a new phenomenon,<sup>2</sup> focus has shifted to the phenomenon of partial transitions: "democracies with adjectives," "authoritarianisms with adjectives," *et cetera*. In the determination of what constitutes the causal variables on democratic outcomes, predominant hypotheses over time have focused on or across different conceptual levels of analysis to include structural factors, such as the socioeconomic system, or the international system; institutional factors, such as the design of the electoral system or government; and voluntarist factors, such as the agency of autocrats in government and that of key opposition leaders. While this thesis primarily focuses on non-incumbent political parties and the party systems within which they operate, providing a slight shift in focus from the foci of some of the predominant theories over time, the established alternative theories in the literature, their gaps, and their relationship to the position of thesis, must nevertheless be addressed.

The most predominant structural theories of democratization have focused on the important questions of the relationship between a given socioeconomic system and democratization, and the relationship between international and transnational ties and democratization.

Socioeconomic theories of democratization have a long established position in the literature which, with a number of expected modifications over time given its age, posits that socially and economically "developed" societies tend toward democracy, whilst underdeveloped societies are either not democratic or typically fail to consolidate democracy. There are a number of strengths and weaknesses to this position, but this thesis focuses specifically on one of its more heretofore reliable positions: that there is a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Diamond 2002, 23; Levitsky and Way 2002, 59; Ottaway 2003, 4

discrete correlation between wealth, as an indicator of socioeconomic development, and democracy as a form of governance. Recent literature and events question the coherence of a theory which essentially posits that wealthy states are either democratic, or at least highly stable whatever their form of governance, and that poor states are either not democratic, or are not capable of consolidating democracy. In the context of this thesis, the gap that must be explored is that many "poor" states have taken measurable steps toward democracy and have consistently progressed in that direction, or are even widely considered to be democracies, without the expected authoritarian regression.

One of the more predominant theories regarding the relationship between the international system and democratic outcomes is that linkages formed between states and Western Europe or the United States over time may explain democratization, or the lack thereof, in a given state, particularly when qualified by the vulnerability of regimes to leverage. The gap this thesis attempts to explore in regard to this theory is the low expectation it holds for democratic outcomes in Sub-Saharan Africa in particular where, nevertheless, some democracies do exist, and where many additional states are arguably on a path progressing toward that end.

Institutional theories of democratic outcomes, such as the differential effect of presidential and parliamentary systems on democratic outcomes, and the relationship between voting systems and democracy, provide integral insight into the inner workings of different systems and practices of governance. The overarching concern of this thesis with these institutional design theories is to test the relationship between institutional design and democratic outcomes, and to determine if there is a distinct relationship between institutional design and the capacity of domestic opposition parties to acquire

3

strength and durability as organizations.

Finally, the most predominant voluntarist theory of democratic outcomes over time has been the theory of "pacted" transitions. Although the value of pacts as guarantors that a given transition will actually result in democracy has been importantly called into question by at least one of the scholars who has studied them in depth, the gap that this thesis attempts to explore is not the outcome of agreements reached by agents, but what is structurally implied by pact makers reaching the negotiation table. It is the position of this thesis that the ability to bring a given negotiation to the table is a result of the structural capacity of the organizations of which individual oppositionists are a part, and that the value of opposition organizations, i.e. of political parties in the context of this thesis, should be explored as separate and distinct from the agency of individual organization leaders.

The most important gap in the literature this thesis addresses is the relationship between democratic opposition parties, party systems and democratic outcomes.<sup>3</sup> The logical coherence of this position is so evident it is nearly common sense, but the ability to empirically demonstrate it in global or otherwise large studies has proven elusive. Most, if not all, of the theories mentioned above, as well as those which are not addressed herein, have either attempted to incorporate opposition parties into their explanatory models, or have indicated where they are not addressed that they, in all probability, play an important role. Nevertheless, many attempts to demonstrate the relationship between opposition parties and democratic outcomes have been inconclusive, and some scholars

 $<sup>^{3}</sup>$  Erdmann, Basedau and Mehler 2007, 10 where it is indicated that this still represents a significant gap in the comprehension of the literature.

have even suggested, as a result, that their role in democratization may be non-essential.<sup>4</sup> It is the position of this thesis that opposition parties play an essential role in the process of democratization, but that the difficulties encountered in demonstrating as much have been a result of the unspecified duration,<sup>5</sup> highly complex, and multifarious nature of democratization, and the competing domestic and international interests which are brought to bear in the process of democratization. By appealing to restricted temporal parameters, important distinctions between what influences authoritarian versus hybrid regimes, and new measurement and operationalization approaches suggested by recent research, this thesis attempts to explicate and make discrete the relationship between democratic opposition parties and democratic outcomes in hybrid regimes.

The plan of this thesis is to commence by expounding the theoretical relationship between opposition parties and the process of democratization (Chapter 2), followed by a review of the broader literature (Chapter 3). In Chapter 4 the design of the research and the methodological approach will be discussed in detail. Chapter 5 will present the quantitative results concerning the relationship between democratic opposition parties and democratic outcomes, as well as highlight some of the changes which occur in the relationships between other explanatory models and democratic outcomes when they are exposed only to the temporally truncated dataset argued for herein. It should be noted that the overarching purpose of exposing some of these alternative models to retesting within new parameters is not to cast disapprobation upon them, but to investigate the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> See, for example: Diamond and Gunther 2001, x, that it would be too much to argue that institutionally strong political parties are a necessary condition for consolidating or maintaining democracy, and: Rakner and van de Walle 2009b, 109, wherein the authors suggest that opposition weakness is both a cause as well as a consequence of democratic deficits, and find only a weak correlation between opposition strength and democratic outcomes.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> See, for example: Schedler 2010, 69-70

position that, given the extremely complex nature of democratization, those variables which can be expected to hold explanatory power can, and probably do change at different stages of the process. In Chapter 6 the cases of Democratic Republic of Congo, Rwanda and Uganda are presented in detail, followed by case analysis in Chapter 7. Chapter 8 will consolidate and discuss the major findings of the thesis.

The normative desirability of studying non-incumbent political parties as a factor in democratic outcomes in hybrid regimes rests on the fact that the most common form of autocracy today is made clandestine by elections,<sup>6</sup> and while these elections produce a veneer of democracy to the international community, they also provide a realistic avenue to challenge incumbents without recourse to violence.<sup>7</sup> All cases herein are hybrid regimes, and in all cases the incumbent has stood successfully for re-election in the context of elections where opposition parties have been allowed to contest. Whilst incumbent turnover may be far more greatly correlated with open-seat elections,<sup>8</sup> it could be argued that the ability of democratic opposition parties to compete in *pro forma* democracies, even where they lose, may be the most important factor for democratic outcomes in those regimes. The testing and clarification of this position is of particular importance in the African context where political parties have come to be amongst the least trusted institutions,<sup>9</sup> but where democracy as a form of governance is widely supported.<sup>10</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Magaloni 2008, 727

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> *Ibidem* 728

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> See, for example: Cheeseman 2010, 139-153; Howard and Roessler 2006, 365-381; Rakner and van de Walle 2009a, 203, 205-206, 220

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Erdmann, Basedau, and Mehler 2007, 7

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> See, for example: Joseph 2003, 164

#### **Chapter 2: Theory**

This chapter will discuss some of the definitional underpinnings of certain concepts used throughout this thesis, as well as the theory which informs its approach. Definitional specification will be discussed first, followed by theoretical review.

What is intended by "electoral authoritarian," "competitive authoritarian," "hybrid," *et cetera* is the breadth of the literature on hybrid regimes, and this thesis views as well as utilizes these terms as a largely synonymous "grey zone."<sup>11</sup> This thesis is therefore not concerned to engage within-category taxonomies,<sup>12</sup> the generation of which is, unfortunately, still ongoing. Such taxonomies are avoided in the least because they negate the distinct toward-democracy trajectory of these regimes in general over time,<sup>13</sup> as well as in African cases specifically.<sup>14</sup> What is meant here by electoral authoritarianism, then, is a regime which has institutionalized the fundamental characteristics of democracy in a *de jure* sense, but which falls short of at least one minimal requirement of democracy in a *de facto* sense.<sup>15</sup> In particular, this thesis is concerned with regimes where it is clear that one or all of the following minimal criteria of democracy are routinely violated: open, free and fair elections;<sup>16</sup> universal suffrage;<sup>17</sup> political rights and civil liberties, in particular of association, free press, and ability to criticize the government;<sup>18</sup> and the presence of a relatively even playing field between the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Howard and Roessler 2006, 365

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> For example in: Armony and Schamis 2005, 113-128; Collier and Levitsky 2009, 269-288; Gilbert and Mohseni 2011, 270-297; Morlino 2009, 273-296; Schedler 2002, 36-50

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> The complexity of this relationship is captured nicely in: Schedler 2010, 69-80

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> van de Walle 2002, 66-67

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> See, for example: Schmitter and Karl 1991, 75-88

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> Levitsky and Way 2002, 53

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> Ibidem

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> Ibidem

incumbent and opposition parties.<sup>19</sup> These regimes are distinguished from democracies by their systemic violation of these minimal criteria, and from authoritarian regimes by the fact that elections still take place, and are still taken seriously.<sup>20</sup> The overarching characteristic of these regimes is that they are not imperfect democracies, and not "transitional,"<sup>21</sup> but are regimes seeking to maintain the procedural illusion of democracy whilst constraining the risks of truly free competition.<sup>22</sup>

Issues relating to democratic opposition parties in hybrid regimes are theorized in this thesis utilizing an integrative approach:<sup>23</sup> at the structural-institutional level of the party system and the regime; and at the voluntarist level, regarding the agency of parties in legislature and in the public sphere generally. As stated, it is the position of this thesis that democratic outcomes in hybrid regimes are driven by strong democratic opposition political parties, and that the strength of these parties lies in their ability to finance themselves, co-opt pre-existing organizational structures, and in the absence of effective institutions constructed by domestic regimes capable of exercising control over the party system. Additional factors which may play a role in the ability of political parties to generate the capacity to effectively push the process of democratization forward include the distribution of salient identity cleavages, and in Africa in particular, ethnicity, as well as the presence or absence of violence in the party system, and party system fractionalization, including the presence of a large number of independent professional politicians.

Party strength and its relationship to democratic outcomes has been theorized in a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> Levitsky and Way 2010b

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> Levitsky and Way 2002, 53-54

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> Ottaway 2003, 6-7

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> *Ibidem* 3; Levitsky and Way 2002, 51

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> See: Mahoney and Snyder 1999, 3-32

number of ways, but for the purposes of this thesis "strength" is taken to be a quality which is indicated by the ability of a given non-incumbent political party to monopolize elected legislative seats which are not acquired by the incumbent,<sup>24</sup> and the importance of party strength is conceptualized in contrast to the effects of party "weakness," incoherence, and withdrawal.

In terms of party strength, an important component of political parties in hybrid regimes in the literature is the issue of party weakness, or "opposition weakness." Weakness, in this regard, refers to the small size of multitudinous political parties in hybrid regimes,<sup>25</sup> and their limited endurance over time,<sup>26</sup> individually incapable of effectively competing with incumbent parties, and collectively unwilling to coalesce into a smaller number of larger and more competitive parties, or to form a collective opposition bloc. Party weakness is important, particularly in Africa, because collective oppositions are correlated with electoral victory,<sup>27</sup> whilst divided oppositions serve to preserve incumbent governments.<sup>28</sup> This effect is thought to operate through the removal of votes from the incumbent, the reduction of the incumbent's ability to divide the opposition and play its factions against one another, an increase in the perceived costs of repression and manipulation, and the realizable mobilization of voters against the incumbent.<sup>29</sup> Strong opposition parties are thought to coordinate popular mobilization and carry political change forward, even in the face of reluctant incumbents,<sup>30</sup> and it has

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> Lebas 2011, 27

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> Rakner and van de Walle 2009a, 210

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> *Ibidem* 210-211

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> Bratton and van de Walle 1997, 198-200; Schedler 2009, 199-200; van de Walle 2006, 78

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> Bratton and van de Walle 1997, 167-168; Bunce and Wolchik 2009, 71-72; Teshome 2008, 8; van de Walle 2006, 77

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> Howard and Roessler 2006, 371

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> Lebas 2011, 7

been theorized that it is the strength of the opposition which determines whether or not elections are indeed competitive, and whether democracy characterizes the relationship between government and society.<sup>31</sup> It has been posited, furthermore, that it is not the resources or cohesiveness of ruling parties, but the strength or weakness of the opposition which determines authoritarian persistence.<sup>32</sup>

Whilst "liberalizing electoral outcomes" may lie most strongly in the ability of the opposition to cohere,<sup>33</sup> and therefore to generate a strong position, opposition cohesion appears to be correlated with perceptions regarding the probability of winning elections.<sup>34</sup> However, this should also mean that competitive authoritarian regimes seeking to win elections by smaller margins (thus avoiding the known correlation between exceptionally high vote percentages and authoritarian regimes), should *ceterus paribus* encourage stronger and more cohesive opposition parties. Regarding this latter point, it could be suggested that the very occurrence of competitive authoritarian elections, hypothesized elsewhere as a causal factor in democratic outcomes,<sup>35</sup> is actually acting on the dependent variable of democratic oppositionism, and that the cohesion and capacity of these opposition parties should be measurably increasing over the course of comparatively tightly won elections, unless incumbents take additional measures beyond allowing election results to be more evenly distributed. By adopting this position this thesis dismisses certain structural-institutional hypotheses of opposition cohesion as tied to tworound elections,<sup>36</sup> presidential versus parliamentary systems,<sup>37</sup> pre-regime history of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> Ibidem

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> *Ibidem* 8

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> Howard and Roessler 2006, 375, 376

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> van de Walle 2006, 86

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> See, for example: Lindberg 2006a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> van de Walle 2006, 88

elections,<sup>38</sup> cultural understandings of appropriate executive tenure,<sup>39</sup> the absence of "ethnic" fragmentation,<sup>40</sup> socioeconomic development,<sup>41</sup> external pressure,<sup>42</sup> and diaspora funding;<sup>43</sup> whilst adopting a revised version of the thesis that elections are an independent variable on democratic outcomes, insofar as it suggests they are an independent variable on opposition strength.<sup>44</sup>

In addressing theories of how strong opposition parties gather strength and maintain coherence, the additional issue arises of participation of democratic opposition parties in the electoral process at all. In the course of his research, Lindberg has found that it is more important for democratic outcomes that political parties participate in the electoral process and accept its results, than the quality of the overall process itself;<sup>45</sup> and this position is adopted herein insofar as those factors being investigated are contingent on that participation taking place. The primary factors which seem to influence whether participation and acceptance takes place are the freeness and fairness of elections,<sup>46</sup> and the absence of electoral violence,<sup>47</sup> whilst electoral system design and the participation or non-participation of old authoritarian rulers does not appear to be correlated with these outcomes.<sup>48</sup> The obvious ambiguity here is the complex relationship that appears to exist between opposition participation and the freeness and fairness of elections. The freeness

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> *Ibidem* 89

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> *Ibidem* 90

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> Ibidem

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> *Ibidem* 91

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> Ibidem

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup> Ibidem

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup> *Ibidem* 92

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>44</sup> For Lindberg's thesis see: Lindberg 2006a; Lindberg 2006c; see also: van de Walle 2002, 75

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup> Lindberg 2006b; Lindberg 2006d; Schedler 2009, 199

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>46</sup> Lindberg 2006d, 162

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup> *Ibidem* 159-160, although he only finds this correlation in presidential systems

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>48</sup> *Ibidem* 158-161

and fairness of elections are less important than the participation of the opposition, but that participation may turn on the freeness and fairness of elections. In addition, in an earlier study of African democracy the active participation of a cohesive opposition was shown to be correlated with the freeness and fairness of elections.<sup>49</sup>

A large number of variables have been theorized as related to the ability of opposition parties to become strong, coherent and meaningful organizations in a given polity. In order to maintain a manageable analysis this thesis attempts to discern and expound only those variables which may be logically understood to be of critical or integral importance. As such, those theories relating to the financing and structural underpinning of opposition political parties will be discussed below, followed by theories regarding variable characteristics of party systems which may significantly impact the ability of political parties to generate strength, such as the presence or absence of violence, fractionalization, and salient identity based or ethnic cleavages.

Of all the factors which structure the performance of parties, financing has been suggested to be of primary importance.<sup>50</sup> This has been noted as a major obstacle for political parties in Africa specifically,<sup>51</sup> and relates most logically to opposition strength in terms of the ability to run statewide electoral campaigns.<sup>52</sup>

African party financing may be conceived of as occurring in three phases: the decolonization phase of mass-based parties funding themselves through membership, local patrons, and external agencies and governments interested in the outcome of decolonization; the conflation of ruling parties with the state, wherein finance shifted

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>49</sup> Bratton and van de Walle 1997, 203

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>50</sup> Burnell 2007, 3

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>51</sup> See, for example: Bratton and van de Walle 1997, 167

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>52</sup> See, for example: Lebas 2011, 24

from party membership to state resources; and the return to multipartyism, wherein incumbent parties continued to fund themselves through state resources, whilst nonincumbent parties had to utilize the strategies of grassroots funding, funding via local non-governmental organizations, and external funding from governments and unofficial foreign donors.<sup>53</sup> Enquiring into party financing is important insofar as it likely separates successful from unsuccessful parties in competitive authoritarian regimes,<sup>54</sup> primarily in the context that whilst it may be morally and financially infeasible to institutionalize state funding for political competition in less wealthy states,<sup>55</sup> a defining characteristic of hybrid regimes is the funding of the incumbent through state resources, and the opposition through any other means.<sup>56</sup> This vastly differential funding, furthermore, can corrupt the electoral process through the distribution of patronage and the use of the state toward partisan ends.<sup>57</sup> The effect of patronage, in particular, may be amplified by the prevailing socioeconomic conditions characteristic of Africa such as extremely low incomes.<sup>58</sup> It has been theorized, therefore, that the ability of the opposition to fund itself is correlated with opposition strength.<sup>59</sup> An important structural factor related to party financing is the level of restriction on the sources of funding an opposition party may appeal to, namely the banning of foreign funding.<sup>60</sup> There are reasonable justifications

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>53</sup> Southall and Wood 2007, 202-203

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>54</sup> Burnell 2007, 11; Rakner and van de Walle 2009, 114

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>55</sup> Burnell 2007, 8

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>56</sup> Ottaway 2003, 147; Rakner and van de Walle 2009a, 205, 216-217; Rakner and van de Walle 2009b, 112

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>57</sup> See, for example: Gyimah-Boadi 2007, 29
 <sup>58</sup> *Ibidem* 31

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>59</sup> Rakner and van de Walle 2009b, 117 suggesting that this is a novel opposition strategy in Africa, and the obvious implication appears to be that it could lead to opposition success.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>60</sup> Ottaway 2003, 150-151

for such a prohibition, such as preventing foreign interference in domestic politics,<sup>61</sup> but in the context of less wealthy states where incumbents may appeal to state resources to fund campaigns or build/maintain popularity,<sup>62</sup> while opposition parties may not, foreign funding may be the best opportunity for opposition parties to level the playing field.

It has been suggested that opposition parties are more likely to acquire strength, as defined herein, where they are able to co-opt pre-existing organizational structures not restricted by societal cleavages such as region and identity.<sup>63</sup> Although Lebas posits this primarily in the context of historic unionism,<sup>64</sup> this concept should be expanded to include pre-existing organizational structures in general, and in the cases below it will be clear that it is pre-existing political structures in particular which this thesis attempts to address, although it is not suggested that there is a need to "precise" the theory to this level. This more general approach is particularly important in the Great Lakes region, not included in Lebas' qualitative study, where historic unionism certainly existed, but neither prevented the postcolonial/Cold War authoritarian tendency, nor definitively contributed to opposition formation in the contemporary period (although not absent). It will also be clear that in looking to pre-existing political structures, as an aspect of what may be regarded as a broader applicable universe of potential structures, the established theory of "elite defection" is being inverted and it is being posited that it is the political networks and not the political prominence of defectors that strengthens the opposition. Taking this stance also provides a structural lens through which to account for the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>61</sup> Ibidem 151

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>62</sup> Dimitrov 2009, 79

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>63</sup> Lebas 2011, 5

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>64</sup> This is a central theme of Lebas' work: Lebas 2011

importance of professional politicians, for example.<sup>65</sup> Similarly, long duration grassroots party movements, such as those that attempt to start small by building parties at the local level first,<sup>66</sup> are disregarded because there appears to be quite effective government preclusion of the ability of such movements to gain momentum in hybrid regimes. This notion of structural inheritance, it should be noted, directly contradicts the position that the "short path to electoralism" is a major obstacle to opposition parties in new democracies.<sup>67</sup>

In line with the notion that the options available to democratic actors for acquiring power are limited to the democratic process, and are therefore much more limited than those available to incumbent and non-democratic opposition actors willing to use violence, coercion and manipulation,<sup>68</sup> it is theorized that the presence of violence in the party system is negatively correlated with opposition strength, and that it is indicative of other factors theorized as being related to opposition weakness, such as weak rule of law.<sup>69</sup>

It is the position of this thesis that independent members and small parties, knowing that their chances of acquiring power are negligible, are incentivized to coalesce with incumbents. Independent candidates in particular may run without a party label with the specific goal of being admitted to the winning party after elections,<sup>70</sup> or may run as independents because they were unable to secure a party nomination but possess the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>65</sup> See, for example: Schmitter 2010, 26-27

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>66</sup> See, for example: Rakner and van de Walle 2009b, 117-118 where this is highlighted as an opposition strategy. It is of note that one of the evidentiary examples utilized to convey this position is the Democratic Party in Uganda which is an absolute non-contender in comparison to the dominant opposition party.
 <sup>67</sup> Carothers 2006, 53-58

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>68</sup> Ottaway 2003, 175

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>69</sup> See, for example: Carothers 2006, 58-60

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>70</sup> Rakner and van de Walle 2009a, 212-213; Rakner and van de Walle 2009b, 112

independent resources to win a seat.<sup>71</sup> It can be suggested, therefore, that a proliferation of independent members and small parties are inversely correlated with opposition strength.

Regarding identity based "ethnic," "regional," et cetera parties, considered a general characteristic of African political parties,<sup>72</sup> as well as African society generally,<sup>73</sup> it may be argued that because the interests of these parties are comparatively narrow, i.e. that they have no concern for brokerage policy or constituents external to their identity group, and where they do not form a majority and therefore the incumbent government, they may be easily co-opted by incumbents willing to acquiesce to some or all of their policy demands. This position is borne out in the literature which considers "ethnic" parties in Africa as the building blocks of large political coalitions held together by patronage, which patronage lies more or less exclusively in the hands of incumbents.<sup>74</sup> In this literature politicians attempting to break with ethnicity as a basis for political parties are regarded as both novel as well as largely unsuccessful.<sup>75</sup> However, this position has been challenged by more recent work which suggests that local politics are more contentious than the "ethnic" position would suggest, and that party fragmentation at the national level is mirrored at the local even in "ethnically homogenous" regions.<sup>76</sup> Regardless of the interaction of ethnic parties with incumbents, it can be argued that their very presence in the party system is negatively correlated with democratic outcomes insofar as their appeal to, and politicization of identity, takes votes and competitiveness away from democratic opposition parties. However, the ability of "ethnic" parties to do

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>71</sup> See, for example: Rakner and van de Walle 2009b, 110-112

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>72</sup> Gyimah-Boadi 2007, 26-27; Erdmann 2007, 37

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>73</sup> See, for example in the context of party research: Erdmann 2007, 44-45

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>74</sup> *Ibidem* 46

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>75</sup> *Ibidem* 47

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>76</sup> Lebas 2011, 33

so may have been rooted in the "collapsed state" phenomenon, and prior to that the structural distribution of power in the colonial regimes, both of which may only represent temporary aberrations; while much research in addition has been produced on the propensity of citizens to turn to ethnic associations in the context of scarce resources and benefits traditionally provided by the state.<sup>77</sup>

Given that the level of analysis with which this thesis is concerned is the party system and aggregate electoral outcomes, and not individual voter preferences, the investigation of ethnicity herein shall be confined to the presence or absence of obvious ethnically based parties, whether *de jure* or *de facto*. As noted above, one of the predominant concerns of this thesis is the investigation of the co-optation of cross-cutting organizational structure not limited by societal cleavages such as ethnicity. This is not to say that if one surveyed electors in a given state regarding a particular election one would not find that ethnicity played an important role in their decision making, neither is this qualification an indication that this thesis is in a position to contradict research which indicates that this may not be the case.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>77</sup> See, for example: Berman, Eyoh and Kymlicka 2004; Emizet 1999, 185-228

#### **Chapter 3: Literature Review**

As mentioned above, the primary alternative hypotheses of democratic outcomes can be broadly categorized into structural, institutional and voluntarist factors. Some of the most important structural hypotheses of democratic outcomes have focused on the importance of the socioeconomic system, and the impact of the international system, on democratic outcomes; while widely known institutional hypotheses have focused on executive and electoral design; and the most perdurable voluntarist hypotheses have focused on pacts.

In regard to socioeconomic hypotheses, which are closely related to modernization theories of democracy, the most enduring has been the correlation of wealth and democracy, where wealth is taken to be an indicator of economic development. While thresholds of strong correlation between absolute GDP figures and democracy have been located in past research,<sup>78</sup> as well as more recently, this hypothesis has been unable to reliably account for the institutionalization of democracy: income can only be shown to be correlated with the stability of democratic (and possibly any) systems.<sup>79</sup> That being said, this correlation is broadly accepted in the literature,<sup>80</sup> and even critical perspectives on the relationship between economic development and democracy maintain the association between economic development and democracy maintain the association between economic development and the "old" world and poverty and autocracy in "new" countries; the caveat being that "new" countries have simply remained poor as well as autocratic.<sup>81</sup> To be fair, this

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>78</sup> See, for example: Przeworski and Limongi 1997, 155-183; Geddes provides an overview of research on this relationship in: Geddes 1999, 117-119; see also Lawson 1999, 8 for a synthesis from the even older literature (Lipset and Dahl).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>79</sup> This was the overall implication of the research conducted in, for example: Przeworski and Limongi 1997

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>80</sup> See, for example: Carothers 2006, 60-61

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>81</sup> Przeworski and Limongi 1997, 176

theory does not suggest that democracy cannot be established in poor states, it suggests only that it is unlikely to survive.<sup>82</sup> Newer research, however, suggests that in isolating African cases it can be shown that poverty, through the intervention of aid, is actually positively correlated with democratic outcomes,<sup>83</sup> whilst older research has long suggested a relationship between poor economic performance and authoritarian breakdown.<sup>84</sup>

It is the position of this thesis that emerging democracies in less wealthy states in the contemporary world present a gap not explained by the literature which focuses on the relationship between wealth, as an indicator of socioeconomic development, and democracy. While negative cases typically exist, and certainly have throughout the duration of this literature, the number of negative cases present today, particularly where one allows oneself to account for toward democracy movement in hybrid regimes, gives call for a reassessment of this position. It is the position of this thesis, not that socioeconomic theories are without merit, but that important changes occur and have occurred in the international states system, and within given states whence they become hybrid regimes, that alter the impact of traditionally important factors, such as wealth, on democratic outcomes. A reassessment is particularly in order when studying African cases, where economic wealth is outside the reach of the vast majority of citizens, but where few states could be considered to be purely authoritarian regimes today.

Regarding international influences, the most recent and coherent theory of the effect of the international system on democratic outcomes has been the theory of linkage

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>82</sup> Ibidem 169

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>83</sup> See: Boduszynski and Englebert 2008, 29-49

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>84</sup> Geddes 1999, 140

and leverage, argued by Levitsky and Way.<sup>85</sup> In this conceptualization linkage and leverage are thought to explain why states become democracies, competitive authoritarian regimes, or remain autocratic.<sup>86</sup> Leverage is defined as a government's vulnerability to external pressure, which vulnerability is primarily grounded in the size and strength of its economy, the presence or absence of competing foreign policy objectives between western states, and the presence or absence of "black knight" support.<sup>87</sup> Linkage is defined as the density of political, economic, social, diplomatic and organizational ties, as well as the extent of cross border flows of capital, goods and services, people and information between a given state and the U.S. and pre-2004 members of the European Union.<sup>88</sup> Linkage is thought to work through the mechanism of shaping the incentives, interests and capabilities of governments vis-à-vis their citizenry.89

This thesis does not call into question that both linkage and leverage play meaningful roles in democratic outcomes within specified parameters, but there are several important gaps in this theorization of the effects of the international system on democratic outcomes, namely: that the impact of linkage and leverage are severely dependent on additional factors, such as the strength and organizational capacity of incumbent governments to resist leverage; that they are meaningfully contaminated by other hypotheses, such as the material ability of persons to form linkages as coded by Levitsky and Way;<sup>90</sup> that the empirical coding of linkage is over-determined in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>85</sup> See, for example: Levistky and Way 2010a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>86</sup> See, for example: *Ibidem* 50-54
<sup>87</sup> *Ibidem* 40-43

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>88</sup> Ibidem 43

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>89</sup> Ibidem 45-50

 $<sup>^{90}</sup>$  For coding and conceptualization, wherein I should note that the former does not fully account for the

meaningful ways, such as the importance of geographical proximity to the West;<sup>91</sup> and finally that this theory makes important admissions regarding the present study, namely the overall importance of opposition mobilization.<sup>92</sup> While the theory of linkage and leverage may explain democratization within certain parameters, such as why comparatively wealthy states in the Americas and western Eurasia became democracies after the Cold War, without accounting for their history of democracy or the democratic influence of potential membership in the European Union or Organization of American States, whilst the more easterly Eurasian states have not, for which the heavy explanatory power and coding weight accorded to geography is questionable; the theory presents a wide gap concerning Sub-Saharan Africa insofar as it neither adequately explains nor harbors any expectation of democracy in the region, which is characterized by Levitsky and Way as medium to high in leverage but low in linkage.<sup>93</sup> This particular confluence of linkage and leverage would mean that hybrid regimes in Africa are essentially explained by their broad poverty and geographic location, a somewhat problematic position which certainly merits another investigation.

While poverty and natural resource wealth comprise only the most significant, but not the universe of measures utilized in the analysis of leverage, it is nevertheless worth questioning its applicability in the African context. The remaining components of this relationship would have to be explained by the organizational capacity of incumbent

latter, see: Levitsky and Way 2005, 22-23; Levitsky and Way 2006, 383-384; and, in particular Levistky and Way 2010a, 374-375 Appendix III – Measuring Leverage

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>91</sup> A problem noted also in: Fairbanks 2009, 85; for the importance given to geographical proximity see: Levitsky and Way 2010a, 374-375; Levitsky and Way 2005, 23 and on page 30 it is noted that all of sub-Saharan Africa is characterized by the absence of linkage; In a later work Levitsky and Way indicate that colonial heritage may also be an indicator of linkage, a safe caveat that is never actually included in their operational analyses, see: Levitsky and Way 2006, 384 <sup>92</sup> See, for example: Way 2009, 94-96 wherein Way reneges on his original position that opposition

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>72</sup> See, for example: Way 2009, 94-96 wherein Way reneges on his original position that opposition participation is a poor indicator of its success, in: Way 2008, 59; See also: Way 2010, 235
 <sup>93</sup> See, for example: Levistky and Way 2010a, 237-308

governments, the possession of nuclear arms, or "black knight" support by a non-Western state. It may be contended that the first remaining variable is irrelevant insofar as it is assumed in the context of this analysis, at least vis-à-vis the opposition; the second variable is now inapplicable in Sub-Saharan Africa; and the cut-off for the coding of the third variable, 1 per cent of GDP in bilateral aid from a "black knight," is so low in the context of highly impoverished states that it simply provides a measure to make the model work in the face of significant contrary evidence.<sup>94</sup> It is worth noting, in addition, that it is because of the meaningful incorporation of natural resource wealth into the theory of leverage that this otherwise prominent and controversial theory of the relationship between natural resource endowments and democratic outcomes is not considered herein.<sup>95</sup>

Whilst exogenous pressures certainly play an important role, this thesis is concerned primarily with domestic factors, and is geared toward the critical investigation of some of the literature which deprives those domestic factors of importance vis-à-vis structural explanations. The gaps in the linkage and leverage theories are where and how they fail to explain democracy, and domestically driven toward democracy movement, particularly in Sub-Saharan Africa.

On a broad note, the position of this thesis regarding structural influences generally is that they may play an important role in democratic outcomes within their specified parameters, and particularly when considering movement from essentially authoritarian regimes, but that in hybrid regimes the role of structure at most dictates the level of opposition activity required, not the possibility or impossibility of those

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>94</sup> Particular coding schemes, which go well beyond what the body of the text accounts for, can be found in: Levistky and Way 2010a, 372-373, Appendix II – Measuring Leverage

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>95</sup> On this subject, one might look to, for example: Dunning 2008; Luong and Weinthal 2010; Ross 2001

outcomes, nor even necessarily their likelihood;<sup>96</sup> although structure may *ex post* correlate to the chronological distribution of democratization in the post-communist world.<sup>97</sup> It is precisely these after the event correlations which may have caused significant problems in democratization theory across time, in particular the temptation to infer causation backward based on patterned distributions of structural variables that may only be historical artefacts possessed of temporary stability.

Regarding institutional theories of democratization, the most influential have been those regarding the design of government, and the design of the electoral system. In terms of the former, it has been broadly hypothesized that parliamentary systems bear a greater association with democratic outcomes than do presidential systems. This hypothesis is founded on the assumption that executives in parliamentary systems are embedded in a house of elected representatives, are responsible to that house, and are thereby more constrained, whereas presidents do not sit in a house of elected representatives, and operate, therefore, with greater autonomy and less responsibility.<sup>98</sup> This theory has also been satisfactorily applied within the African context specifically.<sup>99</sup> A secondary hypothesis, relevant to this thesis in particular, is that presidential systems also weaken parties and party systems because executive authority has a level of detachment from parliament, where parties sit, and both citizens and leaders are thereby less interested in weakened parties and their parliamentarians.<sup>100</sup>

The gaps presented by this literature lie in the significant amount of negative

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>96</sup> See also, for example: Beissinger 2009, 74-77; Bunce and Wolchik 2009, 69-73; Way 2010, 235
 <sup>97</sup> Silitski 2009, 87

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>98</sup> See, in particular: Fish 2005, 193-245; and also: Carothers 2006, 64-65; Fish 1998, 132-134, 139 M.
Stephen Fish also strongly claims that "muscular multipartyism" is also strongly correlated with democratic outcomes, and suggests that parties should be treated as "prime movers" on page 140.
<sup>99</sup> See, for example: Rakner and van de Walle 2009b, 112-115

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>100</sup> See, for example in the African context: Rakner and van de Walle 2009b, 112-115

cases which reside at both ends of the spectrum, i.e. a large number of democratic presidential systems, and parliamentary systems which are autocratic or have spent significant periods of time as autocratic in nature. There is certainly no definitive feature of parliamentary governance which necessarily negates the possibility of authoritarianism.

Regarding voluntarist theories, the most enduring has been the idea of "pacted" transitions between incumbent and opposition leaders.<sup>101</sup> Whilst this paradigm is useful, there are several critical gaps in the context of a thesis of this nature. Firstly, one must question why incumbents undertake pacts, and how firm their commitments are to those pacts. As was the case in several Great Lakes states, pacts can be undertaken in moments of incumbent weakness, and can be ignored whence a secure footing is regained. Secondly, one must question with whom these pacts are undertaken. Pacts with insurgent military groups, or minor opposition parties, may not be useful for democracy, and as is historically evident in at least one of the cases below, may serve to preserve the undemocratic system. The former might be useful for peace, but the latter may simply be a tool to break up the opposition. Finally, the relationship between democracy as an outcome of pacts has been challenged.<sup>102</sup>

The general position this thesis adopts in relation to the broader literature is that the liberalization of authoritarian regimes only leads to democracy where democratic ideas and organizations exist under the repression of that authoritarianism,<sup>103</sup> and the absence of authoritarianism is not the presence of democracy, nor the empowerment of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>101</sup> See, for example: O'Donnell and Schmitter 1986, referencing in particular the brief summations offered in chapters 3 and 4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>102</sup> Geddes 1999,140; and, perhaps most importantly in: Schmitter 2010, 23

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>103</sup>Ottaway 2003, 9

democratic opposition parties.<sup>104</sup> What is logically critical in hybrid regimes, in which all or many of the legal and definitional trappings of democracy are present, are active opposition parties to enliven the system, to criticize government, and to provide a realistic alternative to electors.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>104</sup> Bunce and Wolchik 2009, 70-71

#### **Chapter 4: Research Design, Methodology, and Case Selection**

In this chapter the details of the design of this thesis, the methodologies it employs, and the selection of its cases, will be detailed. This chapter commences with a discussion of its research design generally, followed by methodological discussion, and is concluded with a discussion regarding case selection.

This thesis will pursue a programmatic mixed methods approach to the research questions, including substantial quantitative as well as qualitative analysis.<sup>105</sup> Regarding the former, the research questions that can be addressed quantitatively will be posited both to a large-N world dataset, as well as to an identical but smaller Sub-Saharan Africa dataset. This approach should have the effect of lending a degree of validity to the findings, insofar as this thesis is predominantly concerned with democracy in the context of African politics. In the quantitative portion of the analysis only the most technically correct applicable statistics and, ultimately, the most parsimonious and conservative models will be utilized in order to avoid the risk the results become confused or highly qualified.<sup>106</sup>

In terms of data sources, this thesis relies predominantly on the World Development Indicators, Africa Development Indicators, Database of Political Institutions, and Polity IV datasets; and mathematical calculations on data thereupon. Although the latter dataset may be controversial as an unqualified indicator of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>105</sup> This approach is labelled as "programmatic" in the sense that it is pursuing distinct questions with distinct methodological approaches, as opposed to other more integrated approaches to mixed methods, all of which designs are highlighted in: Creswell and Clark 2007

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>106</sup> Aside from simply wishing to only pursue absolutely correct operations given the data at hand on a technical level, which is often not the case, this thesis has also been influenced toward easily interpretable and simple operations by some of the arguments in: Ray 2005; and the complimentary articles: Achen 2005; Clark 2005; 341-352

democracy,<sup>107</sup> it is nevertheless widely utilized for large-N analyses due the facts that: 1) it is unparalleled in terms of the number of observations and the timeframe available; and 2) it provides a much needed common language for scholars wishing to pursue studies of democracy and autocracy coded in a gradated, as opposed to dichotomous manner. Because there may be controversy between research which approaches democracy as absolute and dichotomous *versus* gradated,<sup>108</sup> it should be made explicit that a gradated measure of democracy has been elected because this thesis is specifically concerned with variation on the dependent variable, i.e. democratic outcomes, with increased analytic differentiation on the dependent variable in order to capture diversity, <sup>109</sup> and with this variation in regimes which would otherwise simply remain static as non-democracies throughout nearly all of the period under investigation. The Polity IV dataset is recoded in two manners for the purposes of this thesis: firstly, by adding 10 points to all scores which normally range from -10 to +10 yielding an all positive integer scale ranging from 0-20, in which all scores at 16 and above are taken to indicate a democracy; and, secondly, where that 0-20 scale is reduced to 5 ordinal grades for certain cross tabulations, where 5 indicates the 16-20 democracy score, and preceding numbers represent descending increments of four points. In both recoding schemes transitional values are recoded as missing and excluded from analysis.

The remaining three datasets are all generated and maintained by the World Bank and are not generally regarded as highly problematic or flawed sources of information. From the World Development Indicators and Africa Development Indicators, the latter being an identical subset, this thesis utilizes the following information: GDP per capita in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>107</sup> See, for example: Munck and Verkuilen 2002; Marshall, Gurr, Davenport and Jaggers 2002

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>108</sup> See, for example: Collier and Adcock 1999

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>109</sup> Collier and Levitsky 2009, 269

current United States dollars; and natural resource rents as a percentage of GDP. GDP per capita in current United States dollars is elected simply for the parsimony and ease of interpretation granted by the measure, and natural resource rents as a percentage of GDP in order to generate an easy to utilize interval-ratio level measurement. The Database of Political Institutions is utilized for its measurements and loggings of system type, e.g. presidential, parliamentary, and semi-presidential; electoral system type, e.g. proportional representation or other; and measurements of opposition seats held by the largest opposition party, and total seats held by the opposition.

In terms of the data coding, due to large amounts of missing data, in regard to Africa in particular, and the difficult questions that come with deciding how to manipulate that missing data, the data available has been recoded from the interval-ratio level to the ordinal level. It is the position of this thesis that coding precise and absolute interval-ratio data into larger ordinal grades provides a basis to more safely posit the values of otherwise missing data than, for example, to infer precise numbers taken through the operation of averages. Finally, as has become the norm in large-N political science quantitative analyses, the number of observations available for use in the dataset has been maximized by coding the data into country years, producing thereby 22 mathematically distinct observations for every state in the dataset in the 1989-2010 period. In the operations below this data is used both as a broad cross-section in order to investigate general correlation, as well as, where appropriate, utilized longitudinally in order to investigate the temporal order of correlation.

In order to develop a quantitative measure of "opposition strength" it is inferred

28

that strong opposition parties are those which monopolize the opposition vote.<sup>110</sup> This thesis appeals to the monopolization of the opposition primarily due to the contention that absolute vote proportions between incumbent and opposition in electoral competition are unreliable in contexts that may be significantly characterized by electoral fraud on the part of undemocratic incumbents amongst other factors.<sup>111</sup> Adapting this originally qualitative conceptualization from Lebas is in expostulation both to the dangers of the alternative of absolute quantification of the opposition vis-à-vis the universe of votes, as well as the weak relationship found between that operationalization of opposition strength and democratic outcomes.<sup>112</sup> Secondly, this thesis contends that the most coherent manner in which to test this particular operationalization of opposition strength is in terms of the monopolization of opposition seats (as opposed to votes). This is posited to be the case because voting patterns are only theoretically salient at electoral intervals, whereas it can be assumed that seat allocation continues to have a function in the years between elections, i.e. that opposition members are participating in politics. In order to generate this number, firstly, the number of seats held by the largest opposition party is divided by the total number of seats held by the opposition, and the resulting quotient is multiplied by 100; and secondly, where appropriate, ordinal grades into which the product of the previous operation is converted are generated, for reasons both of compatibility with the ordinal data already in use, as well as for those arguments for ordinal conversion highlighted above.

There are at least two major interacting variables over which this thesis attempts

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>110</sup> Lebas 2011, 27 adopted from one of three indicators of opposition strength, although Lebas does not believe these can be utilized as standalone measures.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>111</sup> See, for example: *Ibidem* 26
<sup>112</sup> As in, for example: Rakner and van de Walle 2009b,109-111

to exert control in concentrating on the opposition as an insular system, namely the extent of vote rigging in undemocratic regimes, and the extent of the protest vote. The unknown dimensions of these variables in a given competitive authoritarian regime are at once the justification for avoiding the absolute analysis of the opposition vis-à-vis the incumbent,<sup>113</sup> but may certainly also contaminate the opposition vote when it is considered in and of itself. While some argue there is no competitive advantage in the manipulation of votes by authoritarian incumbents vis-à-vis other forms of electoral manipulation, the fact is that if the incumbent is capable of manipulating the proportion of votes it does not receive, it is capable also of manipulating the allocation of nonincumbent votes. It may not be possible, therefore, to discern what form of manipulation has taken place.

This thesis argues that there is utility in electoral data from hybrid regimes, and that the analysis of the opposition as an insulated system provides some protection from the effects of vote manipulation which, while it is certainly exists, can be delimited neither as marginal nor as totalizing. The ultimate decisions on the utility of this data, and on the probable extent of vote rigging in hybrid regimes, obviously, must be left to individual readers and their interpretation of the scholarly and professional literature at large.

In terms of the major opposition parties, furthermore, it may not be possible to determine what proportion of votes were garnered by the opposition's electoral campaign, and what proportion of votes are merely an indication of discontent with the incumbent. The theoretical weight and relevance of the protest vote is, therefore, also left to the reader, as this thesis has no basis upon which to define its actual parameters in the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>113</sup> Lebas 2011, 26

cases at hand.

The particular operations utilized, as mentioned, are restricted to the most technically correct, parsimonious and conservative available. This approach is taken largely because this thesis constitutes a more or less initial investigation. Most of the data is presented below in the form of cross-tabulations and the related statistical measures of independence and association.

For all cross-tabulations Pearson's chi-squared statistic is presented, although the necessity of this presentation is debatable given that this thesis is dealing with a longitudinally ordered universe of cases, and not a sample of cases from that universe. Pearson's chi squared statistic, therefore, is included as a formality based on the fact that a temporal truncation on the parameters of the universe of cases has taken place, and in regard to the fact that it is a base calculation for non-parametric statistical measures of association for nominal variables. In line with the latter, Cramer's phi statistic is included in categorical tables. Additionally, because this thesis is dealing in what can be regarded as the population of cases, and not a sample thereof, retests of established theories are subjected to hypothesis testing as the primary hypothesis, i.e. where the null hypothesis remains that these positions do not reflect the empirical universe. That being the case, no weights or statistical adjustments are applied to the Pearson chi-squared statistic, as the basic null hypothesis assumption of uniform distribution is adopted. There are additional reasons for taking such an approach to the chi-squared statistic, the most relevant of which is the danger of type II error when statistically adjusting for low null hypothesis expectations not based on uniform distribution. Should such adjustments be made in the context of a retest and the null hypothesis fail to be rejected, given the

31

known danger of type II error, it would be advisable to revert to the very approach this thesis has elected to utilize as it stands.

Where all data in a given cross-tabulation is at the ordinal level or better, additional measures of non-parametric association are included, comprised herein of Goodman and Kruskal's gamma, Kendall's tau, and Spearman's rho. Gamma is included due to its mathematical similarity to tau, and it is simply the position of this thesis that reporting these measures in tandem is more useful than not, while the differential value of these measurements is left to the reader.

In the cases where nominal and dichotomous variables are being tested against ordinal or interval-ratio level data this thesis utilizes the difference of means t-test, as well as cross tabulation with Pearson's chi squared and Cramer's phi statistics.

Finally, in the interest of parsimony, longitudinal data is presented as variation in central tendency across time based on a "year zero" which is the first year a given state qualifies for inclusion, and raw data is included in an appendix. Recoding applicable cases in this manner prevents late entry cases from skewing the effect of those variables under consideration as concerns early entry cases. The reader is encouraged to analyse the raw data for him or herself in order to discern the appropriateness or inappropriateness of more rigorous longitudinal tests, which this thesis has avoided due to the uncontrolled acquisition of cases which are posited herein to pose a logically similar problem to that of attrition more typical of longitudinal studies.

In terms of the qualitative portion of this analysis, multiple case secondary analysis will be conducted with comparative method and purposive sampling case

32

selection criteria.<sup>114</sup> This thesis utilizes multiple cases in order to test predefined hypotheses,<sup>115</sup> but also allows room for induction from the data at hand.<sup>116</sup> The primary object of the qualitative portion of the analysis is to analyze how strong opposition parties come to be strong. The inability to fully capture this process with quantitative data has to do with the facts that not all data can be made numerically discrete, that some of this data which cannot be quantified may be the same data this thesis is attempting to capture in this analysis, and that even where it is clear that many of the variables could be usefully quantified, such data is simply not available for secondary analysis, i.e. has not yet been gathered.<sup>117</sup>

Although it has been noted that party-system based explanations can be unreliable predictors of political outcomes in Africa,<sup>118</sup> this should not be taken *prima facie* given the lack of reliability highlighted in other broad theoretical approaches as concerns African cases, and it is the position of this thesis that logical relationships should be investigated. This thesis conceives of the "party-system" as the nature and stability of interactions between parties operating in an intermediate position between government and society.<sup>119</sup>

In selecting the particular cases of states in the Great Lakes region this thesis

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>114</sup> For an understanding of "multiple case secondary analysis" in general as opposed to a strictly comparative approach see: Berg 2009, 317-337; for an understanding of the contemporary "comparative method" as opposed to one restricted to the J.S. Mill iteration or some broad ill-defined notion of "comparative politics" see, for example: Frendreis 1983; Przeworski and Teune 1970; for an understanding of the use of that method in case selection see, for example: Meckstroth 1975; Przeworski and Teune 1970, 32- (Most Similar Systems Design) and 34- (Most Different Systems Design); for an understanding of what constitutes "purposive sampling" see, for example: Babbie and Benaquisto 2010, 182, and 181-185 for the logic of non-probability sampling in general. For the logic and justification of non-random case selection as utilized herein see, for example: Levy 2008, 8-9; Thomas 2011, 514

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>115</sup> See, for example: Levy 2008, 7; Meckstroth 1975, 136-137

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>116</sup> See, for example: Levy 2008, 11-12

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>117</sup> This and similar logic for utilizing case studies in general is presented in: Gerring 2007

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>118</sup> Lebas 2011, 22

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>119</sup> Basedau 2007, 108

intends the elimination of a number of variables which would otherwise have to be addressed.<sup>120</sup> Purposively selecting from a group of states that at once represent a proximate enough region to lend validity to the analysis, whilst individually originating in different histories of authoritarian politics and coalescing into a singular form of "blocked transition" hybrid regime over the past several decades;<sup>121</sup> which form contemporarily embraces a liberal multiparty based conceptualization of democracy, allow this thesis to disregard questions of equivalence.<sup>122</sup> In so doing, it is also possible to eliminate consideration of the correlations between authoritarian regime type and democratic outcomes,<sup>123</sup> and furthermore this thesis understands the concept of a "blocked transition" to be widely congruent with competitive authoritarianism and et cetera. However, while purposively selecting the cases, electing to focus on Uganda and DRC where there are relatively strong opposition parties, and Rwanda where there is not, and in selecting these cases without regard to their absolute state of democracy other than that they cannot be consolidated democracies; this thesis also seeks to avoid issues associated with selection bias in comparative research.<sup>124</sup> In this sample Uganda constitutes the "crucial" case<sup>125</sup> where a relatively strong opposition party has been carved out of the prior "no party" organizational structure of the incumbent; Rwanda forms a "diverse"<sup>126</sup> case wherein *pro forma* democracy exists and multipartyism is legal, but no strong opposition party has yet arisen; and finally, the Democratic Republic of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>120</sup> For the logic of the use of the comparative method to eliminate irrelevant variables from analysis see, for example: Frendreis 1983, 262; Meckstroth 1975, 137

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>121</sup> See, for example: van de Walle 2002, 68-73; Bratton and van de Walle 1997

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>122</sup> For the problem of equivalence in comparative research see, for example: Przeworski and Teune 1970, 106-130

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>123</sup> For example as presented in: Geddes 1999, 115-144; or as eventually questioned by Schmitter in: Schmitter 2010, 22-23

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>124</sup> See, for example: Collier and Mahoney 1996, 56-91; Geddes, 1990, 131-150

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>125</sup> See, for example: Gerring 2007, 231-253

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>126</sup> Gerring and Seawright 2008, 301

Congo, due to its unique recent history, forms both a "crucial" case in a similar manner to Uganda as concerns the *Mouvement de Libération du Congo*, but also forms a "deviant" case, <sup>127</sup> as concerns the *Union pour Démocratie et le Progrès Social*. Due to the significant across case differences, but the highly similar and even cross-contaminated nature of the respective political systems, the various forms of cases are drawn together herein in a mixed *most similar systems*, but also *most different systems* design. Uganda and DRC constitute the MDS design, whilst Uganda and DRC vis-à-vis Rwanda will comprise an MSS paired comparison<sup>128</sup> where the former two represent "positive" cases and the latter represents a "negative" case.<sup>129</sup>

Finally, this thesis elects to conduct the analysis within the temporal frame 1989-2010 in both the quantitative and qualitative portion of the analysis as applicable. In not analyzing African politics prior to 1989 it is possible to exclude several otherwise important variables from the analysis, in particular the impact of Cold War alliances on regime type in African states and elsewhere, arguably the cause, or a crucial factor in, a significant number of aberrations in regime type in otherwise historical democracies.<sup>130</sup> Following the end of the Cold War and the removal of anti-democratic exogenous pressures, many states in Africa and around the world that entered statehood and/or the Cold War period as democratic states have discretely returned to that form of governance, or are arguably in the process of such a return.<sup>131</sup> Utilizing data from prior to the Cold

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>127</sup> *Ibidem* 303

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>128</sup> See, for example: Tarrow 2010

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>129</sup> Selecting Rwanda as a negative case follows the logic for negative case selection that does not require the negative case to be characterized by the presence of the Independent Variables and/or mechanisms and the absence of the Dependent Variable or outcome, only that the outcome of interest is theoretically possible, *id est* the "possibility principle" as found in: Goertz and Mahoney 2004, 653-669

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>130</sup> See, for example: Magaloni 2008, 737-738 wherein the author conceded that statistical work conducted on regime change over a period including the Cold War could be significantly contaminated.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>131</sup> This position is broadly supported in the Africanist literature, for example in: McFerson 2010, 66-68

War period cannot be done in the context of Sub-Saharan Africa, as most contemporary states were formal colonies for some time prior to this period, and the quality of our knowledge of pre-colonial and/or pre-contact systems is highly variable; extensive where there was prolonged contact with a centralized kingdom, and suspect as concerns our understanding of "tribes" encountered, or invented for the purposes of political domination.<sup>132</sup> Additionally, even where those centralized political systems have existed, the colonial encounter served to dismantle (*exempli gratia:* Kongo), alter (e.g. Rwanda), or incorporate them into larger political bodies (e.g. Buganda); thus making their politics of little relevance to this analysis, which is concerned with the Westphalian/postcolonial state the political elite (controversially) elected to retain in the era of independence.<sup>133</sup>

wherein McFerson characterizes the period from 1989 forward as one of "fragile progress," 1995-2002 as one of "backsliding" and 2002 forward as "recovery;" in pages 68-70 McFerson details some of the contaminating issues; see also, for example: Nugent 2004, 369

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>132</sup> These aspects of the colonial encounter are analysed most notably in: Mamdani 1996; Young 1994
 <sup>133</sup> The history of such decisions and their alternatives may be found in general histories such as: Freund 1984; Herbst 2000

## **Chapter 5: Quantitative Results**

In this chapter the thesis seeks to expose the posited relationship between strong opposition parties and democratic outcomes to empirical testing, as well as predominant hypotheses from the broader literature expounded above. The reason for the latter series of testing is that it is the position of this thesis that the nature of these established relationships may change in the post-Cold War period, and in hybrid as opposed to authoritarian regimes. The chapter will commence with an empirical investigation of certain hypotheses from the broader literature, followed by an investigation of the relationship between strong opposition parties and democratic outcomes.

When the temporal boundaries of the analysis are restricted to the years 1989 through 2010, the correlation between wealth and democracy broadly holds on the global level, as illustrated by Table 1 below.

Polity Score Total
GDP 1 2 3 4 5
<b>1</b> 209 221 168 141 254 993
<b>2</b> 214 187 58 173 766 1398
<b>3</b> 78 14 4 10 291 397
<b>4</b> 54 3 18 0 429 504
Total         555         425         248         324         1740         3292
Pearson chi2         720.3723         Pr         .000
Gamma 0.4471 ASE 0.02
Kendall's tau-b         0.3047         ASE         0.014
Spearman         0.3548         Pr         .0000
* GDP per capita in current USD
Recoded into ordinal values where 1 = \$2 per day or less, 2 = middle as defined
by World Development Indicators (lower middle, middle, upper middle) where
not included in the prior category, 3 = high, as values greater than the upper limit
of upper middle (\$6247.27) as defined by World Development Indicators in 2010,
and where 4 = all values at \$18,000 and above
After recoding into broad ordinal values, missing data was averaged according to
the preceding and proceeding available data
** Polity Scores were generated using the plus ten method of generating
all-positive scores
The resulting 0-20 scale was recoded into quintiles where 0-3=1, 4-7=2, 8-11=3,
12-15=4 and 16-20=5, where 1 = undemocratic and 5 = democratic
All transitional polity scores (-8877, -66) were recoded as missing, and missing

Table 1 indicates that there is a tendency in all states with a GDP per capita of greater than \$2 per day, and particularly in states with a GDP per capita of greater than \$6247.27 per year, toward democracy. The results of the non-parametric measures of association for cross-tabulated ordinal data also suggest that a meaningful amount of variation in democracy is explained by GDP per capita. It is of note, however, that the statistical results of this correlation are heavily influenced by states which are not impoverished, whereas states in the lowest income category, with a GDP per capita of \$2

per day or less, are fairly evenly distributed across gradations of democracy in this time period (Table 2).

here GDP Per Capita i	s \$2 Per Day	or Less	
	Frequency	Percent	<b>Cumulative Percent</b>
Polity Score			
1	209	21.05	21.05
2	221	22.26	43.3
3	168	16.92	60.22
4	141	14.2	74.42
5	254	25.58	100
Total	993	100	

This latter finding is not expected by the theory iterated above. The important caveat is that, whilst a singular indicator such as GDP per capita is and has been an acceptable simplification of the relationship that modernization theory and its more contemporary revisions posit between economic development and/or capitalism and democracy, the theory itself can be much "thicker" and more complex than this indicator can account for.<sup>134</sup> This finding is of particular importance for the study of African politics where the majority of states fall within the low income category (Table 3), and where the statistical relationship between wealth and democracy is significantly weaker across the same time period (Table 4).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>134</sup> See, for example: Boix 2003; Lipset 1981; Rueschemeyer, Stephens and Stephens 1992

Table 3:	GDP Per C	apita in Africa	1989-2010						
		Frequency	Percent	Cumulative Percent					
GDP	1	722	68.37	68.37					
	2	295	27.94	96.31					
	3	36	3.41	99.72					
	4	3	0.28	100					
	Total	1056	100						
* see notes for Table 1 regarding the coding of GDP per									
capita									

Table 4:	GDP Per Cap	ita and De	mocracy in A	Africa 198	89-2010	
	Polity Sco	re				Total
GDP	1	2	3	4	5	
1	93	168	137	84	136	618
2	42	61	17	28	123	271
3	0	8	0	2	7	17
4	0	3	0	0	0	3
Total	135	240	154	114	266	909
	Pearson C	hi2	84.1078		Pr	.000
	Gamma		0.2051		ASE	0.051
	Kendall's	tau-b	0.122		ASE	0.031
	Spearman's rho		0.1364		Pr	.0000
* see no	otes for Table	1 regardin	ig the genei	ration of	Polity scor	es
and the	coding of GD	P per capit	ta			

As Table 3 illustrates 68 per cent of African cases fall in the extremely low income category possessing a GDP per capita of \$2 per day or less, whilst 96 per cent of the African cases fall within the first two income categories. In Table 4 one can see that the statistical measures of association for non-parametric ordinal cross-tabulation have decreased in strength by over 50 per cent in all cases, and the tau and rho statistics can be regarded as more or less insignificant. The reason for this is evident in the Table 4 cross-

tabulation itself where it is clear that there is no definitive relationship between income and either democracy or autocracy when all African observations between 1989 and 2010 are treated as a large cross section.

The absence of this relationship in broad cross section is further complicated by the fact that Sub-Saharan African states entered the post-Cold War period as predominantly poor and autocratic (see Table 5), whereas across the period 1989-2010 there has been a very significant shift away from purely authoritarian governance (see Table 6), with only a minor shift toward greater individual wealth (see Table 7).

Table 5:	GDP Per Cap	oita and De	mocracy in	Africa 19	90	
	Polity Sco	re				Total
GDP	1	2	3	4	5	
1	24	3	0	1	1	29
2	6	1	2	1	3	13
3	0	0	0	0	0	0
4	0	0	0	0	0	0
Total	30	4	2	2	4	42
	Pearson C	Pearson Chi2			Pr	0.037
	Gamma		0.6726		ASE	0.177
	Kendall's	tau-b	0.3857		ASE	0.145
	Spearman	's rho	0.4056		Pr	0.0077
* see no	otes for Table	e 1 regardin	g the gene	ration of	Polity scor	es
and the	coding of GE	P per capit	a			

Table 5 provides a base indication that the wealth and democracy hypothesis is valid at the commencement of the post-Cold War period with a significant association between poverty and autocracy evident in the cross-tabulation and reflected in the non-parametric statistical measures of ordinal correlation.

	Table 6: I	Democracy	in Africa C	over Time 198	89-2010		
		Polity Sco	re				Total
		1	2	3	4	5	
Year	1989	33	6	1	1	3	44
	1990	30	4	2	2	4	42
	1991	12	12	1	2	7	34
	1992	10	13	2	2	10	37
	1993	8	14	3	3	11	39
	1994	6	14	3	5	12	40
	1995	5	13	5	4	12	39
	1996	2	16	7	7	10	42
	1997	2	17	9	5	10	43
	1998	2	15	10	4	9	40
	1999	2	12	11	6	9	40
	2000	2	12	10	8	10	42
	2001	3	10	9	9	10	41
	2002	2	10	8	10	12	42
	2003	2	10	9	8	12	41
	2004	2	10	9	5	15	41
	2005	2	10	8	5	17	42
	2006	2	10	8	6	18	44
	2007	2	9	8	6	19	44
	2008	2	10	8	4	20	44
	2009	2	8	11	5	18	44
	2010	2	5	12	7	18	44
	Total	135	240	154	114	266	909
		Pearson Chi2		367.4542		Pr	.000
		Gamma		0.3285		ASE	0.03
		Kendall's	tau-b	0.2843		ASE	0.026
		Spearmar	's rho	0.3651		Pr	.0000
	* see Tak	ole 1 regard	ing the ge	neration of F	Polity sco	ores	

Statistical calculations in Table 6 regarding the relationship between the passage of time in the post 1989 period and democracy have been included, despite the almost certainly spurious nature of such a correlation, in order to develop a "cut-off" measure that may be utilized to assess the performance of the remaining tests.

	Table 7: G	DP Per Capi	ita in Afric	a at 10 Year	Intverals		
		1990		2000		2009	
		Frequency	Percent	Frequency	Percent	Frequency	Percent
GDP	1	33	68.75	37	77.08	23	47.92
	2	14	29.17	10	20.83	21	43.75
	3	1	2.08	1	2.08	4	8.33
	4	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Total	48	100	48	100	48	100
* see Ta	ble 1 regard	ing the codi	ng of GDP	per capita			
** 2009	is used for th	ne final entr	y because	e it is the las	t year for	which	
Databas	e of Politica	Institution	s data is a	vailable, alt	hough 201	0 data	
is availa	ble from Wo	orld Develop	oment Ind	icators, I ha	ve electec	l to utilize	
2009 for	the sake of	uniformity					

Table 7 illustrates that over 90 per cent of African cases remain in the first two income categories throughout the entire period of investigation. There has been meaningful movement between the extremely low income category of GDP per capita \$2 per day or less and the second income category, but only 3 discrete cases have broken out of the first two income categories in this time period.

If the theory of linkage must be discarded in the context of Sub-Saharan Africa, in the context of this thesis, given the absence it posits of any expectation of democratic outcomes, the theory of leverage must nevertheless be considered herein. Table 8 provides a simple test of leverage on a global scale between 1989 and 2010.

			<b>Polity Scor</b>	e			Total
		1	2	3	4	5	
Natural Resou	urces 1	10	0	0	0	0	10
	2	5	2	3	1	0	11
	3	10	21	13	17	0	61
	4	163	196	152	123	253	887
Tot	tal	188	219	168	141	253	969
		Pearson C	hi2	80.0513		Pr	0.000
		Gamma		0.3779		ASE	0.062
		Kendall's	tau-b	0.138		ASE	0.024
		Spearman	's rho	0.1539		Pr	0.0000
* Crosstabula	tion only include:	s states wi	th a GDP Pe	r Capita of	\$2 per da	y or less	
** See Table 2	1 regarding the ge	eneration o	of Polity Sco	res			
*** Natural R	esources are sour	ced from V	Vorld Deve	lopment Ir	ndicators "	Natural	
Resource Ren	its as a Percentag	e of GDP" a	and this per	centage is	recoded i	nto five	
values: 0-25=4	4. 25-50=3, 50-75=	2 75+=1					

In Table 8 the weaker non-parametric statistical calculation for association in ordinal cross tabulation (gamma), as well as the location of major natural resource states provides tenuous confirmation of leverage theory, although the acceptability of the gamma statistic given its ASE of 0.06 is debatable. It is of note however that this pattern is clearly driven by the authoritarian classification of 15 major natural resource producers in the upper left hand corner of the table, and not by the absence of authoritarian tendencies in states which benefit comparatively little from natural resource rents. Additionally, the tau and rho statistics present much weaker results.

Table 9 provides an examination of this relationship in Africa where even the strength found in the gamma calculation in Table 8 above has significantly weakened.

Table 9: Natural Resou	urce Rent	s and Dem	ocracy in Ir	npoverish	ed States i	n Africa 19	89-2010
			Polity Sco	re			Total
		1	2	3	4	5	
Natural Resources	1	0	0	0	0	0	0
	2	0	2	3	1	0	6
	3	2	16	3	11	0	32
	4	91	150	131	72	136	580
Total		93	168	137	84	136	618
		Pearson C	hi2	33.5098		Pr	0.000
		Gamma		0.1357		ASE	0.09
		Kendall's	tau-b	0.0414		ASE	0.027
		Spearman	's rho	0.0464		Pr	0.2498
* See Table 8 for codir	וg						

In Table 9, it is clear from the cross-tabulation that comparatively few African states benefit exorbitantly from natural resource rents, whilst the non-parametric statistical measures of association for ordinal cross tabulation are insignificant, although the rho statistic does not present an acceptable result.

The institutional hypotheses discussed above are tested in the tables below, and while it is of note that the institutional hypothesis contending the greater association of parliamentary systems with democratic outcomes is broadly supported by the data for both the world (Tables 10 and 11) and Sub-Saharan Africa (Tables 12 and 13), upon examination of the data (see Tables 11 and 13) it appears to be the case that the correlation is driven by the strong association of parliamentary systems with democracy, and not through any necessary association between presidential systems and authoritarianism.

Table 10	: Difference	of Means	T-Test, Sys	tem and D	emocracy,	World 198	9-2010
		Obs	Mean	Std. Err.	Std. Dev.	95% Conf.	Interval
Group	Pres.	1952	10.9667	0.154036	6.805523	10.66461	11.26879
	Parl.	999	17.86587	0.113687	3.593306	17.64277	18.08896
Combine	ed	2951	13.30227	0.124391	6.757303	13.05837	13.54617
Differen	ce		-6.89917	0.230178		-7.35049	-6.44784
						t =	-29.9732
H0: diffe	rence = 0				Degrees o	of Freedom	2949
Hyp: diff	erence < 0		Hyp: diffe	rence = 0		rence > 0	
Pr	0.0000		Pr	0.0000		Pr	1
* Polity i	s recoded u	ising the pl	us 10 meth	nod with tra	ansitional	values	
recoded	as missing	yielding a C	)-20 scale				
** syster	m, sourced t	from Datab	ase of Poli	tical Institu	utions is re	coded with	า
transitio	nal values a	is missing (	-999) and "	'assembly-	elected pr	esident"	
as missir	ng, yielding	the dichot	omous cate	egories "pr	esidential	" and	
"parliam	entary"						

Table 11:	Table 11: System and Democracy in the World 1989-2010									
		Polity Sco	re			Total				
	1	2	3	4	5					
Pres.	425	349	177	212	789	1952				
Parl.	1	30	48	95	825	999				
Total	426	379	225	307	1614	2951				
	Pearson c	hi2	560.5588	Pr	0.000					
	Cramer's	ohi	0.4358							
* see Tab	le 1 for the	coding of I	Polity score	es						
** see Ta	** see Table 10 regarding the coding of "presidential" and									
"parliam	entary"									

Table 12	: Difference	of Means	T-Test, Sys	tem and D	emocracy,	Africa 1989	-2010
		Obs	Mean	Std. Err.	Std. Dev.	95% Conf.	Interval
Group	Pres.	716	9.77095	0.209832	5.61472	9.358989	10.18291
	Parl.	99	14.11111	0.581068	5.781549	12.958	15.26422
Combine	ed	815 10.29816 0.203431 5.8		5.807577	9.898849	10.69747	
Differen	ce		-4.34016	0.604235		-5.52621	-3.15412
						t =	-7.1829
H0: diffe	erence = 0				Degrees o	f Freedom	813
1 I			Line diffe			11	
нур: ат	lyp: difference < 0		Hyp: diffe	rence = 0		Hyp: diffe	rence > 0
Pr	0.0000		Pr	0.0000		Pr	1
* see tał	oles 10-11 fo	or coding					

Table 13:	Table 13: System and Democracy in Africa 1989-2010										
		PolityScor	e			Total					
	1	2	3	4	5						
Pres.	110	195	123	104	184	716					
Parl.	Parl. 0		19	0	58	99					
Total	110	217	142	104	242	815					
	Pearson c	hi2	62.2931	Pr	0.000						
	Cramer's phi		0.2764								
* see tables 10-11 for coding											

It is of note that the standard deviations in all results above are significant, the smallest one representing a first deviation around the mean of 35% of all possible scores on the dependent variable (Table 10 – Parliamentary), and the greatest over 65 per cent (Table 10 – Presidential). While the means are statistically different, and a fairly tight confidence interval is generated, it should be noted that their value, as a result, is somewhat questionable. It is clear on average, however, that there is a definite association between parliamentary systems and democratic outcomes.

The position that parliamentary versus presidential systems generate stronger

parties is also broadly supported by the data (Tables 14, 15, 16 and 17 below) with, on average, a full quintile difference in the means of party strength between presidential and parliamentary systems.

Table 14: D	Difference	of Means T	-Test, Syst	em and Pa	rty Strengt	h, World 1	989-2010
		Obs	Mean	Std. Err.	Std. Dev.	95% Conf.	Interval
Group	Pres.	2118	42.12333	0.790104	36.36195	40.57387	43.67279
	Parl.	1265	65.58994	0.745874	26.52838	64.12665	67.05323
Combined		3383	50.89817	0.600428	34.92306	49.72093	52.0754
Difference			-23.4666	1.173687		-25.7678	-21.1654
						t =	-19.9939
H0: differe	nce = 0				Degrees o	f Freedom	3381
Hyp: differ	rence < 0		Hyp: diffe	rence = 0		Hyp: diffe	rence >0
Pr	0.0000		Pr	0.0000		Pr	1
* party stre	ength is m	easured as	the monop	olization c	of opposition	on seats by	,
the largest	oppositic	on party					
** this nur	nber is gei	nerated by t	he dividin:	g the num	ber of seat	s held by	
the largest	oppositic	on party by t	he total nu	umber of o	pposition	seats and	
multiplyin	g the quot	ient by 100					
*** See Ta	bles 10-11	regarding t	he coding	of Preside	ntial and		
Parliamen	tary						

Table 1	5: System and	Party Strer	ngth, World	d 1989-201	0		
		Party Stren	igth			Total	
	1	2	3	4	5		
Pres.	715	89	376	455	483	2118	
Parl.	46	35	306	384	494	1265	
Total	761	124	682	839	977	3383	
	Pearson cl	ni2	437.7048	Pr	0.000		
	Cramer's p	ohi	0.3596				
* see Ta	able 14 regard	ing the gen	eration of	party strei	ngth		
the larg	est oppositio	n party					
** party	wing						
coding:	0=1, 1-25=2, 2	5-50=3, 50-	75=4, 75-10	00=5			
*** see	Tables 10-11	regarding t	he coding	of presider	ntal and		
parliam	entary						

Table 16	able 16: Difference of Means T-Test, Systemand Party Strength, Africa 1989-2010										
		Obs	Mean	Std. Err.	Std. Dev.	95% Conf.	Interval				
Group	Pres.	798	42.48906	1.332887	37.65257	39.87268	45.10544				
	Parl.	106	68.85214	3.471171	35.73789	61.96945	75.73483				
Combined		904	45.58031	1.27598	38.36438	43.07608	48.08454				
Differer	nce		-26.3631	3.869942		-33.9582	-18.76794				
						t =	-6.8123				
H0: diffe	erence = 0				Degrees o	f Freedom	902				
Hyp: dif	ference < 0		Hyp: diffe	rence = 0		Hyp: diffe	rence > 0				
Pr	0.0000		Pr	0.0000		Pr	1				
* see Ta	bles 14-15 fo	or coding									

Table 17	: System and	d Party Stre	ngth, Afrio	ca 1989-201	10	
		Party Stre	ngth			Total
	1	2	3	4	5	
Pres.	286	28	120	173	191	798
Parl.	<b>Parl.</b> 15 5		5	21	60	106
Total	301	33	125	194	251	904
	Pearson c	hi2	56.9206	Pr	0.000	
	Cramer's phi		0.2509			
* see Ta	bles 12-13 fc	or coding				

Whilst the tests above are also vulnerable both to significant standard deviations, as well as to being predominantly driven by the results for parliamentary systems, and while negative cases certainly exist both in the world generally as well as in Africa specifically, the clear correlation between parliamentary systems and both democracy and strong parties is convincing enough that this thesis excludes them from its analysis, contending that the findings of greatest theoretical importance are those concerned with presidential systems. This is the case because while it is clear that there is an association between democracy and parliamentary systems, there is no clear association between presidential systems and either outcome. It is of note, however, that Table 17 indicates the strength of the relationship is weaker in Sub-Saharan Africa than in the world at large.

Regarding the hypothesized association between electoral design and democratic outcomes, while there is an obvious statistical relationship between proportional representation and a higher polity score over other electoral systems (Tables 18-21), with a statistically significant and higher mean, this relationship is also much smaller in Africa, and it is also the case that PR electoral systems are not clustered in the "democracy" range in Africa as it is.

50

		Obs	Mean	Std. Err.	Std. Dev.	95% Conf.	Interval	
Group	Other	1002	11.78543	0.203814	6.451608	11.38548	12.18538	
	PR	1616	16.63861	0.110389	4.437593	16.42209	16.85514	
Combine	ed	2618	14.78113	0.113356	5.79999	14.55886	15.00341	
Difference			-4.85319	0.213089		-5.27102	-4.43535	
						t =	-22.7754	
H0: diffe	rence = 0				Degrees o	of Freedom	2616	
Hyp: diff	erence < 0		Hyp: diffe	rence = 0		Hyp: diffe	rence >0	
Pr	0.0000		Pr	0.0000		Pr	1	
* see Ta	ble 10 regar	ding the co	ding of Po	lity scores				
** pr is r	ecoded wit	n transitior	al values a	as missing (	-999)			

Table 19:	Table 19: Proportional Representation and Democracy in the World 1989-2010											
		Polity Sco	re			Total						
	1	2	3	4	5							
Other	145	178	139	132	408	1002						
PR	30	107	82	139	1258	1616						
Total	175 285		221	271	1666	2618						
	Pearson c	hi2	420.9684	Pr	0.000							
	Cramer's	phi	0.4009									
* see Tabl												
** see Table 18 regarding the coding of "proportional representation"												
and "othe	er"											

In Table 18 there is nearly a 5 point, or 25 per cent difference in the average Polity Score

of non-proportional representation systems and proportional representation systems.

Table 20	: Difference	e of Means T-	Test, Prop	ortional Re	presentati	on and De	mocracy, A	frica 1989-	2010
		Obs	Mean	Std. Err.	Std. Dev.	95% Conf.	Interval		
Group	Other	383	11.27154	0.282108	5.520964	10.71686	11.82622		
	PR	267	13.03745	0.299804	4.898836	12.44716	13.62774		
Combine	ed	650	11.99692	0.209516	5.34164	11.58551	12.40833		
Differen	се		-1.76591	0.420514		-2.59165	-0.94018		
						t =	-4.1994		
H0: diffe	rence = 0				Degrees o	f Freedom	648		
Hyp: diff	erence < 0		Hyp: diffe	rence = 0		Hyp: diffe	rence > 0		
Pr	0.0000		Pr	0.0000		Pr	1		
* see Tal	bles 18-19 f	or coding							

Table 21:	Proportion	al Represent	ation and	Democracy	<mark>in Africa</mark> 1	1989- <b>2010</b>
		<b>Polity Score</b>				Total
	1	2	3	4	5	
Other	20	107	73	55	128	383
PR	0	47	62	31	127	267
Total	20	154	135	86	255	650
	Pearson c	hi2	31.2688	Pr	0.000	
	Cramer's phi					
* see Tab	les 18-19 fc	or coding				

Unlike in Table 18, Table 20 demonstrates only a two point difference between PR and non-PR systems, both of which scores are significantly undemocratic, while Cramer's phi statistic in Table 21 has nearly been halved from that in Table 19.

Pertaining to political parties, this thesis contends that because both theories ultimately posit negative outcomes, namely that proportional representation systems spread seats too widely amongst too many (minor) parties, and that first-past-the-post systems make it too difficult for many parties to get a foothold in the system, both extremes represent a negative outcome for non-incumbent parties, as both hegemonic party systems (eased by first past the post systems) and absurdly plural systems (eased by proportional representation) can be shown to have a negative impact on democracy. In addition, the correlations between a dummy independent variable "proportional representation" and party strength are unreliable in the same sense as those examined throughout this section, perhaps even more so (Tables 22-25).

Table 22:	Difference	of ivieans	I-lest, Ele	ctoral Syst	em and Pa	rty Strengt	n, world 1
		Obs	Mean	Std. Err.	Std. Dev.	95% Conf.	Interval
Group	Other	1224	57.18736	1.043756	36.51653	55.13961	59.23511
	PR	1768	59.70378	0.612625	25.75939	58.50224	60.90533
Combine	d	2992	58.67434	0.560145	30.63948	57.57603	59.77264
Differen	ce		-2.51643	1.13854		-4.74883	-0.28402
						t =	-2.2102
H0: diffe	rence = 0				Degrees o	f Freedom	2990
Hyp: diff	erence < 0		Hyp: diffe	rence = 0		Hyp: diffe	rence > 0
Pr	0.0136		Pr	0.0272		Pr	0.9864
*See Tab	le 14 regard	ling the co	ding of par	ty strength	1		
** See Ta	able 18 regra	ading the c	oding of P	R and Othe	er		

Table 22: I	Difference	of Means	T-Test, Ele	ctoral Syst	em and Pa	rty Strengt	h, World 1	989-2010

Table 23:	Table 23: Electoral System and Party Strength, World 1989-2010											
		Party Stre	ngth			Total						
	1	2	3	4	5							
Other	205	90	213	245	471	1224						
PR	96	46	493	608	525	1768						
Total	301	136	706	853	996	2992						
	Pearson c	hi2	230.8835	Pr	0.000							
	Cramer's	ohi	0.2777									
* see Table 14 regarding the coding of party strength												
** see Tal	** see Table 18 regarding the coding of PR											

As Table 22 illustrate, mean party strength of the most significant opposition party in the global dataset based on electoral system only differs by approximately two points, and the confidence intervals overlap. Table 23 illustrates that all electoral systems modally tend toward democracy, but both have significant numbers of non-democratic cases.

Table 24: Difference of Means T-Test, Electoral System and Party Strength, Africa 1989-2010										
		Obs	Mean	Std. Err.	Std. Dev.	95% Conf.	Interval			
Group	Other	400	51.81183	1.779453	35.58906	48.31355	55.3101			
	PR	291	64.09801	1.696786	28.945	60.75844	67.43759			
Combined		691	56.98589	1.273912	33.48717	54.48469	59.4871			
Difference			-12.2862	2.539218		-17.2717	-7.30065			
						t =	-4.8386			
H0: diffe	rence = 0				Degrees o	f Freedom	689			
Hyp: diff	erence < 0		Hyp: diffe	rence = 0		Hyp: difference > 0				
Pr	0.0000		Pr	0.0000		Pr	1			
*See Tab	le 14 regard	ding the co	1							
** See Ta	ble 18 regr	ading the c								

Table 25: Electoral System and Party Strength, Africa 1989-2010											
		Party Stre	ngth			Total					
	1	2	3	4	5						
Other	86	24	59	112	119	400					
PR	15	9	77	75	115	291					
Total	101	33	136	187	234	691					
	Pearson c	hi2	50.5649	Pr	0.000						
* see Table 14 regarding the coding of party strength											
** see Ta	** see Table 18 regarding the coding of PR										

In Table 24 it is made evident that the mean strength of the most significant opposition parties in Africa, unlike global results, is significantly higher. However, in Table 25 it is evident that the modal party strength of major opposition parties in non PR electoral systems is clustered at the high end, with over 50 per cent of observations in the top two ranges. In this regard, this thesis will not engage the relationship between electoral systems and party strength or democracy where the positive value of any observed correlation between electoral system and both democracy and party strength is debatable. Tables 26 and 27 below offer a preliminary confirmation of the position that strong opposition parties are correlated with democratization in hybrid regimes with presidential systems, and one that passes the critical score set in Table 6 above.

		Polity Sco	re				Totals	
<b>Opposition Strength</b>		1	2	3	4	5		
	0%	343	136	26	53	38	596	
	1-25%	20	23	3	10	32	88	
	25-50%	27	59	43	42	198	369	
	50-75%	10	72	52	58	247	439	
	75-100%	25	59	53	49	274	460	
Totals		425	349	177	212	789	1952	
		Pearson's	chi2	826.1008		Pr	0.000	
		Gamma		0.5655		ASE	0.019	
		Kendall's	tau-b	0.4458		ASE	0.016	
		Spearman	's rho	0.537		Pr	0.0000	
* See Ta	ble 1 Regard	ing the ge	neration of	Polity sco	res			
** Wher	e oppositior	n strength i	is measure	d as the nu	mber of se	eats held		
by the la	rgest oppos	ition party	divided by	the total r	number of	seats held		
bv the o	pposition, a	nd the auo	tient is mu	ltiplied by	100			

Table 27:	: Opposition	Strength a	and Democ	racy in Afri	ica 1989-20	)10 in Presi	idential Sy	stems
		Polity Sco	re				Totals	
<b>Opposition Strength</b>		1	2	3	4	5		
	0%	105	68	18	27	10	228	
	1-25%	0	14	2	0	12	28	
	25-50%	0	29	35	17	37	118	
	<b>50-75%</b>	5	41	45	29	45	165	
	75-100%	0	43	23	31	80	177	
Totals		110	195	123	104	184	716	
		Pearson's	chi2	326.8803		Pr	0.000	
		Gamma		0.5131		ASE	0.033	
		Kendall's	tau-b	0.4087		ASE	0.027	
		Spearman	's rho	0.4912		Pr	0.0000	
* See Tal	ble 1 Regard	ing the gei	neration of	Polity sco	res			
** See Ta	able 26 rega	rding the g	eneration	of oppositi	ion strengt	th		

Tables 26 and 27 both present strong non-parametric statistical measures of ordinal association. In Table 26 both gamma and rho exceed 0.5, whilst in Table 27, and consistent with the results at large, the results for Africa are slightly weaker with a rho value of 0.49 and a tau of 0.41. Upon examination of tables 26-27 it is clear that the lowest, or most liberal, point at which the pattern seems to shift in confirmation of the hypothesis that opposition strength may be correlated with democracy is where a predominant opposition party monopolizes 25 per cent or more of the opposition seats. In line with this observation, and with the intent of developing a minimal cut-off that may be used in qualitative assessments, tables 28 and 29 below test the strength of this relationship using 25% monopolization as a dichotomous cut-off.

Table 28: Oppo	sition Streng	gth a	nd Democ	racy in the	World 198	89-2010 in	
Presidential Sy	stems where	e the	e Leading (	Opposition	Party is ab	le to Mon	opolize
at least 25% of	Opposition S	Seat	S				
	Polity	Scor	e				Totals
<b>Opposition Stre</b>	ength	1	2	3	4	5	
< 25		363	159	29	63	70	684
> 25		62	190	148	149	719	1268
Totals		425	349	177	212	789	1952
	Pearso	on's (	chi2	757.7725		Pr	0.000
	Crame	r's p	hi	0.623			
* See Table 1 fo	or the genera	atior	n of Polity	scores			
** C	· · · ·		· · ·				

\*\* See Table 26 for the generation of opposition strength scores

Table 29: Oppo	osition	Strength a	and Democ	racy in Afr	ica 1989-20	)10 in Presi	idential
Systems where	e the L	eading Op.	position Pa	arty is able	ot Monop	olize at le	ast 25%
of Opposition	Seats						
		Polity Sco	re				Totals
<b>Opposition Str</b>	ength	1	2	3	4	5	
< 25		105	82	20	27	22	256
> 25		5	113	103	77	162	460
Totals		110	195	123	104	184	716
		Pearson's	chi2	244.0979		Pr	0.000
		Cramer's p	ohi	0.5838			
* See Table 1 f	or the	generatio	n of Polity	scores			
** See Table 2	6 for tl	he generat	ion of opp	osition stre	ength score	es	

Both Tables 28 and 29 present results which indicate that 25 per cent opposition monopolization may be used as the basis of a minimal theoretic criteria. With Cramer's phi values of 0.623 and 0.5838 respectively, it may be argued that an important amount of variation is explained by the monopolization of at least 25 per cent of opposition seats by a major opposition party. While higher thresholds would likely yield stronger results, seeking the most liberal threshold likely has greater pragmatic utility in terms of the investigation of hybrid regimes.

It would be at this point in the analysis where it would be natural to pursue a more complex statistical analysis of the relationship made discrete in the analysis above. The most obvious path to pursue at this point would be some form of longitudinal analysis which attempts to increase the validity of the argument for the presence of a causal link between opposition strength and democracy over time. There may be several concerns with pursuing such a path, predominantly the caution that certain methodologists in political science would urge on those seeking to engage in longitudinal statistics without careful scrutiny of their data.<sup>135</sup> The reservations with engaging longitudinal analysis lie primarily in the instability of the universe of cases over time, where the number of observations satisfying the criteria of inclusion almost triples across the period of analysis, if anything documenting the so called "rise of competitive authoritarianism" after the Cold War.<sup>136</sup> In addition to the instability of the universe of cases, restricting the analysis to the post-1989 years means that the convention of having 30 longitudinal observations for a given unit cannot be satisfied.<sup>137</sup> Finally, this thesis does not expect a linear relationship to exist between opposition strength and democracy, but a relationship which hinges on a critical mass of the independent variable, and in relation to a dependent variable which possesses a defined and achievable ceiling, i.e. democracy.

Given that the interest is, in fact, in those cases that enter this universe during the period of analysis from authoritarian backgrounds, it is not clear that enough time has elapsed to meaningfully statistically analyse variation herein. It is the position of this these that such investigation at this stage should likely take the form of causal process

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>135</sup> See, for example: Kellstedt and Whitten 2009, 233-243

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>136</sup> It is normally the opposite issue of attrition that must be dealt with in longitudinal studies, and which is therefore discussed widely in the literature, but it may be inferred the somewhat novel problem of acquisition bears the same issue. <sup>137</sup> Frees 2004, 7

tracing, although this must be left this to future research. Qualification being noted, both the number of units included in the analysis, as well as the possibility that a dynamic and shared pattern is present amongst them, may satisfy the minimal requirements for a longitudinal investigation.<sup>138</sup> Table 30 presents this longitudinal data on movement within African presidential regimes with prominent opposition parties monopolizing 25 per cent or more of opposition seats at some point across this period. Consistent with the orientation of this thesis as a whole, this information in the most parsimonious manner could conceivable.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>138</sup> See, for example: *Ibidem* 

Table 30:	Central Ter	ndency Var	iation in P	olity Score	s Across						
Time Base	ed on Dista	nce from "	Year Zero"	as 1st Yea	arin						
which an Opposition Party Monopolizes at least 25% of											
Oppositio	Opposition Seats in an African Presidential Regime between										
1989 and 2	2010										
	median	n									
Year 0	10.5	35									
Year 1	12	34									
Year 2	12	32									
Year 3	9	32									
Year 4	9	28									
Year 5	9	29									
Year 6	10	26									
Year 7	14	26									
Year 8	11	27									
Year 9	14	26									
Year 10	15	26									
Year 11	14	27									
Year 12	15	29									
Year 13	15.5	26									
Year 14	15	24									
Year 15	15	21									
Year 16	13	17									
Year 17	16	11									
Year 18	16	7									
Year 19	14.5	4									
Year 20	10.5	2									
Year 21	10.5	2									

Table 30 demonstrates significant variation in central tendency over time in presidential regimes with opposition parties capable of monopolizing at least 25 per cent of the non-incumbent vote. The scope of variation ranges from a low of 9, midway between a pure autocracy and a pure democracy, between the 3<sup>rd</sup> and 5<sup>th</sup> years of strong opposition presence, consistent with a dive in score in the period that would normally constitute the second electoral period in which the strong party was participating, to a high of 16 at years 17 and 18. The general pattern of the central tendency reported is one of more or less progressive democratization over time. In years 19 and above it is of note that

median Polity scores drop, and this is in relation to the extremely small number of cases meeting the criteria, one with a high Polity score, and one with a low Polity score.

Of 34 Sub-Saharan African states observed in the period 1989-2010 with presidential systems and possessing a major opposition party capable of monopolizing at least 25% of opposition seats, 18 have experienced positive change and 10 have remained static, or returned to their original categorization after a brief aberration.<sup>139</sup> Among the first 18 states, six express positive variation without achieving full democratic status, and amongst those six is Uganda. The remaining twelve states have entered as hybrid regimes and acquired Polity scores which would suggest they have become full democracies, or have moved to within a point of such a score. Regarding the 10 neutral outcome states, eight have entered and remained competitive authoritarian regimes, and two have scores which would indicate they are democracies. Amongst those that have entered and remained competitive authoritarian is the Democratic Republic of Congo (although no Polity Score is available according to the coding). Finally, six states included have met the parameters for inclusion in this panel but have deteriorated, three of which appear to constitute "democratic breakdowns" given their initial high scores. This leaves only three negative cases in direct contradiction of the theory herein, of which one is Rwanda.

In conclusion, when data is truncated to exclude the contamination of the Cold War on theories which are not seeking to explain its influence, and when hybrid regimes are taken as the starting point instead of authoritarian regimes, there appears to be a significant shift in the variables which bear explanatory power on democratic outcomes. It is the conclusion of this thesis, based on the data above, that extant and broadly

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>139</sup> For the data corresponding to the discussion in this paragraph, please see the appendix

accepted theories of democratization, whilst they may certainly explain movement toward democracy from authoritarian regimes, nevertheless lose some explanatory power whence those regimes have introduced minimal democratic reforms. Toward democracy movement in hybrid regimes seem to be best explained by opposition strength. The intervening nature of opposition strength is inferred by the fact that those theories discarded within the parameters of this analysis do, quite certainly, bear explanatory power on democratic outcomes within their own parameters, i.e. on movement from authoritarianism to democracy, inclusive of the Cold War years.

## **Chapter 6: Case Presentation**

Chapter 6 will present, through multiple cases, the data concerning opposition strength and financing; structural inheritance; violence in the party system; the proliferation of independents, small parties and identity based parties; and formal and informal institutional constraints on and in the party system, this latter variable which has not been iterated prior to the presentation of case data, but shall be delimited by the data below. Whilst it is clear that all of these variables could be quantified, such quantifications are either presently not available for secondary analysis, or are too crude for the purposes of this analysis. The casework below therefore provides detailed summations of the Ugandan, DRC and Rwandan cases, whilst analysis is reserved for the following chapter.

## The Case of Uganda

From independence in 1962 Ugandan politics has gone through several important transitions. Uganda gained independence as a democracy, and more or less remained one until the Amin dictatorship commencing in 1971, with several important and institutionalized political parties, namely: the Democratic Party, the Uganda People's Congress, and Kabaka Yekka, amongst others. These parties reflected politicized cleavages in Ugandan society at independence, primarily cleavages related to religion and identity. By the 1970s democracy had been definitively interrupted by the dictatorship of Idi Amin (1971-1979), followed by the second presidency of Milton Obote (Obote II – 1980-1985), highly contested on its democratic credentials, and finally the short military junta of the Okello brothers (1985-1986) in expectation of NRM victory. In 1986 the current president, Yoweri Museveni, and his National Resistance Movement/Army

63

(hereinafter NRM, inclusive of future nomenclatural permutations) took power by force, and have remained in government since. It is of note that Museveni was a political refugee, after initially being dismissed from his post as Minister of Defense in 1979, and before he subsequently formed the National Resistance Movement in 1981.<sup>140</sup>

On coming to power the NRM instituted a "no-party democracy" system which from 1986 banned the activities and contestation of political parties,<sup>141</sup> and required that only NRM members sit in whatever institution served as the effective legislature; although all citizens of Uganda were technically members of the Movement. This system was institutionalized for the nominal purposes of preventing uncompromising political polarization at the hands of ethnically based parties,<sup>142</sup> although the NRM has been heavily identified with southerners as a meta-identity,<sup>143</sup> and was based in an anti-party and individual merit ideology expressed by comparatively loose organization more or less dependent on the personage of its leader and his patronage capacity.<sup>144</sup> Whilst the no-party years did not ban the existence of political parties, it allowed them only central headquarters, and required them to enter parliament under the NRM banner. This was affected via the conceptualization of the NRM as a "home" to all other organizations, parties and tendencies,<sup>145</sup> and the co-optation of Members of Parliament and local councilors into the NRM, ultimately resulting in the conflation of the NRM with state structure.<sup>146</sup> This destabilized the old political parties in a number of ways, dividing them as to whether or not they should completely boycott Ugandan politics; undeniably

<sup>140</sup> Chretien 2003, 297

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>141</sup> Legal Notice No. 1/1986, as cited in: Carbone 2008, 78

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>142</sup> Carbone 2008, 5, 78

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>143</sup> *Ibidem* 64

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>144</sup> *Ibidem* 91

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>145</sup> Ibidem

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>146</sup> Ibidem 99

associating those who elected integration with the NRM with the incumbent regime and, therefore, bringing their credentials as opposition parties into question; and severely weakening their ability to maintain autonomous organizations in the country in terms of funding, membership and proselytizing.<sup>147</sup> In addition, the NRM objectives of remedying certain salient cleavages in Ugandan political society, such as identity and religion, may have served to undermine the very bases of those old political parties, insofar as Democratic Party support was based in Catholic non-Bugandans, Uganda People's Congress support was based in Protestant non-Bugandans, and Buganda heavily supported the (short lived) *Kabaka Yekka* party;<sup>148</sup> whilst it simultaneously restricted the ability of these parties to adapt to new circumstances.

During the course of NRM rule in Uganda democratic reforms have slowly been introduced in order to bring the country back from a "no-party democracy" to a multiparty political system. Although originally rejected by the electorate in a referendum in 2000, which elected to retain the no-party system for at least a further five years with a 91 per cent majority,<sup>149</sup> this movement gathered momentum most notably from the 2001 elections in the hopes of preventing the removal of presidential term limits and, for some, remaining true the "broad-base" no-party system.<sup>150</sup> It was at these elections that the basis of what has become the dominant opposition party emerged in the form of the Parliamentary Advocacy Forum, amongst other groups from within the NRM.<sup>151</sup>

Uganda entered a new period of official multipartyism in July 2005 after a referendum was held in expectation of elections in 2006, which referendum passed with a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>147</sup> For a summary of the historic political parties during the no-party years see: *Ibidem* 109-136.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>148</sup> *Ibidem* 16, 21. Chretien 2003, 293-296

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>149</sup> Carbone 2008, 3; Commonwealth Secretariat 2011, 4

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>150</sup> Rubongoya 2007, 168

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>151</sup> Ibidem

92 per cent endorsement; although it was ironically boycotted by the "opposition" due to the inclusion of a clause removing presidential term limits at the same time as a positive vote would legalize multiparty politics.<sup>152</sup> However, it has not been the old political parties that have played the substantive role of opposition, but the political organization which has come to be known as the Forum for Democratic Change (hereinafter FDC) under the leadership of Kizza Besigye. Besigye was an early member of the NRM from the war days<sup>153</sup> who, on believing or stating to believe that the NRM had become dishonest, opportunistic and undemocratic,<sup>154</sup> wrote an open letter in 1999 accusing the government of corruption, tribalism and a democratic deficit,<sup>155</sup> and decided that he would challenge the presidency of Museveni in 2001 (in which he won 26 per cent of the vote),<sup>156</sup> and from 2006 also the legislative dominance of the NRM.

Uganda 2006	<b>Elections Summary</b>
PARTY:	SEATS:

NRM	205 (14 indirect)
FDC	37

Total Opposition 92

Total seats in legislature	308
Total elected seats by universal franchise	283
Per cent monopolized by largest opposition party	40.22

In the 2006 elections, the first multiparty elections since the controversial

elections in 1980 which returned Milton Obote and ultimately resulted in the NRM

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>152</sup> Commonwealth Secretariat 2006, 11; Commonwealth Secretariat 2011, 4; Human Rights Watch 2009, 6
 <sup>153</sup> Bisegye is a physician who served as a Colonel and personal physician to Museveni. See, for example: Tripp 2010, 29

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>154</sup> Tripp 2010, 29

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>155</sup> *Ibidem* 65-66

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>156</sup> *Ibidem* 66

rebellion,<sup>157</sup> the incumbent Museveni secured 59 per cent of the vote, whilst Besigye garnered 37 per cent.<sup>158</sup> The NRM won 205 seats and the FDC 37<sup>159</sup> in a 308 member unicameral parliament of which 214 members were directly elected from constituencies in a first past the post electoral system, 69 from the district level reserved for women, and the remaining seats elected from special interest groups by electoral colleges.<sup>160</sup> This means that the FDC was able to monopolize 40.22 per cent of the opposition (accounting for the fact that 14 incumbent seats were filled indirectly), while independents with 36 (37 with one indirect seat) accounted for 39.13 per cent of the non-incumbent vote, and the FDC accounted for 66.07 per cent of the non-incumbent vote that went to political parties.

The official campaign period for the 2006 elections was limited to 61 days due to a delay in establishing the legal framework for the elections.<sup>161</sup> This campaign period was effectively reduced for the main opposition candidate, Kizza Bisegye, in that he was charged with numerous crimes within three weeks of his return to Uganda to contest the elections, including treason and rape of which he was acquitted in 2010 and 2006 respectively, although he was forced to attend 27 judicial hearings within the already brief campaign period.<sup>162</sup> It has been noted that the NRM was able to bring their vastly superior resources to bear on a campaign in which they dominated in all areas.<sup>163</sup> That being said there is an otherwise egalitarian electoral funding scheme by which all presidential candidates are entitled to 20 million Ugandan Shillings, approximately 8200

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>157</sup> See for example the summary in: Commonwealth Secretariat 2011,: 3-4

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>158</sup> *Ibidem* 4; Izama 2011, 64

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>159</sup> Izama 2011, 66

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>160</sup> Commonwealth Secretariat 2006, 16, 18

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>161</sup> *Ibidem* 23

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>162</sup> Ibidem 23, 27. Commonwealth Secretariat 2011, 4, 5

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>163</sup> Commonwealth Secretariat 2006, 24

CAD, as well as a vehicle and security.<sup>164</sup> In the 2006 elections this funding scheme was not extended to political parties, with the effect of financially barring all but the incumbent from competing in every constituency,<sup>165</sup> exacerbated by the fact that there are no legal limits on campaign expenditure.<sup>166</sup> In addition, incidents of bribery were widely reported, although the practice was not restricted to any one party.<sup>167</sup> Similarly, complaints regarding violence, intimidation and harassment were lodged against the incumbent and opposition alike.<sup>168</sup> It is clear, however, that in the means of both bribery as well as violence, the incumbent possesses superior resources. Regarding media, print media was judged as effectively balanced whilst electronic media was regarded as more biased in its coverage of the contenders.<sup>169</sup> Of note in this regard are that daily newspapers have combined sales of approximately 100,000 newspapers sold, and an estimated daily readership of approximately 1.5 million, or 5 per cent of the population, whilst approximately 64 per cent of the population rely on electronic media and 34 per cent on word of mouth.<sup>170</sup> The elections themselves were regarded as an accurate reflection of the choice of the people, albeit with notable issues,<sup>171</sup> including overarching points such as the lack of a level playing field, the conflation of the NRM with the state apparatus, and the presence of considerable violence and manipulation such as murder, bribery, threats, intimidation, vote rigging, and the selective prosecution of the law to the disadvantage of opposition parties.<sup>172</sup> Such inconsistencies have been confirmed by the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>164</sup> Ibidem 25

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>165</sup> Ibidem

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>166</sup> Commonwealth Secretariat 2011, 15

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>167</sup> Commonwealth Secretariat 2006, 26

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>168</sup> Ibidem 26-27

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>169</sup> *Ibidem* 29

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>170</sup> *Ibidem* 31

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>171</sup> *Ibidem* 43

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>172</sup> Commonwealth Secretariat 2011, 4. Human Rights Watch 2009, 6-7, 19-21

Ugandan Supreme Court without causing them to question the outcome of the elections themselves.<sup>173</sup>

By the 2006 elections the primary policy platform of the FDC was constituted by the desire to rally prodemocracy forces against Museveni and the NRM, uphold the presidential term limit, build strong and professional security agencies, eliminate militaristic motivations from foreign policy, and eliminate corruption and political patronage.<sup>174</sup>

Uganda 2011 Elections Summary		
PARTY:	SEATS:	
NRM	263 (13 indirect)	
IPC	36	
Total Opposition	100	
Total seats in legislatu	re	375
Total elected seats by universal franchise		350
Per cent monopolized by largest opposition party		36

In the 2011 elections the incumbent Museveni secured 68 per cent of the presidential vote, and the NRM 263 legislative seats. Besigye, now at the head of the so-called Inter-Party Cooperation, secured 26 per cent of the vote and the FDC secured 34 legislative seats. In this latest election the Democratic Party under Norbert Mao secured 1.86 per cent of the presidential vote and 11 seats, whilst the Uganda People's Congress under Olara Otunnu garnered 1.58 per cent of the presidential vote and 9 seats,<sup>175</sup> both of which parties were originally to contest under Besigye and the IPC banner.<sup>176</sup> The size of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>173</sup> Human Rights Watch 2009, 7

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>174</sup> Tripp 2010, 66

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>175</sup> Africa Research Bulletin 18726 2011, according to the Africa Research Bulletin the incumbent secured 279 seats in 2011; Izama 2011, 66

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>176</sup> Commonwealth Secretariat 2011, 21

the legislature was increased for 2011, comprised of 375 members of which 238 are elected from single member constituencies and 112 from district seats reserved for women in a first past the post system.<sup>177</sup> 25 seats remain reserved for election from electoral colleges for special interest groups.<sup>178</sup> This means that in 2011 the FDC secured a 34 per cent monopolization of the opposition, and if IPC members are included a 36 per cent monopolization (accounting for the one seat each taken by the Conservative Party and the Justice Forum, as well as for the fact that 13 of the NRM seats are indirectly filled, leaving 250 elected from constituencies and districts). This is a drop of four to six per cent from 2006. Independent candidates secured 41 per cent of the non-incumbent vote with 41 seats (43 including indirectly filled seats), and the IPC monopolized 61.02 per cent of the non-incumbent vote that went to political parties, a decrease of 5 per cent from the FDC's showing in 2006. It is of note that the Democratic Party and Uganda People's Congress, who defected from the IPC, are the only other parties in the legislature. The stronger showing of the incumbent in 2011 was even more generalized, with the average winning margin of FDC candidates who were elected falling from around 30 per cent to around 15 per cent.<sup>179</sup>

The NRM campaigned primarily on economic growth, the maintenance of peace, zero-tolerance for corruption, and improvement or expansion of various public goods.<sup>180</sup> Most of the other parties, in an apparent attempt to capture the important Buganda vote, included a promise of federalism in their campaigns.<sup>181</sup> The IPC in particular campaigned on "change," as well as, like the incumbent, zero-tolerance for corruption

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>177</sup> *Ibidem* 10

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>178</sup> Ibidem

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>179</sup> Izama 2011, 74

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>180</sup> Commonwealth Secretariat 2011, 21

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>181</sup> See, for example: *Ibidem* 21-22

and the improvement or expansion of various public goods.<sup>182</sup>

Similar to 2006, it has been suggested that the NRM utilized its effective conflation with the state apparatus to utilize state resources for the purposes of campaigning.<sup>183</sup> This has included the suspicion that a supplementary election budget of 600 billion Ugandan Shillings may have been used for campaign purposes,<sup>184</sup> and continued reports that candidates have effectively engaged in the illegal bribery of electors.<sup>185</sup> Consistent with the above, as well as with monitoring of the 2006 elections, the main concerns of the Commonwealth Observer Group centered around the use of money in the campaign, the NRM's abuse of incumbency, and the lack of a level playing field between contesting parties.<sup>186</sup> Differing from 2006 is the legal extension of the state funding scheme to include political parties, however this funding was not disbursed, and whilst presidential candidates did receive the same 20 million Ugandan Shilling amount.<sup>187</sup> Regarding international donors, it is known that stakeholders in the Ugandan elections such as the electoral commission, political parties, elections observers, *et cetera* were expected to receive multimillion dollar funding packages from USAID as well as from an elections fund managed by the Danish Development Agency.<sup>188</sup> The media landscape has significantly changed from the 2006 elections with more television and radio stations, an exponential increase in internet users (3.5 million in 2010 versus less than 350,000 in 2006), 10.3 million mobile phone subscribers, and static estimates of

<sup>187</sup> *Ibidem* 19-20

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>182</sup> *Ibidem* 21

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>183</sup> See, for example: *Ibidem* 14-15

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>184</sup> *Ibidem* 15

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>185</sup> *Ibidem* 15, 20

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>186</sup> *Ibidem* 19

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>188</sup> Human Rights Watch 2009, 26

newspaper readership which remained at approximately 1.5 million.<sup>189</sup> The largest, and state-owned, television station, Uganda Broadcasting Corporation, gave an overwhelming 90 per cent of electoral coverage to the incumbent, with the remaining 10 per cent allotted to coverage of opposition parties being largely negative in nature.<sup>190</sup> Similarly, monitoring of radio coverage indicated that discussion of the incumbent was positive, whilst coverage of the opposition was largely either neutral or negative in nature.<sup>191</sup> That being said, such skews in media coverage are believed to be more the result of self-censorship than any delimited restrictions,<sup>192</sup> although this position is debatable in the context of UBC.

Every Ugandan is legally free to found a political party, excepting that is illegal to do so on an ethnic or religious basis,<sup>193</sup> and all parties are required by law to be internally democratic.<sup>194</sup> The parameters of legal and illegal electoral practices are defined in the Presidential Elections Act, the Parliamentary Elections Act, and the Electoral Commissions Act.<sup>195</sup>

Despite the dominant position of the FDC vis-à-vis the opposition, the NRM remains dominant in the party system generally. This dominance does not appear to hinge on its competitive advantage in the distribution of patronage, despite allegations,<sup>196</sup> insofar as it has been noted it is not comprised of the wealthiest persons in the state, and those politicians who are counted amongst the most wealthy typically acquired their

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>189</sup> Commonwealth Secretariat 2011, 22

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>190</sup> *Ibidem* 23

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>191</sup> *Ibidem* 24

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>192</sup> *Ibidem* 25

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>193</sup> Commonwealth Secretariat 2006, 17

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>194</sup> *Ibidem* 18

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>195</sup> Human Rights Watch 2009, 10

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>196</sup> See, for example: Mwenda 2007, 24, 29-31

economic status prior to coming into government.<sup>197</sup> Uganda has, in fact, been characterized as possessing a large and expanding entrepreneurial class which,<sup>198</sup> insofar as this class possesses any autonomy, should serve to equalize the domestic funding opportunities of political parties, *ceterus paribus*. Albeit, the true autonomy of this class has been questioned in terms of the state's role as the most significant purchaser.<sup>199</sup> Additionally, it has been noted that the NRM has (historically) received its funding directly from the national budget, despite the fact that state funding has been effectively denied other political parties,<sup>200</sup> and that during the no-party years political parties were forbidden from receiving private contributions, whilst the NRM itself imposed no such restriction on itself.<sup>201</sup> Far from being a truly monopolistic party, rather, it has been posited that the dominance of the NRM in Uganda has rested primarily in the absence of a serious competitor and its advantageous conflation with the state apparatus.<sup>202</sup>

The FDC was carved out of the no-party regime by Bisegye, who was a participant in that regime. As such, Bisegye was able to build his support around persons who were already serving in government, both NRM dissenters, as well as politicians whose original loyalties lay with the old political parties.<sup>203</sup> The basis of the FDC was three NRM splinter groups which merged in 2004: Parliamentary Advocacy Forum, Reform Agenda (Besigye's ticket in the 2001 presidential elections), and Democratic Forum,<sup>204</sup> and its dominant position in the opposition has been enabled by the confluence of dissent from within the regime, both professional politicians and military brass, and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>197</sup> Tripp 2010, 24 <sup>198</sup> *Ibidem* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>199</sup> See, for example: Mwenda 2007, 23-37

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>200</sup> Carbone 2008, 95, 103

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>201</sup> *Ibidem* 101-102

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>202</sup> Ibidem 107

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>203</sup> *Ibidem* 194

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>204</sup> Rubongoya 2007, 177

weakness in the historic political parties.<sup>205</sup> Thusly Besigye was able not only to enter the fray with an advantage over his non-incumbent competitors, but also to simultaneously weaken the incumbent and enter electoral contestation with an existing base of support in the form of serving politicians who were already secure in their constituencies.

Besigye and the FDC's privileged beginnings have not blessed them with the absence of repression. Its members, including Besigye, have variously been arrested or forced into exile. Besigye himself, amongst other opposition supporters, was physically attacked in June 2010 by a group known as the *kiboko* (stick) squad, a group allegedly supported by the state.<sup>206</sup> Protests against the composition of the electoral commission in the same year were met with police brutality,<sup>207</sup> and Besigye was arrested a number of times throughout 2011 and faced "preventative detention" for participation in the ongoing "walk to work" protests.<sup>208</sup> It would seem, therefore, that the value of carving an opposition out of the governing party in regimes such as that in Uganda does not lie in freedom from oppression.

Whether citizens vote for the FDC on the basis of its platform or in protest of the incumbent, these votes are precarious in the context of an incumbent with a stable hold on power willing and able to campaign for those votes it finds itself losing. This is evident in the context of the latest elections regarding incumbent success in the north, a longtime bastion of opposition to NRM rule, and previously dominated by the FDC.<sup>209</sup> On finally taking action to better the conditions of northerners in the same way it has

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>205</sup> Carbone 2008, 193; Tripp 2010, 72

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>206</sup> Human Rights Watch 2011, 186

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>207</sup> *Ibidem* 185

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>208</sup> Human Rights Watch 2012, 191

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>209</sup> See, for example: Izama 2011, 71-72; Tripp 2010, 55

done so for the rest of the country, both in terms of peace as well as economic development, the incumbent NRM has made significant inroads with northern voters.<sup>210</sup> It would seem that if oppositions are to remain perpetually out of power, they can be undermined by incumbents willing to discern why they are receiving any support at all. And as Magaloni has noted, citizens may rally in support of autocrats who can bring economic growth, and despise those who cannot.<sup>211</sup>

This early support for the FDC in the north, and now support for the incumbent, would suggest that the salience of ethnicity as a vehicle for voter preference is weaker than earlier scholars would have expected. Neither Bisegye nor Museveni are northerners, but northerners have voted for one and then the other despite the presence amongst their other choices of a candidate representing the region.<sup>212</sup>

Thirdly, whilst the FDC has unquestionably been the dominant non-incumbent party, it does not clearly dominate the non-incumbent vote. Almost as many votes as go to the FDC go to independent candidates. Additionally, there has been continued internal dissent from within the incumbent NRM party by a group of 38 parliamentarians who form a sort of "internal opposition" equal in strength to the FDC.<sup>213</sup> The phenomenon of independent candidates is enabled by two additional and important factors in Ugandan politics: firstly, that the NRM has been the only party capable of fielding candidates in all 215 constituencies, whereas the FDC fielded candidates in 127 in 2006, the UPC 74, and the DP 68;<sup>214</sup> and, secondly, that experienced politicians from the individual merit years who have lost their party ticket often run as independents against the new NRM

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>210</sup> Izama 2011, 71-72

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>211</sup> Magaloni 2008, 729

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>212</sup> Tripp 2010, 55

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>213</sup> Izama 2011, 72-74

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>214</sup> Carbone 2008, 198

candidates,<sup>215</sup> and even on pro-NRM platforms.<sup>216</sup>

## The Case of the Democratic Republic of Congo

The Democratic Republic of Congo (hereinafter, and regardless of the various names the state has gone by throughout its history, DRC) gained independence in 1960 from Belgium as a democratic state. Parties had only a short period prior to independence to form, and there were clear machinations on the part of foreign powers, firstly, to retain privileged access to the DRC's rich resources, expressed through the attempt at secession by Katanga province, and secondly to prevent a possible alliance of the Congolese state with the Soviets, expressed through the assassination of independence leader and Prime Minister Patrice Lumumba and the installation and support of Mobutu as dictator. Mobutu's dictatorship in the DRC (renamed Zaire during the majority of his rule) lasted from the 1960s until 1997 when he was finally removed from power by the Alliance des Forces Démocratiques pour la Libération du Congo-Zaire military alliance (hereinafter AFDL) led by Laurent Désiré Kabila and backed by a number of African states. Laurent Désiré Kabila's rule was also dictatorial, and almost immediately challenged by a second wave of rebellions backed by some of the very states which brought him to power. This second conflict resulted in the assassination of Laurent Désiré Kabila, the succession of his son Joseph Kabila to power, and an internationally brokered peace deal, the Sun City Accord signed on 19<sup>th</sup> April 2002, guaranteeing democratic elections and a new constitution at the end of a period of transitional government.<sup>217</sup> The incumbent party under Joseph Kabila is the Parti du

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>215</sup> Carbone 2008, 104; Commonwealth Secretariat 2006, 11; Commonwealth Secretariat 2011, 7; Izama 2011, 66

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>216</sup> Izama 2011, 67

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>217</sup> A summation of the Sun City Accords may be found in: Dizolele 2010, 146-151; although a long list of

*Peuple pour la Reconstruction et la Démocratie* (PPRD), although he officially runs as an independent.

During this broad period of political history in the DRC there have been two prominent opposition political parties: the *Union pour Démocratie et le Progrès Social* (hereinafter UDPS) of Etienne Tshisekedi, and the *Mouvement de Libération du Congo* (hereinafter MLC) of Jean-Pierre Bemba.

The MLC was a rebel organization, formed on 30<sup>th</sup> June 1999 in Equateur Province,<sup>218</sup> backed by Museveni's Uganda shortly after the successful rebellion which brought Laurent Désiré Kabila's AFDL to power (itself backed by Uganda). As one of the prominent parties to the conflict, the MLC was granted a significant position in the transitional government generated via brokered peace, and Jean-Pierre Bemba participated in this government as one of several vice-presidents. Once in government the MLC appeared to more or less commit to democratic politics and, once made the major opposition party by the first post-Mobutu democratic mandate, to opposition politics, although with aberrations consistent with their past as a rebel organization.

Several factors appear to have contributed to the rise and position of the MLC, namely: its disproportionate access to foreign and private domestic funding; its ability to participate in government prior to elections as a high profile organization; the nonmonetary resources its leader was personally able to provide it; and the electoral boycott of the UDPS.

In terms of funding, as stated, the MLC was backed by Museveni's Uganda as a

monographs and articles dealing with this period of Congolese history have been published both by (all) academics specializing in the region, as well as by participants, local scholars, and lay westerners, by far the best to date, in my opinion, is: Prunier 2009

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>218</sup> International Crisis Group 2011, 25

rebel organization.<sup>219</sup> This initial backing must certainly have provided it with a financial stability not comparable with other opposition political parties, *id est* to be a military organization backed by a comparatively wealthy foreign state. In addition, Jean-Pierre Bemba himself was an extremely wealthy man, the inheritor of a fortune generated by his father through a privileged relationship both to the dictator Mobutu,<sup>220</sup> as well as to Laurent Désiré Kabila. These funds meant that, unlike many opposition parties in Africa, Bemba's MLC was able to meaningfully and effectively campaign against the incumbent government.

Also dissimilar from the typical circumstances of new opposition parties was the ability of the rebel MLC organization to spend a period of time in government as a distinct organization prior to elections, with their leader serving as vice-president.<sup>221</sup> This, without doubt, provided MLC politicians with professional experience, and their leader as well as their organization generally with a high profile in politics, as opposed to in civil war. Given the unique position of being a party to a peace accord with a significant number of men-at-arms remaining in his private service, Bemba could also more or less afford to be critical of government with impunity and without fear of repression. The clear benefit of this position is that Bemba did not have to construct a party from nothing and campaign from the political periphery, but was able to enter government in force based on a peace accord, and campaign from that privileged position.

In addition to personal wealth and the advantage of campaigning from an already

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>219</sup> See, for example: *Ibidem* 25

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>220</sup> Bemba's father is Jean Bemba Saolona who was president of the National Association of Companies of Zaire, and this family is from the same region and is related by marriage to the family of Mobutu (Bemba is brother-in-law to the son of the dictator, who also contests elections as the head of the Union des *Démocrates Mobutistes).*<sup>221</sup> See, for example: *Ibidem*.

strong position in government, Bemba was able to bring non-monetary resources to the MLC as a political organization, the most important of which was probably media access. As noted above Bemba was disproportionately wealthy given the virtual empire inherited from his father, and a meaningful part of this empire was in media. Bemba was the owner of television and radio stations, such as Canal Congo Television (CCTV), Radio Liberte, and Canal Kin Television.<sup>222</sup> The advantage provided by these assets are obvious, repression in undemocratic African regimes is almost certainly aided by incumbent ownership, control or repression of the media. Whilst it has been noted that there was hardly neutral media coverage of the 2006 elections, a majority of outlets were owned by presidential candidates with none holding a monopoly and, therefore, *de facto* broad coverage was affected, albeit not without conflict and deaths.<sup>223</sup> And although there were significant attempts on the part of the incumbent to suppress his media outlets,<sup>224</sup> Bemba and the MLC clearly had access to unrestricted and positive media coverage which could not be censored by the incumbent.

Working against the efficacy of the opposition during the first post-war democratic mandate was the arrest of Jean-Pierre Bemba by the International Criminal Court in May 2008.<sup>225</sup> Congolese law, as of 4<sup>th</sup> December 2007, guarantees senior ministerial rank to the spokesperson of the opposition, but the MLC refused to nominate anyone to this position in order to retain it for Bemba should he have returned.<sup>226</sup>

Finally, Bemba and the MLC were certainly able to benefit from the electoral

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>222</sup> These possessions are named in: Human Rights Watch 2008, 49; International Crisis Group 2006b, 2, 5

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>223</sup> See, for example: Matti 2010, 46

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>224</sup> See, for example: Human Rights Watch 2008, 19-21

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>225</sup> See, for example: *Ibidem* 62-65.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>226</sup> International Crisis Group 2010, 7

boycott of the UDPS in the first post-conflict elections,<sup>227</sup> although it was reported that he had been attempting to secure what would have been a very important alliance with the UDPS in the lead up to those elections.<sup>228</sup> The UDPS was expected to be a strong competitor, and some have hypothesized that the position of the MLC in the first democratic mandate was no more than a substitution for the missing UDPS, an argument for which there is some support.<sup>229</sup>

The UDPS under Etienne Tshisekedi was formed out of the "Parliament" and single party (*Mouvement Populaire de la Révolution*) of Mobutu's dictatorship in the 1970s and 1980s, first as a group of rebellious Mobutu insiders demanding democratic reform (the "group of thirteen"), and then officially as the UDPS on 15<sup>th</sup> February 1982,<sup>230</sup> as an opposition organization to Mobutu's rule which consistently lobbied for democratic reform with popular backing.<sup>231</sup> A subsequent but ultimately aborted gesture toward democratic reforms was undertaken by the Mobutu regime in the 1990s, first in the form of "popular consultations" on the party-state system from January 1990, then from the 24<sup>th</sup> April 1990 announcement that he would abandon the single-party system, from whence a "transitional parliament" (the *Conférence Nationale Souveraine*) was formed on 7<sup>th</sup> August 1991. This transitional parliament was comprised of opposition and ruling politicians, and was for short times under the Premiership of Tshisekedi as elected by the transitional legislative body and appointed by Mobutu on 30<sup>th</sup> September to October 1991 (appointed), 15<sup>th</sup> August to December 1992 (elected), and from 3<sup>rd</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>227</sup> See, for example: International Crisis Group 2011, 8, 25, wherein it is indicated that the MLC and UDPS are strongly supported in the same geographical area, and electors who would otherwise have voted UDPS voted MLC due to the boycott.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>228</sup> International Crisis Group 2006,: 3

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>229</sup> See footnote 224

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>230</sup> International Crisis Group 2011, 25; Nzongola-Ntalaja 2002, 184-185

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>231</sup> See, for example: Matti 2010, 50

December 1997 (appointed) until the AFDL coup under Laurent Kabila.<sup>232</sup> The initial moves taken by the Mobutu regime toward the formation of this transitional legislature and the holding of democratic elections, however, were shortly thereafter discarded and subverted. Some of the interesting and pertinent ways in which Mobutu subverted his own acquiescence to democratisation included generating artificial opposition parties allied with the regime,<sup>233</sup> by which a pro-Mobutu *Mouvance Présidentielle* alliance was formed in the CNS (as against the opposition *Union Sacrée* alliance),<sup>234</sup> and subverting the authority of the transitional parliament by simply recalling his own parliament and appointing a rival government.<sup>235</sup> The two legislative bodies were eventually consolidated into a 700+ member *Haut Conseil de la République -Parlement de Transition*, which Mobutu was able to dominate with loyal men.<sup>236</sup> After reneging on his commitments to democracy, and the failure of the institutions he constructed for that purpose to make any progress toward democratisation, Mobutu became embroiled in the rebellion that would remove him from power from October 1996.

During this time the UDPS and Etienne Tshisekedi were again brought into power, and vocally came down on the side of integrating the rebels in the hopes they would bring democracy, and thereby the UDPS to power, although this suggestion was rejected both by Mobutu as well as by L.D. Kabila.<sup>237</sup>

Contrary to Tshisekedi's expectations, however, upon entering the capital welcomed by the UDPS and their supporters, the rebel AFDL installed Laurent Kabila as dictator and marginalized the position of the political opposition. Laurent Kabila

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>232</sup> International Crisis Group 2011, 25; Nzongola-Ntalaja 2002, 184-196

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>233</sup> Nzongola-Ntalaja 2002, 186-188

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>234</sup> Ibidem 188

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>235</sup> *Ibidem* 195, 202-203

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>236</sup> *Ibidem* 203-204

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>237</sup> International Crisis Group 2011, 25

attempted to institutionalize a system very much like those envisioned both by Mobutu and Museveni, one without political parties, possessed of "grassroots" "democratic" structure (the *Comités de Pouvoir Populaire*), et cetera, but this was rejected by both Congolese and new rebels alike, and L.D. Kabila for reasons unknown in their specificity was assassinated by one of his own famous *kadogo* child soldiers.<sup>238</sup> At the conclusion of the second rebellion and the installation of a peace treaty dictated transitional government headed by the son of Laurent Kabila, Joseph Kabila, the UDPS and the political opposition was again marginalized at the expense of militant organizations that had to be included in government as a price of peace, and the UDPS refused to join the transitional government.<sup>239</sup> Tshisekedi, who felt that as the elected leader of the original transitional parliament in the 1990s (though neither elected by the citizenry nor the only transitional leader) he was entitled to lead the nation, ultimately demanded his party and its supporters boycott the first democratic elections, as well as the constitutional referendum and voter registration.<sup>240</sup> Tshisekedi's attempts however were much less successful than anticipated, and his ultimate decision to boycott the 2006 elections, after initially changing his mind, rested on the fact that the citizens who would certainly vote for him had obeyed his call to boycott voter registration.<sup>241</sup>

There has been much debate surrounding Tshisekedi's boycott of the 2006 elections in the DRC, the most pessimistic positing that he did not want to risk submitting the UDPS, which had maintained the appearance of popularity, to an electoral competition that might shatter that illusion. The most optimistic position, of course, is

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>238</sup> See, for example: Nzongola-Ntalaja 2002, 245-246

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>239</sup> See, for example: International Crisis Group 2011, 25

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>240</sup> For example, see: Prunier 2009, 303-304

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>241</sup> Ibidem 304

that Tshisekedi could not see the value of submitting his organization to what he believed would be an unfair electoral process that would marginalize his organization with the appearance of legitimacy;<sup>242</sup> and the most pragmatic would be belief in the offered justification that boycott was an attempt to negotiate the late registration of voters.<sup>243</sup> Regardless of his considerations in 2006, boycotting did not prevent the UDPS from suffering targeted attacks;<sup>244</sup> and Tshisekedi did not boycott the 2011 elections, although he has challenged the results. The outcome of these elections suggests that the UDPS will take the place of the MLC as the prominent opposition party in a position comfortably behind the incumbent.

Although it is evidently not as privileged as the MLC, the UDPS is possessed of several qualities that may strengthen its position vis-à-vis other opposition parties, namely: historical democratic legitimacy; popular oppositionism; and inherited structure. Working significantly against the UDPS is that, despite its historical role as an advocate for democracy it has never, even on the occasions when its leader has been Prime Minister of Zaire, had to expose itself to multiparty democratic competition. The UDPS, in addition, is divided and relatively deprived of the resources required for a campaign,<sup>245</sup> and is considered to be embodied in the person of its leader and not in the substance of its political ideology.<sup>246</sup>

The UDPS, due to both its age as well as its long advocacy for democracy, is a high profile political organization committed to democratic reform in the DRC.

Beginning in the Mobutu years and continuing through to today, the UDPS has agitated

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>242</sup> See, for example: International Crisis Group 2011, 25 on Tshisekedi's belief that the elections were fixed.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>243</sup> Matti 2010, 51

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>244</sup> See, for example: Human Rights Watch 2005

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>245</sup> See, for example: International Crisis Group 2011, 25

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>246</sup> Ibidem

for democracy, and has done so through two dictatorships and one multiparty regime and, as such, Tshisekedi and his organization possess a popular legitimacy. Even as an organization that has failed to realize its goals through the past several decades of its existence, the UDPS has retained its position as a popular voice of opposition to incumbent governments in the DRC, and Tshisekedi and his organization have acquired the cult status commonly accorded brave opposition leaders and organizations in undemocratic regimes. Although some may call Tshisekedi's true intentions into question, he is without doubt a hero of democratic ideals to his supporters.

Finally, although it is unclear how directly this can translate into the present day given the post-conflict marginalization of the democratic opposition and the UDPS boycott of the 2006 elections, it is clear that the UDPS was able to initially benefit from being comprised of professional and elected politicians carved out of the Mobutu regime.<sup>247</sup>

In the 2006 elections Kabila won in the constitutionally provided second round run-off against Bemba of the MLC 58 per cent to 42 per cent.<sup>248</sup> The first round figures were around 45 per cent and 20 per cent respectively.<sup>249</sup> While many have pointed out the democratic effects of institutions such as constitutionally mandated second round presidential runoffs, particularly in the context of democratic breakdowns, it is of note that the third most popular candidate in the first round, Antoine Gizenga of the *Parti Lumumbiste Unifié*, threw his support behind Kabila in the second round in exchange for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>247</sup> The Mobutu regime did hold single party elections, some of which were considered comparatively free and fair.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>248</sup> Weiss 2007, 138

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>249</sup> Human Rights Watch 2008, 14

the office of the Prime Minister,<sup>250</sup> although he later resigned (on 25<sup>th</sup> September 2008) to be replaced by his PALU deputy Adolphe Muzito after Kabila himself began to sit in meetings of Council of Ministers in the Prime Minister's stead.<sup>251</sup>

DRC 2006 Elections Summary		
PARTY:	SEATS:	
AMP	298	
UN	116	
Total		
Opposition	202	
Total seats in legislature		500
Per cent monopolized by largest opposition party		57.43

Two hundred and sixty seven political parties were registered in the DRC leading up to the 2006 elections, and 70 of those won at least one seat in the National Assembly, whilst independent candidates won approximately 20 per cent of seats.<sup>252</sup> While no party holds a majority in the 500 seat National Assembly, Kabila was able to form a legislative alliance comprised of 298 legislators,<sup>253</sup> centered around the 111 seats held by his party,<sup>254</sup> which was able to immediately exclude the opposition from important positions and committees.<sup>255</sup> By way of contrast, the MLC won 64 seats.<sup>256</sup> This alliance has continued to the present first under the name of the Alliance de la Majorité Présidentielle

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>250</sup> International Crisis Group 2006, 3; Weiss 2007, 146; the fourth place candidate from the first round, Nzanga Mobutu (the dictator's son), also threw his support behind Kabila in the second round, although this high number of descendents of former leaders is not abnormal in DRC.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>251</sup> International Crisis Group 2010, 6; although it is claimed in International Crisis Group 2006a, 14 that it is the president's legal right to do so.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>252</sup> Weiss 2007, 138; a breakdown of the parties of middling import can be found in: Prunier 2009, 312-313 <sup>253</sup> International Crisis Group 2006b, 11; Weiss 2007, 138

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>254</sup> International Crisis Group 2011, 6; Matti 2010, 46

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>255</sup> International Crisis Group 2007, 2; the opposition would have previously enjoyed significant influence due the nature of the transitional government. <sup>256</sup> Matti 2010, 46

(AMP), and from 18<sup>th</sup> March 2011 simply the *Majorité Présidentielle* (MP).<sup>257</sup> However it has not gone unchallenged by the opposition, which formed under Bemba's MLC as the *Union pour la Nation* holding a majority in five provincial assemblies<sup>258</sup> (while Kabila was able to take eight<sup>259</sup>), and 116 seats in the National Assembly.<sup>260</sup> This seat proportion meant that *Union pour la Nation* was able to monopolize 57.43 per cent of the political opposition from the 2006 mandate. Of note, however, is that in the run up to the 2011 elections the MP became more exclusively structured around the President's PPRD party and excluded parties with less than five representatives in the National Assembly, with the effect of encouraging the smaller parties to simply incorporate into the PPRD directly and thereby reinforce its dominance.<sup>261</sup>

Weiss has observed that voting patterns in the 2006 elections appear to reflect a rejection of *de facto* leaders during the war, Kabila taking the East where the rebel factions ruled, and Bemba taking the West where Kabila's government was able to retain power.<sup>262</sup> This rejection is also expressed by the fact that only 45 of the 500 members of the Transitional National Assembly were democratically returned.<sup>263</sup> This pattern, however, also mirrors the division of major *lingua franca* in DRC, Kabila winning the Swahili speaking regions, and Bemba in Lingala speaking regions and,<sup>264</sup> indeed, it has been noted that both Kabila and Bemba attempted to mobilize voters on regional and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>257</sup> International Crisis Group 2011, 5

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>258</sup> Human Rights Watch 2008, 21

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>259</sup> International Crisis Group 2007, 2; some of these wins must have been repealed by the courts between publications as there are only eleven provincial assemblies.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>260</sup> International Crisis Group 2006b, 11

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>261</sup> International Crisis Group 2011, 6

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>262</sup> Weiss 2007, 139, 143

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>263</sup> *Ibidem* 143

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>264</sup> Human Rights Watch 2008, 14; Prunier 2009, 312; Weiss 2007, 142

ethnic lines.<sup>265</sup> Finally, it has been suggested that Kabila carried the East in 2006 based on the hopes of Eastern Congolese that the President would restore peace to the region,<sup>266</sup> the fulfillment of which task is a matter of controversy portending some suspicion regarding his ability to carry the same vote in 2011.<sup>267</sup>

The incumbent response to opposition has, on the whole, been repressive and manipulative. At an institutional level Joseph Kabila, now the electorally mandated president, has sought to extend electoral mandates from five to seven years, to remove term limits, to give the office of the president constitutional power over the judiciary, to prevent the decentralization of executive power (a question of significant historical salience in DRC, and a provision guaranteed by the terms of peace), to abolish the parliamentary office of the prime minister, and to extend presidential powers, despite the fact that the democratically ratified constitution of the DRC expressly forbids many of these undertakings.<sup>268</sup> In parliament the incumbent has purportedly engaged in the intimidation of members and the withholding of members salaries, which pay when actually received is low enough to generate a susceptibility to corruption as it stands.<sup>269</sup> Additionally, an informal institutional structure has arisen around the office of the president which is comprised of parallel networks of decision making that exert control over government, the legislature and the judiciary.<sup>270</sup> In particular, the prerogatives of the office of the Prime Minister have been effectively stripped, and unelected advisors

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>265</sup> Human Rights Watch 2008, 13, 19

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>266</sup> International Crisis Group 2010, 8

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>267</sup> See, for example: International Crisis Group 2011, 3 which suggests falling Eastern support for Kabila. <sup>268</sup> See, for example: Dizolele 2010, 148-149; International Crisis Group 2010, 18-19; these actions, where constitutionally forbidden, are so forbidden in article 220, see, for example: International Crisis Group 2010, 3

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>269</sup> Dizolele 2010, 156

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>270</sup> International Crisis Group 2010, 6

attached to the President impose decisions on democratically elected Ministers.<sup>271</sup> Vital Kamerhe, a member of the president's party appointed as Speaker of the National Assembly, attempted to use that office in order to affect democratic criticism of government policy only to be pushed out of office and replaced by 2009.<sup>272</sup> Furthermore, Kabila has exerted personal control over the Republican Guard and civilian and military intelligence agencies, and has allegedly exerted informal control over additional agencies through networks of personal friends.<sup>273</sup> One of the institutions in which this tendency has apparently culminated is in the construction of a "secret commission" comprised of agents from multiple agencies based on their loyalty to the president, and which allegedly has arrested in excess of 200 persons primarily from amongst civilians, journalists, police and soldiers believed to support Bemba, only one of which arrest has actually been brought to trial.<sup>274</sup> Such practices are thought to be spread much wider than in this commission alone.<sup>275</sup> A final point worth noting is that local elections in the DRC have not taken place,<sup>276</sup> although they are reported to be scheduled for some point in 2013.<sup>277</sup>

Direct actions against Bemba and the MLC have included intimidation of Bemba's father; the discharging of weapons at a hospital owned by Bemba; looting of the MLC office in Kinshasa; material confiscation, arrests and threats made against journalists working for news agencies owned by Bemba, the looting of, and government bans against those agencies; and the sacking of an MLC provincial governor's house,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>271</sup> Ibidem

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>272</sup> Ibidem 7-8

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>273</sup> Human Rights Watch 2008, 26

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>274</sup> *Ibidem* 37-38

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>275</sup> Ibidem 44-47

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>276</sup> International Crisis Group 2010, 16

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>277</sup> United Nations Security Council 2010, 14

amongst other activities.<sup>278</sup>

Analysing repression of the opposition in the context of the 2006 elections, however, is difficult in the context of the major candidates having recently emerged from a state of war in which they were adversaries and in which opposition leaders, in particular Bemba, retained significant security forces. The government openly claimed that suppression of Bemba was integral in that he planned a coup prior to the second round run-off, and Bemba's material ability to resist such repression resulted in open combat in Kinshasa.<sup>279</sup> This sort of conflict continued after the elections, and erupted more than once in 2007 when Bemba continued to refuse to place his personal guard, comprised of somewhere between 400 and 800 men, under central authority (personal bodyguard is limited to 108), allegedly resulting in hundreds of deaths.<sup>280</sup> One is left to question however, if Bemba intended to commit to the democratic process, was his ability to outfit a military force capable of resisting government violence a good for democracy? Certainly Bemba and the MLC appeared to more or less commit to the democratic process and the role of the opposition after the elections. But, of course, one cannot know the true intentions of persons in such situations and whether or not those intentions will be for good when one has possession of the power to do good or evil as one pleases, and Bemba is, furthermore, presently accused of war crimes in relation to MLC activities in the Central African Republic.<sup>281</sup>

Leading up to the 2011 elections the opposition was characterized by a decline in the relevance of the MLC, the return to electoral politics of the UDPS under Etienne

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>278</sup> See, for example: Human Rights Watch 2008, 47-52

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>279</sup> *Ibidem* 16-19, 60, it is suggested that the coup plot was a government fabrication.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>280</sup> *Ibidem* 21-25; International Crisis Group 2006, 3

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>281</sup> See, for example: Human Rights Watch 2008, 62-65

Tshisekedi, and a regrouping of opposition alliances.<sup>282</sup> The extant *Union pour la Nation* coalition was reformed into the *Union Sacrée pour l'Alternance*, a grouping of small parties with little political weight, and the *Dynamique Tshisekedi Président*, the coalition backing Etienne Tshisekedi.<sup>283</sup> The problems that lie herein range from the obvious, that the opposition becomes hereby even more divided, to the speculative, that these two coalitions are competing for the same seats already held by the opposition.<sup>284</sup> Nevertheless, Etienne Tshisekedi declared himself the natural leader of the opposition and indicated that all parties should unite behind him,<sup>285</sup> although the MLC in particular has refused to do so (still controlled by Bemba from the Hague, who expelled in-country leader and UDPS defector Muamba from the party in April 2011).<sup>286</sup> In general, the opposition parties formed from belligerents following the peace appear to be in danger of losing their position to the non-belligerent political parties,<sup>287</sup> and as it stands, the MLC was the only such party to make a significant electoral showing.

DRC 2011 Elections Summary		
PARTY:	SEATS:	
MP	260	
DTP	110	
Total		
Opposition	223 (and 17 vacant)	
Total seats in legislature		500
Per cent monopolized by largest opposition party		49.33

In the 2011 elections Kabila won in the now exclusive first round of presidential

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>282</sup> International Crisis Group 2011, 6

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>283</sup> *Ibidem* 6-7

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>284</sup> Ibidem

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>285</sup> Ibidem 7

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>286</sup> *Ibidem* 7-8, 25

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>287</sup> Ibidem 8

elections with 48.95 per cent of the vote, whilst Tshisekedi took 32.33 per cent. The next most popular candidate was Vital Kamerhe, now of the Union pour la Nation Congolaise with 7.74 per cent, and all other candidates garnered less votes than this. In the legislative portion of the elections, the President's PPRD party directly secured 62 seats, the UDPS 41 seats, whilst other major showings were the People for Peace and Democracy Party (anglicized, PPPD) with 29 seats, the Mouvement Social pour le Renouveau (MSR) with 27 seats, PALU with 19, the UNC with 17, independent candidates holding 16 and the MLC dropping to 22 seats, and all other parties showing equal to or less than 16 seats.<sup>288</sup> Significantly, the UDPS was able to field 386 candidates, whereas the PPRD fielded 494, PALU 476, MSR 465, UNC 447 and PPPD 394.<sup>289</sup> It has been reported that Kabila's *Majorité Présidentielle* coalition now holds only 260 seats, significantly down although still an absolute majority, whilst the opposition coalition holds 110 seats, leaving 113 unaligned, and 17 vacant.<sup>290</sup> Regarding the parties with major showings, PALU, as noted above, threw their support behind Kabila in 2006, whilst the PPPD and MSR are considered to be closely related to Kabila, and are part of his legislative alliance.<sup>291</sup> While some may view the drop in incumbent alliance seats as a gain for the opposition, it now only monopolizes 49.33 per cent of the non-incumbent vote, which is in effect a decline of almost 10 per cent from 2006.

In the months leading up to the 2011 elections incumbent activities were characterized by threats and physical attacks against members of the opposition, with UN investigators documenting 188 cases of politically motivated human rights violations

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>288</sup> All data on the 2011 elections has been sourced from the electoral commission: Democratic Republic of Congo. Commission Electorale Nationale Indépendante (www.ceni.gouv.cd).
 <sup>289</sup> *Ibidem*

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>290</sup> Anonymous 2012

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>291</sup> *Ibidem;* United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees

prior to the commencement of official campaigns.<sup>292</sup> These violations have included restrictions on political activities, the use of unnecessary force against demonstrators, and the arbitrary arrests of opposition party members, their supporters and journalists.<sup>293</sup> On 6<sup>th</sup> October a UDPS rally in Kinshasa was broken up with tear gas and the firing of live rounds, leaving one person dead and ten wounded,<sup>294</sup> whilst some pro-government candidates have openly encouraged their supporters to use violence against the opposition.<sup>295</sup> Approaching its exposure to a second electoral contest the incumbent altered the electoral system so that presidential elections were conducted with a single poll, removing the second round run off,<sup>296</sup> has sought to replace proportional representation with a majority voting list system,<sup>297</sup> and replaced the inclusive 21 member Commission Electorale Indépendante with a seven member Commission *Electorale Nationale Indépendante*, comprised of four majority and three opposition representatives.<sup>298</sup> Furthermore, in the case of cash shortfall for elections from traditional donors to the DRC, the new electoral commission approached both Russia and Iran for support.<sup>299</sup>

## The Case of Rwanda

Rwanda gained independence from Belgium after a period of time as a protectorate inherited from the old German colonies in 1962. At that time, given the rigid identity based institutionalization of a questionably historic Hutu-Tutsi social cleavage, it was seen as propitious that postcolonial "democracy" should be characterized, in

<sup>298</sup> *Ibidem* 11

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>292</sup> Human Rights Watch 2012, 104

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>293</sup> *Ibidem* 104

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>294</sup> *Ibidem* 104-105

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>295</sup> *Ibidem* 105

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>296</sup> *Ibidem* 104

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>297</sup> International Crisis Group 2011, 6

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>299</sup> Ibidem 16

Rwanda, as reflecting the right of the majority "Hutu" to govern. Although "Hutu power" was neither reflective of other states with a similar identity structure (e.g. in Burundi), nor was the Hutu-Tutsi cleavage reflective of states with significant *Banyarwanda* populations (e.g. DRC), the expression of "democratic" rule in independent Rwanda was more or less expressed as one-party rule by a Hutu nationalist party until the 1990s.<sup>300</sup> As is well known, the "Hutu" dominated government was challenged from 1990 by the Rwandan Patriotic Front (hereinafter RPF) which led to the invasion, from Uganda, of an army of ex-patriot "Tutsi" and other Rwandan exiles, many of whom had participated in the NRM/A rebellion about a decade earlier. Although this conflict led to a brokered peace in 1993 (Arusha Peace Accords) which would guarantee the political rights of Tutsi in a government of national unity, the results were the genocide of 1994 followed by the ultimate victory of the RPF and their assumption of power in Kigali.

The RPF government, since 1994, has pursued a policy of democratization, as far as their administration concerns this thesis. This democratization commenced in 1999 with the organization of local elections, and culminated in national presidential and parliamentary elections in 2003,<sup>301</sup> following a four year extension of the "transition" period.<sup>302</sup>

The party system in Rwanda, not unlike in Uganda, has been comprised of several small historic non-incumbent parties which have won insignificant fractions of the vote since being co-opted into government during the Transitional National Assembly, and which have been significantly repressed by the incumbent government. The three extant

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>300</sup> For example see the brief summation of the independence to RPF period in: Chretien 2003, 299-309

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>301</sup> Longman 2011, 26

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>302</sup> Reyntjens 2004, 182

historic political parties were the *Mouvement Démocratique Républicain*,<sup>303</sup> the *Parti Social Démocrate*, and the *Parti Libéral*.<sup>304</sup> Repression of the MDR, PSD and PL has consisted of the harassment, arrest, and possibly the assassination of members who speak out against the government line.<sup>305</sup> Unlike the pattern of events in Uganda, however, there has been no successful formation of a new and strong opposition party capable of garnering a significant proportion of absolute votes or meaningfully monopolizing the vote share of the opposition, and two of the historic political parties have retained their close association with the incumbent beyond the transitional years.

The failure for a new democratic party to take form could, quite possibly, be the result of "elite learning"<sup>306</sup> as Pasteur Bizimungu, a (possibly nominal)<sup>307</sup> president in the early years of the regime, resigned 23<sup>rd</sup> March 2000,<sup>308</sup> and replaced as president by Kagame in April 2000,<sup>309</sup> attempted to form a new party in 2001<sup>310</sup> which was immediately suppressed by the regime (the *Parti pour la Démocratie et le Renouveau – Ubuyanja*).<sup>311</sup> This suppression consisted of arrest, harassment, physical attacks, disappearances and murder.<sup>312</sup> Bizimungu was sentenced to 15 years in prison for embezzling and inciting violence in June 2004, but granted a presidential pardon in April 2007.<sup>313</sup> The MDR, led by 1994-1995 Prime Minister Faustin Twagiramungu, who

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>303</sup> Stroh 2009, 7; the dominant party at independence was PARMEHUTU, and the MDR is considered the new incarnation of that party after the single-party regime of Habyarimana, see: Chretien 2003, 322-323 <sup>304</sup> These two parties were created when multipartyism was legalized in 1991: Stroh 2009, 9

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>305</sup> Human Rights Watch 2011, 154; Longman 2011, 32

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>306</sup> See, for example: Beissinger 2007, 269; it could be argued that several aspects of Beissinger's piece are applicable to the Great Lakes region, in particular concepts like "mutual empowerment" (pp 265-266) given the close and contaminated nature of regimes in this region both now and across history.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>307</sup> See, for example: Longman 2011, 32

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>308</sup> Reyntjens 2004, 181

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>309</sup> Commonwealth Secretariat 2010, 5

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>310</sup> 30<sup>th</sup> May 2001, as found in: Reyntjens 2004, 193

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>311</sup> Longman 2011, 33

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>312</sup> *Ibidem* 33; Reyntjens 2004, 193

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>313</sup> Commonwealth Secretariat 2010, 5

resigned and went into exile August 1995,<sup>314</sup> was considered by the regime as the most threatening extant opposition party due to its broad support by the "Hutu" majority (thus creating a fear of "Burundi Syndrome") and was similarly suppressed leading up to the 2003 elections, which suppression included the arrest of prominent members on the grounds of promoting "divisionism"<sup>315</sup> and "genocide ideology," the naming of members of the party associated with these charges, and a parliamentary motion to officially ban the party on 15 April 2003, endorsed by government on 16 May 2003,<sup>316</sup> forced Twagiramungu, who was contesting the presidency, to run as an independent;<sup>317</sup> albeit, Twagiramungu's position was far better than Bizimungu's.

This pattern of suppression continued through the 2010 elections, where attempts at the formation of several new parties have been stymied. The leader of the *Forces Démocratiques Unifiées – Inkingi*, Victoire Ingabire, was threatened, attacked and arrested on charges of genocide ideology, divisionism, creating an armed group, complicity in terrorist attacks, complicity in endangering the state through terrorism and armed violence, inciting the public to rise up against the state, and collaboration with the FDLR. An attempt by incumbent RPF members to break away and form a Rwandan branch of the Green Party (the Democratic Green Party of Rwanda) resulted in harassment, intimidation, and the assassination of the party's vice-president.<sup>318</sup>

The Democratic Green Party has been unable to officially register due to its inability to procure the necessary signed documents. In order to do so it must convene a party congress, which it has attempted to do on several occasions, once being disrupted

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>314</sup> Defined as being in opposition to or in disagreement with government policies: Reyntjens 2004, 180
 <sup>315</sup> *Ibidem* 184

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>316</sup> Longman 2011, 33; Reyntjens 2004, 184

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>317</sup> Longman 2011, 39

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>318</sup> Commonwealth Secretariat 2010, 13; Human Rights Watch 2011, 155; Human Rights Watch 2012, 150; Longman 2011, 34

by persons shouting RPF slogans, and later being denied permission to hold a rally based on its lack of required police clearance, which clearance the police refused to provide. Its attempts to seek the aid of the government on the matter have been ignored.<sup>319</sup> The leader of the party has refused to contest the presidential elections as an independent.<sup>320</sup>

Victoire Ingabire of the FDU Inkingi has been arrested on charges of association with a terrorist group, propagating genocide ideology, revisionism, and divisionism,<sup>321</sup> and is being tried alongside four members of the *Forces Démocratiques de Libération du Rwanda* who have all incriminated her,<sup>322</sup> while the party has been unable to officially register or field a presidential candidate in the latest elections.<sup>323</sup>

Another new party, the *Parti Social-Imberakuri*, was registered in July 2009 but allegedly taken over by pro-RPF dissident members by March of 2010, their leader arrested in June 2010, and sentenced to four years in prison as of February 2011 on convictions of endangering national security, divisionism, and attempting to organize demonstrations without authorization.<sup>324</sup> Several members of this same party were arrested in June of 2010 for attempting to hold a demonstration.<sup>325</sup>

This suppression, combined with a 5% vote share cut-off for representation in parliament and government party funding,<sup>326</sup> has meant that only three parties other than the incumbent RPF, of a total of ten registered parties,<sup>327</sup> have effectively been able to contest: *Parti Libéral, Parti Social Démocrate*, and the Party of Peace and Concord,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>319</sup> See: Commonwealth Secretariat 2010, 15

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>320</sup> Ibidem

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>321</sup> Ibidem 15-16

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>322</sup> Human Rights Watch 2012, 150-151

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>323</sup> Human Rights Watch 2011, 154

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>324</sup> Commonwealth Secretariat 2010, 16; Human Rights Watch 2011, 155; Human Rights Watch 2012, 150

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>325</sup> Human Rights Watch 2011, 155

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>326</sup> Commonwealth Secretariat 2010, 4, 6

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>327</sup> Including the RPF, see, for example: *Ibidem*: 6.

whilst only the RPF, PL and PSD are represented in the Chamber of Deputies.<sup>328</sup> It should be noted in addition that those parties which do not meet the cut-off for government funding may technically receive funding from the Forum of Political Parties, that there is no limit to campaign expenditure, nor requirements to make sources of funding public.<sup>329</sup> Of these parties, the PSD and PL form part of the government in a power sharing agreement, whilst the latter, PPC, although not privy to this power sharing agreement, has no representation in the Chamber of Deputies and is led by a Senator, Dr Mukabaramba, who owes this position to her premature withdrawal from the 2003 presidential elections in order to back RPF candidate Kagame.<sup>330</sup> This being said, the close association of these parties to the incumbent has not prevented the RPF from significantly interfering in their politics,<sup>331</sup> and it has been suggested that the mechanism through which these parties have become effectively co-opted by the RPF has been the total incumbent control of appointments without consultation with its coalition parties.<sup>332</sup>

RPF control of the party system has culminated in the creation of the Forum of Political Parties, or the Consultative Forum of Political Organizations in Rwanda,<sup>333</sup> at first an informal organization later constitutionally mandated in 2003, which must approve all members of parliament put forward by parties, and is undoubtedly dominated by the incumbent RPF.<sup>334</sup> This institution has effectively provided a venue in which the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>328</sup> Ibidem 4

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>329</sup> Ibidem 17

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>330</sup> *Ibidem* 14; although this is not very much unlike the practice, though not the ideal, of appointed houses in bicameral parliaments throughout the Commonwealth, of which Rwanda is now a member, and which is comprised of several of the oldest and unquestionably democratic states in the world, as well as arguably the oldest continuous democracy itself, all of which members are characterized by less than ideal appointment practices.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>331</sup>See, for example: Sebarenzi 2009, 158-182 wherein the author, a former *Parti Liberal* politician, describes how he was pushed out of his position, seat and country.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>332</sup> *Ibidem* 141

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>333</sup> This title is utilized in: Commonwealth Secretariat 2010, 6

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>334</sup> Longman 2011, 33-34

RPF can remove legislators it dislikes from parliament, and has allegedly been supported by other parties as a venue by which party discipline can be enforced.<sup>335</sup> It has been suggested that the congruent timing of this institutional innovation with the ending of the transitional government was not coincidental.<sup>336</sup> A second institutional mechanism has been erected by the RPF over eligibility for the franchise, which excludes refugees, prisoners, persons convicted of murder, rape, genocide or crimes against humanity, and importantly, persons "lacking integrity." In Rwandan law a person of integrity is one who has not been convicted of genocide, genocide ideology, discrimination, divisionism or corruption.<sup>337</sup> Thirdly, at the confluence of the franchise and party regulation, presidential candidates must be possessed of "irreproachable morals and probity," amongst other more typical criteria.<sup>338</sup>

In the background of this repression of a viable opposition is the manipulation of civil society organizations, limitations on the freedom of speech and significant interference in the press,<sup>339</sup> in particular where regime policies are criticized or challenged.<sup>340</sup> Media is overseen by the institution of the Media High Council and, regardless, is dominated by the state-owned Rwanda Bureau of Information and Broadcasting.<sup>341</sup> In the 2010 presidential elections in particular the Media High Council suspended two independent newspapers for the duration of the campaign.<sup>342</sup> That being said, there are regulations regarding the equitable and free access to political content

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>335</sup> Sebarenzi 2009, 147

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>336</sup> *Ibidem* 152

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>337</sup> Commonwealth Secretariat 2010, 9

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>338</sup> *Ibidem* 10

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>339</sup> See, for example: Longman 2011, 27-31, 34-38

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>340</sup> *Ibidem* 35

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>341</sup> Commonwealth Secretariat 2010, 18

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>342</sup> *Ibidem* 13, 18, 20

during campaign periods,<sup>343</sup> how useful that is in the context of the exclusion of all parties truly in opposition is debatable.

Rwanda 2003 Elections Summary		
PARTY:	SEATS:	
RPF	40	
PSD	7	
PL	6	
Total Opposition	13	
Total seats in legislature		80
Total seats elected by universal franchise		53
Per cent monopolized by largest opposition party		53.85

The overall outcomes of electoral competition in Rwanda has consisted of Kagame officially winning over 95 per cent of the popular vote in 2003, in which his RPF party won 73.8 per cent of the vote, filling 40 of 53 directly elected seats in an 80 seat lower house (while the upper house is not elected).<sup>344</sup> The opposition was fairly evenly divided between the PSD (12 per cent) and the PL (10 per cent), although both parties supported Kagame's presidential candidacy and comprise an alliance with the RPF.<sup>345</sup> So whilst the PSD technically commanded a 53.85 per cent monopolization of the opposition following 2003, the value of such a number is highly suspect.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>343</sup> *Ibidem* 20 <sup>344</sup> *Ibidem* 5; Longman 2011, 40 <sup>345</sup> Reyntjens 2004, 186

## **Rwanda 2008 Elections Summary** PARTY: SEATS: RPF 42 PSD 7 PL 4 **Total Opposition** 11 **Total seats in legislature** 80 Total seats elected by universal franchise 53 Per cent monopolized by largest opposition party 63.66

In the 2008 elections the RPF garnered 78.8 per cent of the vote, winning 42 seats, the PSD taking 7 and the PL 4.<sup>346</sup> This represented an absolute loss for the PSD, but a roughly 10 per cent monopolization gain insofar as their command of non-RPF seats rose to 63.66 per cent. Consistent with some suspicions of the nature of vote rigging in electoral authoritarian regimes, it has been suggested that the regime manipulated this number down to the benefit of the opposition in order to appear more democratic.<sup>347</sup>

In the 2010 presidential elections Kagame again won with 93.08 per cent of the vote in a competition lacking a meaningful challenger,<sup>348</sup> and one in which none of the new opposition parties were allowed to contest.<sup>349</sup> The PSD candidate won 5.15%, PL 1.37% and PPC 0.4%.<sup>350</sup> The campaign was observed to be significantly dominated by the incumbent,<sup>351</sup> albeit peaceful and none of the parties actually permitted to contest

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>346</sup> Commonwealth Secretariat 2010, 5

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>347</sup> Longman 2011, 40; Stroh 2009, 16

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>348</sup> Commonwealth Secretariat 2010, 17, 29, 30; Human Rights Watch 2011, 154; Longman 2011, 41

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>349</sup> Human Rights Watch 2011, 154

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>350</sup> Commonwealth Secretariat 2010, 29

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>351</sup> *Ibidem* 17

reported being interfered with.<sup>352</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>352</sup> *Ibidem* 30

#### **Chapter 7: Case Analysis**

In Chapter 7 the raw data from the case presentation above will be analysed in regard to the relationships between the generation of strong opposition parties in hybrid regimes and the critical issues expounded above, namely: party financing; structural inheritance; the presence or absence of violence in the party system; party fractionalization and the proliferation of independent members; and the presence or absence of identity, and in particular ethnic based parties in the party system. These critical issues will be given separate and methodical treatment below.

#### **Party Financing**

Although it is not possible to unearth the minutia of party financing in the Great Lakes region of Africa from secondary sources, it may be soundly inferred from the cases above that the ability or inability of parties to finance themselves matters a great deal. It is clear in those cases that the presence of domestic or international funding can make the difference between success and failure between parties which are otherwise similar in structural capacity, as well as in the constraints they face from the incumbent and the party system.

In the Democratic Republic of Congo the well financed MLC out-performed all other non-incumbent political parties in 2006, both those inheriting similar rebel organizational structure and participating in transitional government, and well as traditional political parties. The MLC performance in 2006 was also significantly stronger than that of the UDPS in 2011. Similarly in Uganda where there is a strong opposition party there is also a comparatively flourishing and autonomous business class, and a number of international donors that set aside funds for political parties.

Although these inferences are indirect, their credibility is certainly enhanced by the inability of opposition parties in Rwanda, legal or not, to gain any sort of national voice or make an absolute electoral impact where foreign funding is banned, and access to state funding is tightly regulated in blatant favour of the incumbent.

#### **Structural Inheritance**

There is a demonstrable pattern in the states considered herein of the effective marginalization of longstanding historic parties at the expense of comparatively effective but young political parties. In this context it is may be contended that the structural inheritance theory should be expanded to include the advantages afforded political parties formed out of standing legislatures. Regarding the competitive notion of elite defection, the defection of a Besigye or a Tshisekedi, whilst important and certainly exerting a pull on other politicians, cannot logically be the exclusive font of a party's competitiveness, particularly in the style of riding found throughout the Commonwealth. This thesis therefore contends that what makes these new parties competitive are the structural advantages imbued by the professional politicians who have been "pulled." The politicians who enter the party in parliament with an expertise in legislative politics; with established constituencies; (hopefully) with campaign experience and sources of funding, but certainly with the knowledge of how to acquire and retain their positions, as well as the experience of doing so; bring with them thereby a definitive advantage not possessed by new parties and not adequately explained by the elite status of party leaders.<sup>353</sup>

Secondly, as was demonstrated by the MLC in DRC, as well as by the incumbent regimes in DRC, Rwanda and Uganda collectively, translating an armed organization into a political one carries similar structural advantages. Although this thesis is not concerned

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>353</sup> Of course "elite" is a relative term.

to treat the long history of military coups in world politics herein, nor the extensive scholarship on that subject, military organizations possess strengths directly transferrable to mass politics.

In Uganda structural inheritance may explain the differential success of the FDC, formed by serving politicians in the no-party legislature, over historic political parties such as the UPC or DP which, while having some members who served in Movement politics, were divided as to who was and was not willing to acquiesce to the Movement and the status of those who did. The FDC, by contrast, was able to enter politics as a *fait accompli* body of professional politicians, and one familiar with how NRM Uganda functions.

In the DRC the MLC certainly benefited from the facts that it was a cohesive military organization with defined organizational structure, as well as a participant in government during the transitional years. The MLC also, however, offers a good indication of the limits of the traction of structural inheritance, insofar as there were other significant rebel groups who participated in the transitional government and failed to make a meaningful electoral showing. However, the UDPS may bear the opposite implication, being as it was an organization formed out of a one-party state like the FDC, but so formed nearly thirty years prior to exposing itself to electoral competition, and carved out of an extinct regime. Finally, the UNC under Vital Kamerhe, which contested the 2011 election after Kamerhe was removed from the president's party, indicates yet another qualification of this theory. It may either be the case that structural inheritance is subject to the law of diminishing returns regarding the number of actors and parties that break away from association with the incumbent, or that Kamerhe and the UNC trace the

distinction between structural inheritance and the so-called "elite recycling" phenomenon.<sup>354</sup> The contradictory evidence found in the DRC would suggest that structural inheritance is likely a latent variable which requires some other input in order to affect outcomes, as the performance of both the UDPS and the UNC would suggest that the age or novelty of a party's structure is irrelevant, while the fact that only the MLC garnered a meaningful electoral showing after the transitional government suggests that the mere presence of that organizational structure is not sufficient.

Evidence from Rwanda indicates that, while not sufficient, such structural inheritance may be necessary for strong opposition parties, and therefore democratic outcomes, in hybrid regimes. This may be deduced from the facts that there is no strong and autonomous opposition party in Rwanda capable of monopolizing opposition votes, where both existing political parties (such as the MDR) and attempts at the formation of new parties carved out of the regime (such as the DGPR) have been directly suppressed. Both the *Parti Libéral* and the *Parti Social Démocrate* have shown themselves incapable thus far of acting autonomously from the RPF, and in light of the showing of such parties as the MDR, PL and PSD; the UPC and DP in Uganda; or PALU in DRC; one might be skeptical of the true value of the collaboration of historic political parties with *coup* governments. In fact, the only "historic" political party to make a strong showing has been the UDPS in DRC, and this party ultimately refused cooperation with *coup* governments. It is of note, however, that this rejection was not indicative of its willingness to cooperate should such governments have offered the UDPS a position it

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>354</sup> I have not given the theory of "elite recycling" independent consideration in this analysis because I am not convinced of its unique traction in Africa, where is has been heavily studied, as opposed to in every known democracy around the world where "elite recycling" is not studied as such, but is simply observed as "politics."

felt it deserved.

#### **Violence in the Party System**

Contrary to the expectations of this thesis, it does appear to be the case that violence in the party system affects the performance of opposition parties, at least according to the investigative criteria herein. Of course, violence may certainly act on the absolute strength of the opposition, and its effect may be non-linear, as is indicated by many studies on opposition mobilization at the end of authoritarian regimes. But it may be the case that the most important violence is not that which takes place in party systems against candidates and party leaders, nor even executed acts of violence, but the intimidation which is brought to bear directly against individual voters.

In Rwanda, for example, it has been noted that the practice of casting votes through thumb-printing, which calls the secret ballot into question,<sup>355</sup> in confluence with a dismal record on human rights,<sup>356</sup> may serve to significantly intimidate the electorate into supporting the regime. In Uganda violence may be only a surreptitious possibility of not voting for the incumbent, for example through the open implication that only Museveni can control the armed forces and prevent them from (returning to) the practice of terrorizing the population.<sup>357</sup> In the DRC, by contrast, open acts of violence appear almost endemic to politics, but both the MLC and the UDPS have been able to significantly monopolize the opposition through the construction of opposition legislative alliances.

#### The Proliferation of Independent Candidates and Small Parties

As mentioned above, the proliferation of independent candidates and small parties

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>355</sup> Reyntjens 2004, 186
 <sup>356</sup> See, for example: *Ibidem* 194-197

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>357</sup> Izama 2011, 68

can have diverse effects on electoral outcomes, the most troubling of which, in hybrid regimes, is the perpetuation of incumbency. This effect functions through the mechanism of independents and small parties, for various reasons, overtly associating themselves with the incumbent either prior to elections, or after winning seats. The timing of this association is likely tightly related to the motivations for running. However the presence of a large number of independent candidates and small parties does not appear to affect the capacity of a strong opposition party to form according to the criteria herein.

In the case of Rwanda, where there is a five per cent official status threshold,<sup>358</sup> the incumbent RPF allowed six minor parties entrance on a common list with the RPF who were otherwise unlikely to meet the threshold.<sup>359</sup> This means that while the presence of independents and the number of parties is heavily restricted, this restriction heavily incentivizes those parties and persons to assimilate with the incumbent.

In Uganda independent candidates have consistently matched the electoral showing of the strongest opposition party. As noted, these candidates are not ideological constituency independents, but are typically members of the NRM who have lost party primaries but still possess the means and desire to run, and typically tow the NRM line in parliament. While this may complicate electoral politics for the NRM in those constituencies, it is probably not having a direct effect on the opposition. The continued independence of the UPC and DP, however, and their refusal to join the IPC opposition coalition, probably does unnecessarily weaken the position of the opposition, although this is not typically what comes to mind when thinking of party system fragmentation and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>358</sup> Stroh 2009, 9

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>359</sup> Ibidem 10: Parti Démocrate Centriste, Parti Démocrate Ideal, Parti pour le Progres et le Concorde, Parti de la Solidarite et du Progres, Parti Socialiste Rwandais, and Union Démocratique du Peuple Rwandais.

the proliferation of small parties.

The party system in the DRC is highly fractionalized, as noted, with nearly 300 registered parties and 70 with at least one seat in the assembly. This fractionalization, however, has prevented neither the incumbent nor the opposition from forming strong legislative coalitions, which would appear to be the natural solution to such fragmentation. That being said, the draw of coalition with the incumbent is obviously a more attractive option, and that fact clearly serves to perpetuate incumbency in a state where neither the PPRD nor the UDPS have a strong individual legislative presence.

#### **Institutional Factors**

Several interesting institutional innovations have been expounded in the cases above which bear direct influence on opposition strength.

In Rwanda it has been noted that elections are largely regarded as free and fair, but the outcome of these electoral processes are manipulated *a priori* where the regime determines who can and cannot compete, and how those who can compete are allowed to campaign.<sup>360</sup> This manipulation is institutionalized in the form of the RPF dominated Forum of Political Parties, with roots in earlier practices such as the no-party tickets and regulation of local government candidates.<sup>361</sup> Not dissimilar from NRM rule in Uganda, the prohibition on political party affiliation in local contests neither meant that the incumbent RPF refrained from campaigning, nor from manipulating who could or could not run, or removing those who won from office.<sup>362</sup> Manipulation of the campaigns of those who are not banned from contesting in Rwanda has included the confiscation of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>360</sup> Longman 2011, 38

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>361</sup> Ibidem

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>362</sup> *Ibidem* 38-39; Reyntjens 2004, 183

party literature, and prohibitions on political rallies.<sup>363</sup>

In the 2003 elections the majority of candidates approved by the National Electoral Commission were from the RPF or affiliated with it,<sup>364</sup> and as mentioned above former President Bizimungu was banned from contesting, whilst former Prime Minister Twagiramungu's MDR party was suppressed, forcing him to run as an independent. This manipulation continued into the 2010 elections wherein the Green Party (DGPR), as well as the FDU-Inkingi were both barred from contesting, and the latter's leader arrested.<sup>365</sup>

There is a nascent organization of a similar nature in Uganda, the National Consultative Forum for Political Parties and Political Organizations. However, this institution has never come into existence and is regarded more or less as something which would be a positive development.<sup>366</sup> However there are *de facto* institutional impediments to free and fair elections in Uganda in the form of the ambiguity between electoral and criminal offences, the existence of an "incumbent" opposition, and the prolonged exclusion of all parties other than the NRM from government.

In Uganda electoral crimes are technically compound, but are in practice litigated as flaws in the electoral process and rarely referred to criminal courts.<sup>367</sup> This issue is further complicated by the fact that high ranking incumbent candidates are unlikely to be charged even under the less severe electoral laws, because all cases must be referred through the presidentially appointed director of public prosecutions, and similarly by the fact that there is a three month statute of limitations on electoral offenses.<sup>368</sup> This has

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>363</sup> Longman 2011, 39

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>364</sup> *Ibidem* 40

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>365</sup> *Ibidem* 40-41

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>366</sup> Commonwealth Secretariat 2011, 7

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>367</sup> Human Rights Watch 2009, 12, 13-17

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>368</sup> Ibidem 18-19, 24

had the effect of failing to deter criminal activity related to the electoral process.<sup>369</sup>

The presence not only of a large number of NRM "independent" candidates, but also of a within government NRM "opposition" must serve, given the no-party political history of Uganda, as well as the apparent unlikelihood of the NRM being removed from power, of undermining the value of opposition parties to the electorate. If oppositionism can be expressed by supporting pro-NRM independents or NRM dissidents who have not left the party, why should an elector vote for the FDC, UPC or DP who can deliver them nothing?

Finally, the prolonged exclusion of all parties other than the NRM from incumbency may serve to make elections no more than an expensive public opinion poll. The NRM has shown itself not only as unbeatable thus far, but also as willing to take steps to remedy electoral unpopularity despite the fact that its removal from power is unlikely, *exempli gratia* its actions to win the northern vote in the latest elections. This has obvious effects on the opposition, and in Uganda's latest elections the opposition was notably weaker both in absolute terms, as well as according to the criteria of this analysis.

In the Democratic Republic of Congo, which neither benefits from the (presidentialised) Westminster system of Uganda, nor the strict regulation of the party system as in Rwanda, different institutional strategies have been adopted. These primarily take the form of incumbent legislative coalitions, and the generation of incumbent allied political parties.

The Alliance pour le Majorité Présidentielle in 2006, and Majorité Présidentielle later, have served as legislative venues by which the incumbent can construct and maintain an absolute assembly majority in the context of a highly fractionalized party

<sup>369</sup> *Ibidem* 12

system. Although the need for such alliances in a party system like that possessed by DRC is indisputable, the function of such alliances in a hybrid regime have ominous implications, namely that the draw of alliance with the incumbent is exponentially stronger than the draw to ally with the opposition. As such, the determination of majority in the assembly probably hinges on the victor in presidential elections, where the incumbent has removed the second round, and does not appear to have a meaningful challenger.

In addition, while the president is affiliated with the *Parti du Peuple pour la Reconstruction et la Démocratie*, he officially runs as an independent, and appears to be diversifying his legislative options and dominance by constructing incumbent alternates in the form of the PPPD and MSR parties. This places parties closely allied with the person of the president first, third and fourth in absolute numbers of legislative seats, before one needs to even consider parties simply allied with *Majorité Présidentielle* such as the historic PALU which comes sixth.

#### **Chapter 7: Conclusions**

In conclusion, and given the evidence at hand, it can be contended that democratic outcomes in hybrid regimes are demonstrably contingent on the presence of strong opposition parties, as defined herein. The presence or absence of strong opposition parties appear to hinge on the ability of these parties to fund themselves, and the latent structure they are or are not capable of co-opting and translating into political and electoral tools. Other factors, such as violence in the party system and the proliferation of independent candidates, small parties and identity based parties, do not appear to directly affect the performance of those parties possessed of such funding and structural inheritance. That being said, these parties remain vulnerable to targeted suppression by incumbents, most notably where the party system can be regulated to the exclusion of those parties which might challenge the incumbent, whilst maintaining the illusion of multi-party politics. The best example of such an institution is in the form of Rwanda's Forum of Political Parties. Other institutions, though not as effective, appear to play a clear role in the preservation of incumbency, such as: broad incumbent coalitions and the generation of incumbent allied political parties, both of which notably dilute the value of electoral competition, and both of which have been notably utilized in the DRC under contemporary incumbent Joseph Kabila, as well as under the late rule of Mobutu before him; and the dilution of culpability for crimes committed during elections, of the value of an autonomous opposition when a shadow incumbent "opposition" exists, and long-term preclusion of all non-incumbent parties from electoral success through successive elections in which the incumbent can learn to win the support of dissenting electors, all of which are exemplified by NRM Uganda.

These findings are important because they suggest that the relationships widely reported in the literature between democratic outcomes and other structural and institutional variables appear to lose some explanatory power after minimal democratic reforms have been introduced. Whilst it may be desirable to have a firm linear connection between structural variables that would easily incorporate democracy promotion into ongoing projects in the international community, or between clearly defined institutional arrangements and democratic outcomes, this research suggests that this may not be the case. These simple relationships do exist, but they are neither linear, nor do they appear to retain the same explanatory power in hybrid regimes. Once democratic reforms have been introduced, the strongest association with democratic outcomes appear to lie in strong democratic opposition parties capable of monopolizing the opposition vote and, in the context of hybrid regimes, the ability to monopolize that vote hinges on the ability to co-opt pre-existing organizational structures, to fund parties based around those structures, and the absence of effective institutional restraints on the party-system.

Future research in this area could serve to delineate the intervening nature of the relationship between democratic outcomes and strong opposition parties with greater precision in relation to the broader structural and institutional variables in the literature. Secondly, more research into the measurement of opposition parties in hybrid regimes would certainly benefit the literature. The measurement utilized herein, adopted from an operationalization in a recent qualitative study, has found a discrete relationship where logic has dictated its presence, but where prior quantitative research has been unable to expose it. This measurement may be only an important step in the direction of

determining how to disentangle some benefit from the flawed electoral practices and data that come out of hybrid regimes.

In regard to policy implications, understanding the nature of democratic outcomes in hybrid regimes is important both because democratic governance is manifestly desirable for citizens around the world, as well as because many wealthy and democratic states have made the promotion of democracy an important aspect of their foreign policies. In order to get the best returns for both interested parties, it is necessary to disentangle our understanding of democratic outcomes as casually linked to other normatively desirable projects being undertaken already, or as linked to simple institutional solutions. Democratic outcomes, as the old democracies of the world know already through centuries or more of being on the trajectory toward democracy, are effectuated by the people they affect: by loyal oppositionists and by citizens both free to take up their role as electors without interference, as well as confident that taking up such a role is worthwhile in a given political system. It is clear, in the context of this thesis, that the superior policy approach in regard to democratic outcomes specifically is in the support of democratic opposition party organizations, in particular in terms of funding, and in lobbying for the deconstruction of the institutional constraints in the party system which serve to weaken these organizations.

#### REFERENCES

Achen, C.H. 2005. "Let's Put Garbage-Can Regressions and Garbage-Can Probits Where They Belong" in *Conflict Management and Peace Science* 22: 327-340.

Africa Research Bulletin 18726, February 1-28. 2011. Uganda: Museveni Wins Again.

Anonymous. 2012. "DR Congo Opposition Makes Election Gains" in *Al Jazeera*, 2<sup>nd</sup> February 2012 (www.aljazeera.com/news/africa/2012/02/20122241814568546.html).

Armony, A.C., Schamis, H.E. 2005. "Babel in Democratization Studies" in *Journal of Democracy* 16(4): 113-128.

Babbie, E., Benaquisto, L. 2010. Fundamentals of Social Research. Toronto: Nelson.

Basedau, M. 2007. "Do Party Systems Matter for Democracy? A Comparative Study of 28 Sub-Saharan Countries" in Erdmann, G., Basedau, M., Mehler, A. (Eds.) *Votes, Money and Violence: Political Parties and Elections in Sub-Saharan Africa.* Uppsala: Nordiska Afrikainstitutet: 105-143.

Beissinger, M.R. 2007. "Structure and Example in Modular Political Phenomena: The Diffusion of Bulldozer/Rose/Orange/Tulip Revolutions" in *Perspectives on Politics* 5(2): 259-276.

Beissinger, M.R. 2009. "An Interrelated Wave" in Journal of Democracy 20(1): 74-77.

Berg, B.L. 2009. *Qualitative Research Methods for the Social Sciences*, 7<sup>th</sup> Edition. Boston: Allyn & Bacon.

Berman, B., Eyoh, D., Kymlicka, W. (Eds.) 2004. *Ethnicity & Democracy in Africa*. London: James Currey.

Boduszynski, M., Englebert, P. 2008. "Poverty and Democracy in Africa" in Moshi, L., Osman, A.A. (Eds.) *Democracy and Culture: An African Perspective*. London: Adonis & Abbey: 29-49.

Boix, C. 2003. Democracy and Redistribution. New York: Cambridge University Press.

Bratton, M., van de Walle, N. 1997. *Democratic Experiments in Africa: Regime Transitions in Comparative Perspective*. New York: Cambridge University Press.

Bunce, V., Wolchik, S. 2009. "Getting Real About "Real Causes" in Journal of Democracy 20(1): 69-73.

Burnell, P. 2007. "Introduction: Money and Politics in Emerging Democracies" in Burnell, P., Ware, A. (Eds.) *Funding Democratization*. London: Transaction Publishers, 1-21.

Carbone, G. 2008. *No-Party Democracy? Ugandan Politics in Comparative Perspective*. Boulder: Lynne Rienner.

Carothers, T. 2006. *Confronting the Weakest Link: Aiding Political Parties in New Democracies*. Washington, D.C.: Carnegie Endowment for International Peace.

Cheeseman, N. 2010. "African Elections as Vehicles for Change" in *Journal of Democracy* 21(4): 139-153.

Chretien, J. 2003. The Great Lakes of Africa: Two Thousand Years of History. New York: Zone Books.

Clark, K.A. 2005. "The Phantom Menace: Omitted Variable Bias in Econometric Research" in *Conflict Management and Peace Science* 22: 341-352.

Collier, D., Adcock, R. 1999. "Democracy and Dichotomies: A Pragmatic Approach to Choices about Concepts" in *Annual Review of Political Science* 2: 537-565.

Collier, D., Levitsky, S. 2009. "Democracy: Conceptual Hierarchies in Comparative Research" in (Eds.) Collier, D., Gerring, J. *Concepts and Method in Social Science: The Tradition of Giovanni Sartori*. New York: Routledge: 269-288.

Collier, D., Mahoney, J. 1996. "Insights and Pitfalls: Selection Bias in Qualitative Research" in *World Politics* 49(1): 56-91.

Commonwealth Secretariat. 2006. Uganda Presidential and Parliamentary Elections. Report of the Commonwealth Observer Group, 23<sup>rd</sup> February 2006.

Commonwealth Secretariat. 2010. *Rwanda Presidential Elections*. Report of the Commonwealth Observer Group, 9<sup>th</sup> August 2010.

Commonwealth Secretariat. 2011. Uganda Presidential and Parliamentary Elections. Report of the Commonwealth Observer Group, 18<sup>th</sup> February 2011.

Creswell, J.W., Clark, V.L.P. 2007. *Designing and Conducting Mixed Methods Research*. Thousand Oaks: Sage Publications.

Democratic Republic of Congo. Commission Electorale Nationale Indépendante (www.ceni.gouv.cd).

Diamond, L.J. 2002. "Thinking about Hybrid Regimes" in Journal of Democracy 13(2): 21-35.

Diamond, L.J., Gunther, R. 2001. "Introduction" in Diamond, L.J., Gunther, R. (Eds.) *Political Parties and Democracy*. Baltimore: The John Hopkins University Press: ix-xxxiv.

Dimitrov, M.K. 2009. "Popular Autocrats" in Journal of Democracy 20(1): 78-81.

Dizolele, M.P. 2010. "The Mirage of Democracy in the DRC" in Journal of Democracy 21(3): 143-157.

Dunning, T. 2008. *Crude Democracy: Natural Resource Wealth and Political Regimes.* New York: Cambridge University Press.

Emizet, K.M. 1999. "Political Cleavages in a Democratizing Society: The Case of the Congo (formerly Zaire)" in *Comparative Political Studies* 32(2): 185-228.

Erdmann, G. 2007. "Party Research: Western European Bias and the 'African Labyrinth'" in Erdmann, G., Basedau, M., Mehler, A. (Eds.) *Votes, Money and Violence: Political Parties and Elections in Sub-Saharan Africa.* Uppsala: Nordiska Afrikainstitutet: 34-64.

Erdmann, G., Basedau, M., Mehler, A. 2007. "Introduction: Research on Electoral Systems, Parties and Party Systems in Africa" in Erdmann, G., Basedau, M., Mehler, A. (Eds.) *Votes, Money and Violence: Political Parties and Elections in Sub-Saharan Africa*. Uppsala: Nordiska Afrikainstitutet: 7-20.

Fairbanks, C.H. Jr. 2009. "Necessary Distinctions" in Journal of Democracy 20(1): 82-85.

Fish, M.S. 1998. "Mongolia: Democracy without Prerequisites" in Journal of Democracy 9(3): 127-141.

Fish, M.S. 2005. *Democracy Derailed in Russia: The Failure of Open Politics*. New York: Cambridge University Press.

Frees, E.W. 2004. Longitudinal and Panel Data: Analysis and Applications in the Social Sciences. New

York: Cambridge University Press.

Frendreis, J.P. 1983. "Explanation of Variation and Detection of Covariation: The Purpose and Logic of Comparative Analysis" in *Comparative Political Studies* 16(2): 255-272.

Freund, B. 1984. *The Making of Contemporary Africa: The Development of African Society since 1800.* Bloomington: Indiana University Press.

Geddes, B. 1990. "How the Cases You Choose Affect the Answers You Get: Selection Bias in Comparative Politics" in *Political Analysis* 2: 131-150.

Geddes, B. 1999. "What Do We Know About Democratization After Twenty Years?" in *Annual Review* of *Political Science* (2): 115-144.

Gerring, J. 2007. "Is There a (Viable) Crucial Case Method?" in *Comparative Political Studies* 40(3): 231-253.

Gerring, J. 2007. "The Case Study: What It Is and What It Does" in Boix and Stokes (Eds.) *Oxford Handbook of Comparative Politics*. New York: Oxford University Press: 90-122.

Gerring, J., Seawright, J. 2008. "Case Selection Techniques in Case Study Research: A Menu of Qualitative and Quantitative Options" in *Political Research Quarterly* 61: 294-309.

Gilbert, L., Mohseni, P. 2011. "Beyond Authoritarianism: The Conceptualization of Hybrid Regimes" in *Studies in Comparative International Development* 46: 270-297.

Goertz, G., Mahoney, J. 2004. "The Possibility Principle: Choosing Negative Cases in Comparative Research" in *American Political Science Review* 98(4): 653-669.

Gyimah-Boadi, E. 2007. "Political Parties, Elections and Patronage: Random Thoughts on Neo-Patrimonialism and African Democratization" in Erdmann, G., Basedau, M., Mehler, A. (Eds.) *Votes, Money and Violence: Political Parties and Elections in Sub-Saharan Africa*. Uppsala: Nordiska Afrikainstitutet: 21-33.

Herbst, J.I. 2000. *States and Power in Africa: Comparative Lessons in Authority and Control*. Princeton: Princeton University Press.

Howard, M.J., Roessler, P.G. 2006. "Liberalizing Electoral Outcomes in Competitive Authoritarian Regimes" in *American Political Science Review* 50(2): 365-381.

Human Rights Watch. 2005. Democratic Republic of Congo Elections in Sight: "Don't Rock the Boat"?

Human Rights Watch. 2008. "We Will Crush You": The Restriction of Political Space in the Democratic Republic of Congo.

Human Rights Watch. 2009. Preparing for the Polls: Improving Accountability for Electoral Violence in Uganda.

Human Rights Watch. 2011. World Report 2011: Events of 2010.

Human Rights Watch. 2012. World Report 2012: Events of 2011.

Huntington, S. 1991. *The Third Wave: Democratization in the Late Twentieth Century*. Norman: University of Oklahoma Press.

International Crisis Group. 2006a. Escaping the Conflict Trap: Promoting Good Governance in the

Congo. Crisis Group Africa Report #114, 20th July 2006.

International Crisis Group. 2006b. Securing Congo's Elections: Lessons from the Kinshasa Showdown. Policy Briefing: Africa Briefing #42, Nairobi/Brussels, 2<sup>nd</sup> October 2006.

International Crisis Group. 2007. *Congo: Staying Engaged after the Elections*. Policy Briefing: Africa Briefing #44, Nairobi/Brussels, 9<sup>th</sup> January 2007.

International Crisis Group. 2010. *Congo: A Stalled Democratic Agenda*. Policy Briefing: Africa Briefing #73, Nairobi/Brussels, 8<sup>th</sup> April 2010.

International Crisis Group. 2011. Congo: The Electoral Dilemma. Africa Report #175, 5th May 2011.

Izama, A. 2011. "Uganda: Museveni's Triumph and Weakness" in Journal of Democracy 22(3): 64-78.

Joseph, R.A. 2003. "Africa: States in Crisis" in Journal of Democracy 14(3): 159-170.

Kellstedt, P.M., Whitten, G.D. 2009. *The Fundamentals of Political Science Research*. New York: Cambridge University Press.

Lawson, L. 1999. "External Democracy Promotion in Africa: Another False Start?" in *Commonwealth* and *Comparative Politics* 37(1): 1-30.

Lebas, A. 2011. *From Protest to Parties: Party-Building and Democratization in Africa*. New York: Oxford University Press.

Levitsky, S., Way, L.A. 2002. "The Rise of Competitive Authoritarianism" in *Journal of Democracy* 13(2): 51-65.

Levitsky, S., Way, L.A. 2005. "International Linkage and Democratization" in *Journal of Democracy* 16(3): 20-34.

Levitsky, S., Way, L.A. 2006. "Linkage Versus Leverage: Rethinking the International Dimension of Regime Change" in *Comparative Politics* 38(4): 379-400.

Levistky, S., Way, L.A. 2010a. *Competitive Authoritarianism: Hybrid Regimes after the Cold War*. New York: Cambridge University Press.

Levitsky, S., Way, L.A. 2010b. "Why Democracy Needs a Level Playing Field" in *Journal of Democracy* 21(1): 57-68.

Levy, J.S. 2008. "Case Studies: Types, Designs, and Logics of Inference" in *Conflict Management and Peace Studies* 25: 1-18.

Lindberg, S.I. 2006a. Democracy and Elections in Africa. Baltimore: John Hopkins University Press.

Lindberg, S.I. 2006b. "Opposition Parties and Democratisation in Sub-Saharan Africa" in *Journal of Contemporary African Studies* 24(1): 123-138.

Lindberg, S.I. 2006c. "The Surprising Significance of African Elections" in *Journal of Democracy* 17(1): 139-151.

Lindberg, S.I. 2006d. "Tragic Protest: Why Do Opposition Parties Boycott Elections?" in Schedler, A. (Ed.) *Electoral Authoritarianism: The Dynamics of Unfree Competition*. Boulder: Lynne Rienner, 149-163.

Lipset, S.M. 1981. *Political Man: The Social Bases of Politics*. Baltimore: John Hopkins University Press.

Longman, T. 2011. "Limitations to Political Reform: The Undemocratic Nature of Transition in Rwanda" in (Eds.) Straus, S., Waldorf, L. *Remaking Rwanda: State Building and Human Rights After Mass Violence*. Madison: University of Wisconsin Press: 25-47.

Luong, P.J., Weinthal, E. 2010. *Oil Is Not a Curse: Ownership Structure and Institutions in Soviet Successor States.* New York: Cambridge University Press.

Magaloni, B. 2008. "Credible Power-Sharing and the Longevity of Authoritarian Rule" in *Comparative Political Studies* 41(4/5): 715-741.

Mahoney, J., Snyder, R. 1999. "Rethinking Agency and Structure in the Study of Regime Change" in *Studies in Comparative International Development* (Summer): 3-32.

Mamdani, M. 1996. *Citizen and Subject: Contemporary Africa and the Legacy of Late Colonialism.* Princeton: Princeton University Press.

Marshall, M.G., Gurr, T.R., Davenport, C., Jaggers, K. 2002. "Polity IV, 1800-1999: Comments on Munck and Verkuilen" in *Comparative Political Studies* 35(1): 40-45.

Matti, S.A. 2010. "The Democratic Republic of the Congo? Corruption, Patronage, and Competitive Authoritarianism in the DRC" in *Africa Today* 56(4): 42-61.

McFerson, H. 2010. "Developments in African Governance since the Cold War: Beyond Cassandra and Pollyanna" in *African Studies Review* 53(2): 49-76.

Meckstroth, T.W. 1975. "Most Different Systems" and "Most Similar Systems": A Study in the Logic of Comparative Inquiry" in *Comparative Political Studies* 8(2): 132-157.

Morlino, L. 2009. "Are There Hybrid Regimes? Or Are They Just an Optical Illusion?" in *European Political Science Review* 1(2): 273-296.

Munck, G.L., Verkuilen, J. 2002. "Conceptualizing and Measuring Democracy: Evaluating Alternative Indices" in *Comparative Political Studies* 35(1): 5-34.

Mwenda, A.M. 2007. "Personalizing Power in Uganda" in Journal of Democracy 18(3): 23-37.

Nugent, P. 2004. Africa Since Independence: A Comparative History. New York: Palgrave Macmillan.

Nzongola-Ntalaja, G. 2002. *The Congo From Leopold to Kabila: A People's History*. London: Zed Books.

O'Donnell, G., Schmitter, P.C. 1986. *Transitions from Authoritarian Rule: Tentative Conclusions about Uncertain Democracies*. Baltimore: John Hopkins University Press.

Ottaway, M. 2003. *Democracy Challenged: The Rise of Semi-Authoritarianism*. Washington D.C.: Carnegie Endowment for International Peace.

Polity IV Project. 2010. *Polity IV Project: Political Regime Characteristics and Transitions, 1800-2010* (www.systemicpeace.org/inscr/pv42010.xls).

Prunier, G. 2009. *Africa's World War: Congo, the Rwandan Genocide, and the Making of a Continental Catastrophe.* New York: Oxford University Press.

Przeworski, A., Limongi, F. 1997. "Modernization: Theories and Facts" in World Politics 49(2): 155-183.

Przeworski, A., Teune, H. 1970. The Logic of Comparative Social Inquiry. Toronto: Wiley-Interscience.

Rakner, L., van de Walle, N. 2009a. "Opposition Parties and Incumbent Presidents: The New Dynamics of Electoral Competition in Africa" in Lindberg (Ed.) *Democratization by Elections: A New Mode of Transition*. Baltimore: John Hopkins University Press.

Rakner, L., van de Walle, N. 2009b. "Opposition Weakness in Africa" in *Journal of Democracy* 20(3): 108-121.

Ray, J.L. 2005. "Constructing Multivariate Analyses (of Dangerous Dyads)" in *Conflict Management and Peace Science* 22: 277-292.

Reyntjens, F. 2004. "Rwanda, Ten Years On: From Genocide to Dictatorship" in African Affairs 103: 177-210.

Ross, M.L. 2001. "Does Oil Hinder Democracy?" in World Politics 53(3): 325-361.

Rubongoya, J.B. 2007. *Regime Hegemony in Museveni's Uganda: Pax Musevenica*. New York: Palgrave-Macmillan.

Rueschemeyer, D., Stephens, E.H., Stephens, J.D. 1992. *Capitalist Development and Democracy*. New York: Cambridge University Press.

Schedler, A. 2002. "The Menu of Manipulation" in Journal of Democracy 13(2): 36-50.

Schedler, A. 2009. 'Sources of Competition under Electoral Authoritarianism' in Lindberg (Ed.) *Democratization by Elections: A New Mode of Transition*. Baltimore: John Hopkins University Press.

Schedler, A. 2010. "Authoritarianism's Last Line of Defense" in Journal of Democracy 21(1): 69-80.

Schmitter, P.C., Karl, T.L. 1991. "What Democracy is ... And is Not" in *Journal of Democracy* 2(3): 75-88.

Schmitter, P.C. 2010. "Twenty-Five Years, Fifteen Findings" in Journal of Democracy 21(1): 17-28.

Sebarenzi, J. 2009. God Sleeps in Rwanda: A Journey of Transformation. Toronto: Atria.

Silitski, V. 2009. "What Are We Trying to Explain?" in Journal of Democracy 20(1): 86-89.

Southall, R., Wood, G. 2007. "Political Party Funding in Southern Africa" in Burnell, P., Ware, A. (Eds.) *Funding Democratization*. London: Transaction Publishers, 202-228.

Stroh, A. 2009. "The Effects of Electoral Institutions in Rwanda: Why Proportional Representation Supports the Authoritarian Regime" *German Institute of Global and Area Studies Working Papers* # 105.

Tarrow, S. 2010. "The Strategy of Paired Comparisons: Toward a Theory of Practice" in *Comparative Political Studies* 43(2): 230-259.

Teshome, W.B. 2008. "Democracy and Elections in Africa: Critical Analysis" in *International Journal of Human Sciences* 5(2): 1-14.

Thomas, G. 2011. "A Typology for the Case Study in Social Science Following a Review of Definition, Discourse, and Structure" in *Qualitative Inquiry* 17(6): 511-521.

Tripp, A.M. 2010. *Museveni's Uganda: Paradoxes of Power in a Hybrid Regime*. Boulder: Lynne Rienner.

United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees (www.unhcr.org/refworld/country...COUNTRYPROF.COD.,46d2e2622,0.html).

United Nations Security Council. 2010. Report of the Secretary-General on the United Nations

Organization Stabilization Mission in the Democratic Republic of the Congo. 8<sup>th</sup> October 2010.

van de Walle, N. 2002. "Africa's Range of Regimes" in Journal of Democracy 13(2): 66-80.

van de Walle, N. 2006. "Tipping Games: When Do Opposition Parties Coalesce?" in Schedler, A. (Ed.) *Electoral Authoritarianism: The Dynamics of Unfree Competition*. Boulder: Lynne Rienner, 77-92.

Way, L.A. 2006. "Authoritarian Failure: How Does State Weakness Strengthen Electoral Competition?" in Schedler, A. (Ed.) *Electoral Authoritarianism: The Dynamics of Unfree Competition*. Boulder: Lynne Rienner, 167-180.

Way, L.A. 2008. "The Real Causes of the Color Revolutions" in Journal of Democracy 19(3): 55-69.

Way, L.A. 2009. "A Reply to my Critics" in Journal of Democracy 20(1): 90-97.

Way, L.A. 2010. "Resistance to Contagion: Sources of Authoritarian Stability in the Former Soviet Union" in (Eds.) Bunce, McFaul and Stoner-Weiss *Democracy and Authoritarianism in the Postcommunist World*. New York: Cambridge University Press: 229-252.

Weiss, H.F. 2007. "Voting for Change in the DRC" in Journal of Democracy 18(2): 138-151.

World Bank. 2010. Database of Political Institutions.

Beck, T., Clarke, G., Groff, A., Keefer, P., Walsh, P. 2001. "New Tools in Comparative Political Economy : The Database of Political Institutions" *World Bank Economic Review* 15(1): 165-176.

World Bank. 2011. *Africa Development Indicators* (<u>http://data.worldbank.org/data-catalog/africa-development-indicators</u>).

World Bank. 2011. *World Development Indicators* (<u>http://data.worldbank.org/data-catalog/world-development-indicators</u>).

Young, C. 1994. *The African Colonial State in Comparative Perspective*. New Haven: Yale University Press.

## APPENDIX

### Table 33: Positive, Negative and Neutral Variation in Africa 1989-2010 in Presidential Systems

where an Opposition Party Monopolizes a Minimum of 25% of Opposition Seats

POSITIVE CHANGE	.,	NO CHANGE		NEGATIVE CHANGE	
Country Year	Polity +10	Country Year	Polity +10	Country Year	Polity +10
Angola1993		Cameroon1993	6	Central African Republic1994	15
Angola1994		Cameroon1994	6	Central African Republic1995	15
Angola1995		Cameroon1995	6	Central African Republic1996	15
Angola1996		Cameroon1996	6	Central African Republic1997	15
Angola1997	7	Cameroon1997	6	Central African Republic1998	15
Angola1998	7	Cameroon1998	6	Central African Republic1999	15
Angola1999	7	Cameroon1999	6	Central African Republic2000	15
Angola2000	7	Cameroon2000	6	Central African Republic2001	15
Angola2001	7	Cameroon2001	6	Central African Republic2002	15
Angola2002	8	Cameroon2002	6	Central African Republic2003	9
Angola2003	8	Cameroon2003	6	Central African Republic2006	9
Angola2004	8	Cameroon2004	6	Central African Republic2007	9
Angola2005	8	Cameroon2005	6	Central African Republic2008	9
Angola2006	8	Cameroon2006	6	Central African Republic2009	9
Angola2007	8	Cameroon2008	6	Central African Republic2010	9
Angola2008	8	Cameroon2009	6	Congo, Rep.1994	15
Angola2009	8	Cameroon2010	6	Congo, Rep.1995	15
Angola2010	8	Chad1998	8	Congo, Rep.1996	15
Benin1996	16	Chad1999	8	Congo, Rep.1997	4
Benin1997	16	Chad2000	8	Congo, Rep.2003	6
Benin1998	16	Chad2001	8	Congo, Rep.2004	6
Benin1999	16	Chad2002	8	Congo, Rep.2005	6
Benin2000	16	Chad2003	8	Congo, Rep.2006	6
Benin2001	16	Chad2004	8	Congo, Rep.2007	6
Benin2002	16	Chad2005	8	Congo, Rep.2008	6
Benin2003	16	Chad2006	8	Congo, Rep.2009	6
Benin2004	16	Chad2007	8	Congo, Rep.2010	6
Benin2005	16	Chad2008	8	Gambia, The1989	17
Benin2006	17	Chad2009	8	Gambia, The1990	18
Benin2007	17	Chad2010	8	Gambia, The1991	18
Benin2008	17	Congo, Dem. Rep2007		Gambia, The1992	18
Benin2009	17	Congo, Dem. Rep2008		Gambia, The1993	18
Benin2010	17	Congo, Dem. Rep2009		Gambia, The1994	3
Burkina Faso1993	5	Congo, Dem. Rep2010		Gambia, The1997	5
Burkina Faso1994	5	Equatorial Guinea1994	5	Gambia, The1998	5
Burkina Faso1995	5	Equatorial Guinea1995	5	Gambia, The1999	5
Burkina Faso1996	5	Equatorial Guinea1996	5	Gambia, The2000	5

Burkina Faso1997	6	Equatorial Guinea1997	5	Gambia, The2001	5
Burkina Faso1998	6	Equatorial Guinea1998	5	Gambia, The2002	5
Burkina Faso1999	6	Equatorial Guinea1999	5	Gambia, The2003	5
Burkina Faso2000	7	Equatorial Guinea2000	5	Gambia, The2004	5
Burkina Faso2001	10	Equatorial Guinea2001	5	Gambia, The2005	5
Burkina Faso2002	10	Equatorial Guinea2002	5	Gambia, The2006	5
Burkina Faso2003	10	Equatorial Guinea2003	5	Gambia, The2007	5
Burkina Faso2004	10	Equatorial Guinea2004	5	Gambia, The2008	5
Burkina Faso2005	10	Equatorial Guinea2005	5	Gambia, The2009	5
Burkina Faso2006	10	Equatorial Guinea2006	5	Gambia, The2010	5
Burkina Faso2007	10	Equatorial Guinea2007	5	Madagascar1990	4
Burkina Faso2008	10	Equatorial Guinea2008	5	Madagascar1991	
Burkina Faso2009	10	Equatorial Guinea2009	5	Madagascar1992	19
Burkina Faso2010	10	Equatorial Guinea2010	5	Madagascar1993	19
Burundi1994		Guinea1996	9	Madagascar1997	18
Burundi1995		Guinea1997	9	Madagascar1998	17
Burundi1996	5	Guinea1998	9	Madagascar1999	17
Burundi1997	5	Guinea1999	9	Madagascar2000	17
Burundi1998	9	Guinea2000	9	Madagascar2001	17
Burundi1999	9	Guinea2001	9	Madagascar2002	17
Burundi2000	9	Guinea2002	9	Madagascar2003	17
Burundi2001		Guinea2003	9	Madagascar2004	17
Burundi2002		Guinea2004	9	Madagascar2005	17
Burundi2003		Guinea2005	9	Madagascar2006	17
Burundi2004		Guinea2006	9	Madagascar2007	17
Burundi2005	16	Guinea2007	9	Niger1994	18
Burundi2006	16	Guinea2008	9	Niger1995	18
Burundi2007	16	Malawi1995	16	Niger1996	4
Burundi2008	16	Malawi1996	16	Niger1997	4
Burundi2009	16	Malawi1997	16	Niger1998	4
Burundi2010	16	Malawi1998	16	Niger1999	15
Cape Verde1992	18	Malawi1999	16	Niger2000	15
Cape Verde1993	18	Malawi2000	16	Niger2001	15
Cape Verde1994	18	Malawi2001	14	Niger2002	15
Cape Verde1995	18	Malawi2002	14	Niger2003	15
Cape Verde1996	18	Malawi2003	15	Niger2004	16
Cape Verde1997	18	Malawi2004	16	Niger2005	16
Cape Verde1998	18	Malawi2005	16	Niger2006	16
Cape Verde1999	18	Malawi2006	16	Niger2007	16
Cape Verde2000	18	Malawi2007	16	Niger2008	16
Cape Verde2001	20	Malawi2008	16	Niger2009	7
Cape Verde2002	20	Malawi2009	16	Niger2010	13
Cape Verde2003	20	Malawi2010	16	Rwanda2004	7

Cape Verde2004	20	Mozambique 1995	15	Rwanda2005	7
Cape Verde2005	20	Mozambique1996	15	Rwanda2006	7
Cape Verde2006	20	Mozambique1997	15	Rwanda2007	7
Cape Verde2007	20	Mozambique1998	15	Rwanda2008	7
Cape Verde2008	20	Mozambique 1999	15	Rwanda2009	7
Cape Verde2009	20	Mozambique2000	15	Rwanda2010	6
Cape Verde2010	20	Mozambique2001	15		
Comoros1994	14	Mozambique2002	15		
Comoros1995		Mozambique2003	15		
Comoros1996	14	Mozambique2004	15		
Comoros1997	14	Mozambique 2005	15		
Comoros1998	14	Mozambique 2006	15		
Comoros1999	8	Mozambique2007	15		
Comoros2005	16	Mozambique2008	15		
Comoros2006	19	Mozambique 2009	15		
Comoros2007	19	Mozambique2010	15		
Comoros2008	19	Namibia1991	16		
Comoros2009	19	Namibia1992	16		
Comoros2010	19	Namibia1993	16		
Cote d'Ivoire1991	3	Namibia1994	16		
Cote d'Ivoire1992	3	Namibia1995	16		
Cote d'Ivoire1993	3	Namibia1996	16		
Cote d'Ivoire1994	4	Namibia1997	16		
Cote d'Ivoire1995	4	Namibia1998	16		
Cote d'Ivoire1996	4	Namibia1999	16		
Cote d'Ivoire1997	4	Namibia2000	16		
Cote d'Ivoire1998	4	Namibia2001	16		
Cote d'Ivoire1999		Namibia2002	16		
Gabon1991	6	Namibia2003	16		
Gabon1992	6	Namibia2004	16		
Gabon1993	6	Namibia2005	16		
Gabon1994	6	Namibia2006	16		
Gabon1995	6	Namibia2007	16		
Gabon1996	6	Namibia2008	16		
Gabon2002	6	Namibia2009	16		
Gabon2003	6	Namibia2010	16		
Gabon2004	6	Nigeria2000	14		
Gabon2005	6	Nigeria2001	14		
Gabon2006	6	Nigeria2002	14		
Gabon2007	6	Nigeria2003	14		
Gabon2008	6	Nigeria2004	14		
Gabon2009	13	Nigeria2005	14		
Gabon2010	13	Nigeria2006	14		

Ghana1997	12	Nigeria2007
Ghana1998	12	Nigeria2008
Ghana1999	12	Nigeria2009
Ghana2000	12	Nigeria2010
Ghana2001	16	Tanzania1996
Ghana2002	16	Tanzania1997
Ghana2003	16	Tanzania1998
Ghana2004	18	Tanzania1999
Ghana2005	18	Tanzania2000
Ghana2006	18	Tanzania2001
Ghana2007	18	Tanzania2002
Ghana2008	18	Tanzania2003
Ghana2009	18	Tanzania2004
Ghana2010	18	Tanzania2005
Guinea-Bissau1995	15	Tanzania2006
Guinea-Bissau1996	15	Tanzania2007
Guinea-Bissau1997	15	Tanzania2008
Guinea-Bissau1998		Tanzania2009
Guinea-Bissau1999		Tanzania2010
Guinea-Bissau2000	15	
Guinea-Bissau2001	15	
Guinea-Bissau2002	15	
Guinea-Bissau2003	9	
Guinea-Bissau2005	16	
Guinea-Bissau2006	16	
Guinea-Bissau2007	16	
Guinea-Bissau2008	16	
Guinea-Bissau2009	16	
Guinea-Bissau2010	16	
Kenya1993	5	
Kenya1994	5	
Kenya1995	5	
Kenya1996	5	
Kenya1997	8	
Kenya1998	8	
Kenya1999	8	
Kenya2000	8	
Kenya2001	8	
Kenya2002	18	
Kenya2003	18	
Kenya2004	18	
Kenya2005	18	
Kenya2006	18	

Kenya2007	17
Kenya2008	17
Kenya2009	17
Kenya2010	18
Liberia1989	4
Liberia1990	
Liberia1998	10
Liberia1999	10
Liberia2000	10
Liberia2001	10
Liberia2002	10
Liberia2003	
Liberia2006	16
Liberia 2007	16
Liberia2008	16
Liberia2009	16
Liberia2010	16
Mali1998	16
Mali1999	16
Mali2000	16
Mali2001	16
Mali2002	17
Mali2003	17
Mali2004	17
Mali2005	17
Mali2006	17
Mali2007	17
Mali2008	17
Mali2009	17
Mali2010	17
Mauritania2002	4
Mauritania2003	4
Mauritania2004	4
Mauritania2005	5
Mauritania2007	14
Mauritania2008	5
Mauritania2009	8
Mauritania2010	8
Senegal1989	9
Senegal1990	9
Senegal1991	9
Senegal1992	9
Senegal1993	9

Senegal1994	9
Senegal1995	9
Senegal1996	9
Senegal1997	9
Senegal1998	9
Senegal1999	9
Senegal2000	18
Senegal2001	18
Senegal2002	18
Senegal2003	18
Senegal2004	18
Senegal2005	18
Senegal2006	18
Senegal2007	17
Sierra Leone1997	
Sierra Leone1998	
Sierra Leone1999	
Sierra Leone2000	
Sierra Leone2001	
Sierra Leone2002	15
Sierra Leone2003	15
Sierra Leone2004	15
Sierra Leone2005	15
Sierra Leone2006	15
Sierra Leone2007	17
Sierra Leone2008	17
Sierra Leone2009	17
Sierra Leone2010	17
Uganda1995	6
Uganda1996	6
Uganda2007	9
Uganda2008	9
Uganda2009	9
Uganda2010	9
Zambia1992	16
Zambia1993	16
Zambia1994	16
Zambia1995	16
Zambia1996	11
Zambia1997	11
Zambia1998	11
Zambia1999	11
Zambia2000	11

Zambia2001	15
Zambia2002	15
Zambia2003	15
Zambia2004	15
Zambia2005	15
Zambia2006	15
Zambia2007	15
Zambia2008	17
Zambia2009	17
Zambia2010	17

\* Polity scores are g enerated using the +10 method for all positive scores, transitional values are recoded as missing \*\* Opposition monopolization is generated from the Database of Political Insitutions where the number of seats held by the largest opposition party is divided by the total number of seats held by the opposition, and the quotient is multiplied by 100

# VITA

Name:	Jeremy Martin Ladd
Name.	Jerenny Martin Lauu

Post-secondary	University of Toronto
Education and	Toronto, Ontario, Canada
Degrees	2007-2011 B.A. Hons.
	The University of Western Ontario
	London, Ontario, Canada
	2011-2012 M.A.

Related Work	Teaching Assistant
Experience	The University of Western Ontario
	2011-2012